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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Minshang
Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025, together with the
comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

2024/25 was another year full of uncertainties and unpredictability,
the Group was facing severe challenges due to the rise tension of the
geographical politics, change of policies from different nations and
the downturn of the global economy, which has greatly affected the
confidence of the customers in investing and the desire in consuming.

Nevertheless, the Group enhanced its efforts in business adjustment
and transformation, and gave greater focus on new development
strategies, which allowed itself to strike a balance between the existing
business and to develop new business opportunities.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has recorded total
revenue of HK$0.2 million and loss attributable to the Shareholders
of the Company of approximately HK$56.8 million which represented
97.5% decrease and 58.7% increase, respectively, as compared to the
corresponding period in 2024.

PROSPECTS

In order to cope with the ever-changing external environment, the
Company plans to consolidate its resource and focus on the existing
businesses, at the same time keep exploring for new profit drivers.
Looking ahead, we believe that the global and domestic economy
will be gradually recovering and stabilize, we remain optimistic on the
Group’s long-term prospects, in IT solution industry.

Digital economy and intellectual economy have become the
socioeconomic development direction, and the IT industry is now
undermining how businesses are being promoted and developed
more than ever. The Group wishes to develop our existing IT Solution
Business relentlessly, while exploring business opportunities to open up
new horizons.
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Apart from our IT Solution Business, the Group is dedicated to develop
Renewable Energy Technology Business. Environmental sustainability
development is one of the most trending topics globally, especially
following the signing of the “Paris Agreement”, a number of countries
have reached a consensus on contributing in various aspects to achieve
the climate goals, low-carbon and green energy transformation. It is
anticipated that the PRC will play a major role in developing renewable
energy in the next five years. The PRC government is committed to
reduce carbon dioxide emissions by achieving peak carbon dioxide
emissions before 2030 and achieving carbon neutrality by 2060.
To achieve such goal, the PRC government encourages the use of
renewable energy and have issued a number of policies and guidelines
which promote the use of green methanol.

Green methanol is a stable and cost efficient alternative green fuel for
the shipping industry. The International Convention for the prevention
Pollution from Ships (“MARPOL”), Marine Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC, Regulations on Prevention and Control of Marine
Environment Pollution by Ships, Regulations on Prevention and Control
of Pollution from Ships in Shanghai have imposed certain requirements
on emissions of exhaust gas and other pollutants.

It is the trend to replace high carbon emission fuel oils with renewable
energy sources. Shipping companies, e.g. COSCO, have started to pay
close attention to the technological development of clean fuel for ships
and the application of clean fuel in different scenarios such as fleet
and yard trailer. Giant container lines such as A.P. Moller-Maersk and
Evergreen are leading the change by ordering more methanol-capable
ships, indicating green methanol is their low-carbon fuel of choice.
Green methanol has also great potential to replace gasoline and diesel
for use in vehicles. Geely Automobile has produced methanol driven
vehicles.

Currently, the production of green methanol is concentrated in the West
European region. According to Biomass Energy Industry Promotion
Association (which was established by China Association for the
Promotion of Industrial Development), it is estimated that the existing
production volume of the green methanol can only satisfy approximately
1% of the demand of such energy.

In light of the above, the Board considers that there is an expansive
growth prospects for developing the Renewable Energy Technology
Business in the PRC and the Group will be well positioned to explore
opportunities in this industry.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our
Shareholders, fellow members of the Board and staff of all levels for
their dedication and effort over the years. In addition, on behalf of the
Board, | would also like to express our most sincere thanks to all our
customers and business partners for their continuous support.

WU Jiangtao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year under Review”),
Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), had three principal
businesses which are operated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”): (i) information technology (“IT”) solution business; (i) trading
business; and (jii) renewable energy technology business.

BUSINESS REVIEW
IT SOLUTION BUSINESS

During the Year under Review, the Group provided IT solution services
to its customers in the PRC through its wholly-owned subsidiaries and
also its associate.

The Group aims to provide digital solutions for industrial upgrading
and digital marketing to its B-end customers, including but not limited
to banks and other financial institutions, real estate developers and
merchants ranging from retail, food and beverage, lifestyle sectors etc.

By relying on its scene marketing system and supply chain management
capabilities, the Group offers its customers (i) business origination
services; (ii) operation support services; (i) design and develop of
member benefits program & customer loyalty program; (iv) staff welfare
program; and (v) customised development services etc. It provides a
one-stop solution for the institutional customers in business origination,
customer loyalty, platform operation and the staffs wellbeing. The
Group also procure and sell merchandise to customers of banks
through its self-developed e-commerce platforms and sell merchandise
to financial institutions and other large corporations through biddings.

In the current digital era, the science and technology is developing
rapidly. Al is being widely promoted and adopted across various
sectors, which has demonstrated significant transformative power
and created a new Al-enabled ecosystem. There is an urgent need for
traditional industries to adopt advanced technology to keep pace with
innovative development, which has created vast market opportunities
for us. Therefore, the Group has prospectively explored and developed
layout in the Al field and is exploring to developing and promoting Al
scenario applications. By utilizing open-source or commercial and
large common models as the foundation, we have created a range of
Al products that can function in real scenarios. These products include
C-end products and B-end services.

THBIWE S

HE2025F3A3IALFE((OEEE] R
EAIRHER AR AR ([RAT] BREWBA
Al TR ANEE ) B = ERFEARLFE (T4
B EamEEER : (BB (&R
RRTRER (VB 2% K)ol ELR
RHZ 2T o

REOER
BEANRBRERER

REBFE AEEERE2ENBEARRE
BERRRPEAMERFPIRHEMBRBERT
RS -

AEBEERBREPIRHEBFEREHRT
EURBFLEHE BRETRRETREM
TRIME WEREBURTE K 4£ES
AERHZEP -

BBKRBESSEHARMERBEEIEE
AEERATPREHOEFEBIRY : ()& &EX
FIRTS (iRt RAESBERAFERERLD
HEEE (v B TG K)o 7R
BE -HOWBEPRHEFPHE TPLHE
FRELRBTIRATEMN —WABRT R -
AEETEBEBTRENETHBFARE
RASFTEFPHEMMA LB BRER SR
BREMAIDREERNRD -

EEAMMBAREROBFLERER ANERZ
HHMERARSTEREMRRALTERNES
NE TR TA RAEER AR - EH1TEHEY)
FERMOTERMR EAIFER  REAMFK
THRASEANMISEE - At NEEEA E
HAETT T AT MR R B B RIR R EME
BABERER  BRMNBRKRAIEDRNE
RAABREREE BHMABRET —RINEHE
ERSRTPEEERANAER BEERHARC
iy 7 o 0 B s RS ©

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k



8

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN W RO

The management of the Group is unswervingly focused on developing
its IT Solution Business, and is exploring opportunities, including but not
limited to, enhancing its control over the associate, which the Group
has already initiated the amendment of the article of association and
the composition of the board of directors in such associate, in order
to utilise the expertise of the management of the Group in this field, to
achieve more comprehensive and quality services to its customers and
further growth in the IT solution business.

RENEWABLE ENERGY TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 29 April
2024, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Minshang
Shenzhen, entered into the Cooperation Agreement with Beijing Bio-
Energy and Hainan Energy on 27 April 2024, pursuant to which
Minshang Shenzhen, Beijing Bio-Energy and Hainan Energy agreed to
establish the a non-wholly owned subsidiary, namely 78 &} & B2 (/%5 &)
BB R A7 (Xuke Qingchun (Hainan) Technology Company Limited*,
“Xuke Qingchun”)) to develop the Renewable Energy Technology
Business. The registered capital of Xuke Qingchun is RMB50 million,
of which Minshang Shenzhen shall contribute RMB25.5 million,
accounting for 51% of the registered capital of Xuke Qingchun.

During the Year under Review, the Group also established certain
subsidiaries in the PRC including operation company and research
laboratory of which the operation company has signed a memorandum
of understanding with local government in the PRC for development
of the project in that region, while the research laboratory will focus
on technical researches in this sector. Meanwhile, the Group has also
gathered a team of seasoned professionals to develop such Renewable
Energy Technology Business.

Furthermore, on 30 October 2024, the Company entered into two
subscription agreements with two independent investors to raise
funds of HK$30 million, of which a major part of the proceeds will be
invested in the Renewable Energy Technology Business. The Company
completed the allotment and issue of the 20,000,000 and 40,000,000
subscription shares on 18 and 25 November 2024, respectively (Please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 30 October 2024, 18
November 2024 and 25 November 2024), and has invested RMB25.5
million (representing approximately 95% of the net proceeds) as the
paid-up capital of Xuke Qingchun as abovementioned.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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During the Year under Review, the Group has signed framework
agreement with the government authorities in Fuzhou City, Jiangxi
Province, the PRC, in respect of the production of green methanol in
Fuzhou, and is in negotiation with traditional methanol manufacturers
for co-operation to use its proprietary know-how and patents to assist
traditional methanol manufacturers in transitioning to green methanol
production.

As at 31 March 2025, the local government authorities have already
approved the environmental impact assessment report and the Group
has obtained the necessary permits from relevant local government
authorities in respect of the construction of the production facilities of
biomass oil and has commenced the construction works. The overall
progress of the construction site has been completed by more than
70%, the complex is expected to be topping out in near future, and
the production equipment and materials have been delivered to the
construction site for installation.

In May 2025, the Group completed a laboratory experiment production
with a traditional methanol manufacturer. After the completion of
construction of the Group’s production facilities of biomass oil, it is
expected that the Group can provide self-produced biomass oil to
the traditional methanol manufacturer for the preparation for large
scale trial production and the Group intends to engage such methanol
manufacturer to carry out mass production of the green methanol and
sell the green methanol to the market.

The management of the Group is committed to pushing forward the
project and is of the view that, being supported by the favourable
policies imposed by the PRC government, the Renewable Energy
Technology Business is progressing well in accordance with the
expected timeline.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN W RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately HK$7.8 million,
from HK$8.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to HK$0.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2025. The decrease in revenue was
mainly due to the decrease in revenue from IT solution business during
the Year under Review.

REVENUE OF IT SOLUTION BUSINESS

The revenue of IT Solution Business decreased by 97.5%, or HK$7.8
million, from HK$8.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to
HK$0.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2025. Such decrease in
revenue was mainly due to the severe macro-economic environment in
the PRC, resulted in softening of demands.

REVENUE OF TRADING BUSINESS

Despite the gradual recovery of domestic economy in the PRC, the
overall business environment remains complex and volatile. Given the
profit margin can be generated from the trading business is considered
to be minimal as compared to other business segments of the Group,
the management remains sitting on the fence in respect of the trading
business, and to temporarily re-allocate the available resources to other
business segments of the Group, so as to achieve the best return for
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Group’s trading business has been encountering various
challenges. Nonetheless, the Group will continue to develop the trading
business and diversify its products mix should suitable opportunities
arise. It is expected that the global economy will recover gradually,
the Group remains optimistic on the mid to long-term prospects of its
trading business.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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REVENUE OF RENEWABLE ENERGY TECHNOLOGY
BUSINESS

The Group’s Renewable Energy Technology Business is still at the
investment and construction phase of the project, thus, there was no
revenue generated in this segment during the Year under Review.

COST OF REVENUE

The cost of revenue represented the cost of IT Solution Business and
cost of trading business. Cost of revenue decreased by HK$5.1 million,
from HK$7.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to HK$2.5
million for the Year under Review.

COST OF IT SOLUTION BUSINESS

The cost of revenue from IT solution business decreased by 100%, or
HK$7.6 million, from HK$7.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
to HK$NIl for the Year under Review. Such decrease was in line with
the drop in revenue from IT Solution Business.

COST OF INVENTORIES SOLD FROM TRADING
BUSINESS

The Group’s cost of revenue from trading business for the Year under
Review of approximately HK$2.5 million represented the write down of
value of certain obsolete inventories.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN W RO

COST OF RENEWABLE ENERGY TECHNOLOGY
BUSINESS

The Group’s Renewable Energy Technology Business is still at the
investment and construction phase, which the Group is currently
pushing forward the construction of the green methanol-related
production facilities. Thus, there was no revenue generated and cost
incurred in this segment.

STAFF COSTS

The Group’s staff costs increased by 167.0%, or HK$7.1 million, from
HK$4.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to HK$11.3 million
for the Year under Review. Such increase was primarily due to the
increase in headcount as the Group has gathered a team of seasoned
professionals to develop the Renewable Energy Technology Business.

PROPERTY RENTALS AND RELATED EXPENSES

The Group’s property rentals and related expenses of approximately
HKS$0.4 million represents the office rental expenses incurred during the
Year under Review.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

The Group held 50% equity interest in It REHEEEFHEERD
7] (Beijing Minshang Zhihui E-commerce Co., Ltd*, “Minshang Zhihui”)
through a wholly-owned subsidiary, MSCT Investment Limited (& &l
Rl & B B A 7)), which was recognised as investment in associate.
Minshang Zhihui was primarily engaged in technology and e-commerce
related business with a focus on its scenario marketing system
and supply chain management capability to provide various banks,
financial institutions and sizable corporations with e-commerce service.
Minshang Zhihui mainly developed and operated e-commerce platforms
for commercial banks in the PRC, and generated profits by selling
goods on platforms developed for large-scale corporation and platforms
owned by Minshang Zhihui (i.e. = ik, 2 1& 8 1E and ERFIR).
Share of post-tax results of associate decreased by 34.8%, or HK$4.6
million, from loss of HK$13.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
to HK$17.8 million for the Year under Review. The loss incurred by
Minshang Zhihui included its operating results and also certain one-off
impairment losses, and was mainly due to the severe macro-economic
environment in the PRC. The major customers of Minshang Zhihui are
financial institutions, under the pressure of the macro economy, which
has severely impacted the profit of the institutions, which in turn, led to
a direct cut back in customer benefits promotion and staff welfares.

Given the above reasons, the Group has also recognised an impairment
loss of investment in associates of approximately HK$16.4 million
during the Year under Review.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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SHARE STRUCTURE

The Company’s issued share capital as at 31 March 2025 was
HK$2,383,187 divided into 953,274,910 ordinary shares of the
Company with par value of HK$0.0025 each.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Being affected by the factors referred to above, the loss attributable to
the shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$56.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2025 as compared to the loss attributable
to the shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$35.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
HK$22.4 million, representing an increase of 113.3%, or HK$11.9
million, as compared with HK$10.5 million as at 31 March 2024.

The issued shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 November 2016 (the “Listing Date” and the
“Listing”, respectively). The Group will continue to use the internal
generated cash flows and proceeds received from the Listing as a
source of funding for future developments.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total current assets and current
liabilities were HK$58.1 million (2024: HK$61.1 million) and HK$39.5
million (2024: HK$26.7 million) respectively, while the current ratio was
about 1.5 times (2024: 2.3 times).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no bank and other borrowings
(2024: Same).
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
with net proceeds from the global offering of the Shares of HK$70.9
million. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company “Change
in Use of Proceeds from Listing” published on 19 September 2019,
24 September 2021 and 10 November 2023, having carefully
considered the current business environment and development needs
of the Group, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
has resolved to change the proposed use of part of the Unutilised
Net Proceeds in the amount of HK$20 million originally allocated for
broadening cuisine offerings, to (i) investing in new businesses on
supply trading on food and other consumer goods; and (ii) working
capital and general corporate purposes on 19 September 2019;
and resolved to change the proposed use of part of the Unutilised
Net Proceeds in the amount of HK$10 million originally allocated for
broadening cuisine offerings to working capital and general corporate
purposes on 24 September 2021; and further resolved to change the
proposed use of the remaining Unutilised Net Proceeds in an aggregate
amount of HK$9.7 million, of which HK$7.0 million originally allocated
for broadening cuisine offerings, HK$2.2 million for upgrade and expand
food processing centre and HK$0.5 million for upgrade information
technology systems, to working capital and general corporate purposes
on 10 November 2023.
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The use of the net proceeds from the Listing as at 31 March 2025 was

approximately as follows:
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Expected
timeline
for utilisation

Original Revised Amount Amount  of the Unutilised
allocation  Re-allocations allocation utilised remaining  Net Proceeds
KB RARERE
RERSRA
Use of Proceeds FEFERR Ra2E EFAE EYAE EBR%E BTeE KEX
(in HKS (in HK$ (in HK$ (in HKS (in HKS
million) million) millon) million) million)
(B&¥r) (BE¥r) (BE¥T)  (BE¥T)  (BE#T)
Maintain and expand Viet's Choice 445 RIE T M 165 - 165 (16.5) - NA
brand restaurants mEEE TER
Broaden cuisine offerings BERMANES 436 (37.0) 6.6 (6.6 - NA
TER
Upgrade and expand food R REFRENT 23 (2.2) 0.1 0.1) - NA
processing centre Hi Taf
Upgrade information FEERRH RS 19 (035) 14 (14) - NA
technology systems TEm
Broaden the promotion of RAmBEER 11 - 11 (19 - NA
brand image and recognition nEE ki
Working capital and general LEEER—REE 55 29.7 35.2 (33.7) 15 ByMarch 2026
corporate purposes A 2026%3 A
B
Invest in new supply chain business R & FT i e £ 75 0 100 100 (10.0) - NA
TER
Total @it 70.9 - 70.9 (69.4) 15

The Net Proceeds utilised and the Unutilised Net Proceeds were/will
be utilised according to the proposed application as specified in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus
of the Company dated 17 November 2016 (“Prospectus”), the
Company’s announcements dated 19 September 2019, 13 August
2020, 24 September 2021 and 10 November 2023.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE SUBSCRIPTION
OF NEW SHARES

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18 and 25
November 2024, the Company completed the Subscription and allotted
and issued 60,000,000 Subscription Shares at HK$0.5 per Subscription
Share. The gross proceeds from the Subscription was HK$30 million,
after deducting related professional fees and all related expenses for
the Subscription, the net proceeds was HK$29 million.

The use of the net proceeds from the Subscription as at 31 March
2025 was approximately as follows:

RBHROMEREFEAR

AN R HE A2024F11 A18H N25H )
NREFMHEE  AAREXRBEELIZGRAE
R 15 0.5 7% o B 2% K 317 60,000,000 P REERL 5 -
REEENMERBREAEEE T &1
BREEENEEBEEEARMBABA S E -
R8s B R A29AE BT -

R2025F3HA31H REFHEMEBRIEFEAKN
BMAR T AR

Expected timeline for
utilization of

Amount Amount  the unutilised
Allocation utilised remaining  net proceeds
AEARBRERSE
Use of proceeds FEREBRE 2 E CEHRASHE HBT¢E BEIEFAR[X
(in HK$ million)  (in HK$ million)  (in HK$ milion)
(BEZ#T) (BZ#%T) (BZ%T)
Development of the Renewable B R B4 2R 28.0 (28.0) - NA
Energy Technology Business ESES TE A
General working capital —ReEBEED 1.0 - 1.0 By March 2027
2027 3 A2 Al
Total Bt 29.0 (28.0) 1.0

The net proceeds utilised and the unutilised net proceeds from the
Subscription were/will be utilised according to the proposed application
as specified in the Company’s announcements dated 30 October, 18

and 25 November 2024.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 29 April 2024,
the Company has been actively exploring opportunities to enhance
the competitiveness of the Group and to enhance the value of the
Company to its Shareholders. Minshang Shenzhen entered into the
Cooperation Agreement with Beijing Bio-Energy and Hainan Energy
on 27 April 2024 to set up the Subsidiary to develop the Renewable
Energy Technology Business. Minshang Shenzhen is required to
contribute RMB25.5 million for the establishment for the Subsidiary.

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 30 October
2024, the Company entered into the Subscription Agreements with
the Subscribers on 30 October 2024, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue to the Subscribers, and the
Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe for, an aggregate
of 60,000,000 Subscription Shares at the Subscription Price of
HKS$0.5 per Subscription Share under the General Mandate. The gross
proceeds from the Subscription is HK$30 million, after deducting the
related professional fees and all related expenses for the Subscription,
the net proceeds of the Subscription is amount to approximately
HK$29 million.

Minshang Shenzhen completed capital injection of the Subsidiary on 25
November 2024.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

)

(i)

(i)

On 19 May 2025, the Group entered into an loan extension letter
with Minshang Zhihui, to extend the new shareholder’s loan
for a further term from 11 June 2025 to 11 June 2026 and to
revise the principal amount of the loan from HK$11,000,000 to
HK$9,500,000 with effect from 11 June 2025. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 19 May 2025 for detail.

On 18 June 2025, the Group entered into an loan extension
letter with RUNMING, to extend the loan for a further term from
6 October 2025 to 6 October 2026 and to revise the principal
amount of the loan from HK$9,500,000 to HK$9,000,000 with
effect from 6 October 2025. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 13 June 2025 for detail.

On 17 June 2025, Minshang Zhihui held a shareholders’ meeting
and resolved that (i) the articles of association of Minshang
Zhihui be amended with effect from the completion of the
relevant registration procedures with the applicable government
authorities which will include amendments to the effect that,
among others, the Company shall have the right to appoint three
out of five directors to the board of directors of Minshang Zhihui;
and (i) three directors nominated by the Company be appointed
as directors of Minshang Zhihui, after which three out of the
five directors on the board of directors of Minshang Zhihui are
nominated by the Company.

The Group shall continue to hold 50% equity interests in
Minshang Zhihui. As a result of the aforementioned change, with
effect from the completion of the relevant registration procedures
with the applicable government authorities, the Group is able to
exercise majority control over the board of directors of Minshang
Zhihui and as a result Minshang Zhihui will become a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial results will be
consolidated into that of the Group for the financial year ending
31 March 2026 and going forward.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 17 June
2025.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no significant events occurred
since the end of the Year under Review and up to the date of this
report.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 45 employees (2024: 9
employees). Remuneration is determined by reference to prevailing
market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification and
experience of each individual employee. The Group also encouraged
employees to enhance their overall career development and knowledge
and skills through continuous education and training courses, so as to
realize their personal potential.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company, with reference to their
respective contribution of time, effort and expertise on the Company’s
matters. The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 November 2016 to reward the participants
defined thereunder for their contribution to the Group’s success and
to provide them with incentives to further contribute to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme has become effective on 29 November 2016. In
addition, employees are entitled to performance and discretionary year-
end bonuses.

No share option was granted during the Year Under Review. As at 31
March 2025, the Company had no outstanding share option under the
Share Option Scheme.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any mortgage or charge
over its assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Company’s long-term goal is to become a diversified and integrated
group of high-efficiency industrial chain and scale business with a
determination to establish a diversified and integrated e-commerce
platform of consumer products, while exploring the opportunities in
low-carbon and green energy transformation.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group’s businesses are conducted in the PRC, and the Group’s
sales and purchases were mainly denominated in RMB. The Group was
exposed to foreign exchange risk based on the fluctuations between
HK$ and RMB arising from the trading business in the PRC. The Group
does not employ any financial instruments for hedging purposes. While
the Board currently does not expect currency fluctuations to materially
impact the Group’s operations, the Board will review the foreign
exchange exposure of the Group from time to time as appropriate.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

PROSPECTS

The Company'’s strategic goal is to become a diversified and integrated
group of high-efficiency industrial chain and scale business with a
determination to establish a diversified and integrated e-commerce
platform of consumer products, while exploring the opportunities in
low-carbon and green energy transformation. In the foreseeable future,
we remain confident in the business prospects of the Group.

. RENEWABLE ENERGY TECHNOLOGY
BUSINESS

Methanol occupies a pivotal position in the PRC’s energy and
chemical industry, driven methanol’s versatile applications as
important fuel and key chemical feedstocks.

The traditional methanol production process, which relies heavily
on coal and natural gas, faces increasing challenges due to
stringent environmental regulations and the PRC’s commitment
to carbon neutrality under its “dual carbon” goals. This has led to
the transition from traditional production methods, which rely on
fossil fuels, to green methanol, which is derived from renewable
sources such as biomass and waste. This shift aligns with global
trends toward low-carbon and sustainable energy solutions, as
well as the PRC’s stringent environmental policies and carbon
neutrality goals.
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The Board considers that the Renewable Energy Technology
Business represents a strategic initiative for the Company to
explore opportunities in the emerging green and low-carbon
industry, which facilitates the acceleration of the deployment of
renewable energy. The Group possesses the requisite technology
with a support of a group of seasoned professionals. The
Board believes that the Group will be well positioned to explore
opportunities in the Renewable Energy Technology Business.

IT SOLUTION BUSINESS

Along with the technological advancement in the last decade,
digital economy has been rapidly developing and becomes a
major trend of interaction between merchants and users. The
development of various industries in the current era is focusing on
user demand, offering better end-users experience and providing
high-quality services and products, which is of great strategic
significance to the development of enterprises by gaining end-
users’ loyalty to the brand through digital transformation.

The Company believes that the SaaS industry in the PRC has a
significant room for expansion with a lot of the Chinese enterprises
start to shift away from hardware infrastructure to cloud-based
infrastructure. Together with the Group’s existing IT Solution
Business, the Group strives to maintain the existing customers
base of its IT Solution Business, and aims to further increase its
market shares by exploring the customer and business needs and
promoting the e-commerce platform operations, live broadcast
operations and IT solutions outsourcing services.
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In the future, the Group will unswervingly optimise our IT Solution
Business by continuously enhancing the experience of products
and services to a wide range of enterprises in different industries
in order to create value-added benefits to the enterprises, by
enhancing the marketing and customer relationship efforts,
including but not limited to expanding the Group’s customer base
and extending its services to more banks branches of existing
banks customers, financial institutions and also state-owned
enterprises. Meanwhile, the management also intends to conduct
market researches to understand the latest trend of the needs of
the target customers and potential customers group. By obtaining
more understanding on the up-to-date market demands, the
Group shall provide client with timely and personalised services
SO as to maintain existing customers and attract new customers.
The Group will continuously optimise the products and services
capabilities, including updating product control, improving after-
sales services and upgrading its technology capabilities.

TRADING BUSINESS

Despite the challenges the Group is facing under the global and
domestic economy environment, the Group will still strive to
maintain and develop its Trading Business as well as exploring
new opportunities in trading business.

RESTAURANT BUSINESS

The food and beverage industry in Hong Kong has been
challenging. Yet, the management is still exploring for new
opportunities in the food and beverage industry and may continue
its food and beverage business should suitable opportunities
arise.

Our management team has a long-term vision and a marvellous pool
of talents. Through continuous exploration, the Group believes that
challenges will bring opportunities and it strives to achieve brilliant
results by riding on the wind and waves and forging ahead towards
the goal of becoming the mainstay of the industry, in a bid to generate
higher profits for the Group and greater value for Shareholders and
create a grand chapter for the era.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025

R AEESRE MBI ELERABE
RTRER  THASITEERNEAR
AMMRERMRERERBRARERGEEE
Wat - amEEEREPBAETIE &
ERETRRBAASENETFERLKE
RBLEFREREGRITEPHELRITOIT
TREBELREELE R EEEIRT
BETMSRAE WTHRERERPRE
EFHERRNENBE - BBIRT R
RHMMEER  AEEKATPREHRNIE
REMERRE  NEEREEP LR3
HEP AKEEBHERLCERNMREE
ho BREMEREH REEERRBR
T IXMIRE S

EEES
BEASEERREALRPELERRENS
ERE - AKREDAKBIRFERERE
HEH  UREZEXGRREMOKS -

BEBEXR®
ERERE—BEEBRIB - AW EEE
DEERRERENES  WEREER

HPNEREEFSEERE  BERET - LB TH
MRR  AEEEEKBEKEYTF - IR
BOEE  REBOR - EIEATTT  PMERRITE
BENBRENBE RAKEREESAN
RERGEEANEE ERHREE -



Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. WU JIANGTAO

Mr. WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”), aged 49, is the Chairman of the Board
and an executive Director of the Company since 6 July 2018. Mr. Wu
obtained a bachelor’s degree in monetary and banking from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in July 1998, a master’s degree
of economics from Chinese Academy of Social Science in July 2007
and a Ph.D degree in finance from Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics in December 2012. Mr. Wu was the chairman of the board
of directors and chief executive officer of Minsheng E-Commerce Co.,
Ltd (RE S FHEEERE TR F) from December 2013 to April 2015.
Mr. Wu has been the chairman of the board of directors of Minsheng
E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (“Minsheng E-Commerce”)
since April 2015 until now. Prior to joining Minsheng E-Commerce Co.,
Ltd, Mr. Wu served as the branch manager of China Minsheng Bank
Wuhan Branch from November 2011 to December 2013.

Mr. Wu has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”). Mr. Wu receives a director’'s remuneration of
HK$10,000 monthly, which was determined with reference to his duties
and responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.

MR. TAO JINGYUAN

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (“Mr. Tao”), aged 40, is an executive Director of the
Company since 6 March 2020 and the chief executive officer of the
Company since 30 November 2022. Mr. Tao received his bachelor’s
degree in Engineering Mechanics at Tsinghua University in July 2007
and his master’s degree in Finance at the University of Hong Kong
in June 2012. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tao had worked as
senior manager of corporate business department of Harvest Fund
Management Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to July 2010; vice president of
Asia Pacific region business department of Harvest Global Investments
from August 2010 to May 2012; General Manager of private banking
department of China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd Wuhan Branch
from May 2012 to July 2015. After that, Mr. Tao joined Minsheng
E-Commerce in September 2015 and has been serving as vice president
of Minsheng E-Commerce & General Manager of Finance Division and
is appointed as the chief executive officer of Minsheng E-Commerce
since July 2022.
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Mr. Tao has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Tao receives a director’s
remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly, which was determined with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions, but will not receive
remuneration for his services as the CEO of the Company.

MR. LAI XIAOPENG MICHAEL

Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael (“Mr. Lai”), aged 38, is an executive Director
of the Company since 30 November 2022. Mr. Lai joined the Group
since July 2018, served as deputy general manager of Hong Kong
business department of Minsheng E-Commerce, promoted and as
general manager of Hong Kong business department of Minsheng
E-Commerce from January 2023. Mr. Lai received his bachelor’s degree
in Law at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in July 2012 and
has over 10 years of experience in cross boarder business, specialising
in Hong Kong-Mainland China businesses. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Lai worked in China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd, Hong Kong
Branch, as relationship manager of commodities and frozen product
department from September 2012 to May 2015, and was promoted as
the team head of cross boarder business department from May 2015
to June 2018.

Mr. Lai has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. With effect from 1 April 2024,
Mr. Lai receives a director’s remuneration of HK$54,000 monthly, which
was determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.

MS. NING MENGMENG

Ms. NING Mengmeng (“Ms. Ning”), aged 39, is appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 19 December 2024, has over
10 years of experience in financial investment management. Ms.
Ning joins the Group as an executive Director of the Company and
is responsible for investment management. She was the vice general
manager of Hainan Pin Yi Investment Company Limited * (/&5 fn 28 1%
BB AR from August 2022 to December 2024, a company which
principally engages in financial investment management. Ms. Ning has
also worked in Beijing Zhaocaiyu Investment Management Limited* (1t
SRy REEEEGR QA acompany which principally engages in
financial investment management, and she was the general manager of
this company from June 2019 to June 2020. Ms. Ning was graduated
from Nanchang Institute of Technology.

For identification purpose only
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Ms. Ning has entered into a service agreement with the Company
as an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Ms. Ning will receive a
director’s remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly, which was determined
with reference to her duties and responsibilities with the Company, her
experience and the prevailing market conditions.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. CHOI TZE KIT, SAMMY

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy (“Mr. Choi”), aged 62, is an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company since 6 July 2018. Mr. Choi has over 35 years of experience
in finance and auditing. Mr. Choi has been an independent non-
executive director of Prinx Chengshan Holdings Limited, the shares
of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
1809.HK) since 10 September 2018. From October 2016 to August
2017, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive director of Ermnest
Borel Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1856.HK). From January 2007 to
November 2015, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive director
of Fufeng Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 546.HK) and from February 2016
to February 2017, he was an independent non-executive director of
PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2078.HK).

Mr. Choi graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently
known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in 1985. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
(“ICAEW”), a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (“ACCA”), a fellow Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), a fellow
member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Choi has been a council member of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Merchants Mutual Assistance Society Limited since October 2013.
He was a council member of The Society of Chinese Accountants
and Auditors from 2010 to 2015. He has been elected as an honorary
financial advisor of Hong Kong and Kowloon Rattan Ware Merchants
Association (Wing Hing Tong) in 2018.
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Mr. Choi has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company as
an independent non-executive Director for a term of one year subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Choi
receives a director’s remuneration of HK$240,000 annually, which was
determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.

MR. CHEUNG MIU

Mr. CHEUNG Miu (“Mr. M. Cheung”), aged 55, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 6 July 2018, obtained
a bachelor’s degree in business administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in December 1992 and a master’s degree
in business administration from The University of New South Wales
in May 1998. Mr. M. Cheung has years of experiences in the finance
industry. He joined CITIC Capital Holdings Limited in 1999 and is
currently a senior managing director and head of structured investment
and finance of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited. He was a director of
China National Investment & Guaranty Corporation, shares of which are
listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations, from 25 April
2017 to 14 July 2022. He was employed by Commonwealth Bank of
Australia from January 1998 to May 1999 and his last position with the
bank was as executive in the corporate finance department. He was
the assistant manager of the investment banking department of Societe
Generale Asia Limited from January 1995 to February 1996.

Mr. M. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. M. Cheung receives a director’s remuneration of HK$240,000
annually, which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.
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MR. CHEUNG PAK TO

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To (“Mr. P.T. Cheung”), BBS, aged 76, is an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since 6 July
2018. He is currently an independent non-executive director of Amasse
Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 8168.HK), an independent non-
executive director of Greenheart Group Limited (stock code: 94.HK) and
also an independent non-executive director of China Financial Services
Holdings Limited (stock code: 605.HK). He was an independent non-
executive director of National Agricultural Holdings Limited (stock code:
1236.HK) from 1 January 2017 to 8 November 2019. Mr. P.T. Cheung
holds a master’s degree in public administration from the University of
Hong Kong of which he was accorded as a distinguished alumnus in
2007. Mr. P.T. Cheung has extensive management and administrative
experiences. From 1969, Mr. P.T. Cheung had served with the United
Kingdom Government, British Forces in Hong Kong for 21 years, with
his final post as a Civilian Executive Officer. Thereafter from 1989,
he was employed by the Securities and Futures Commission Hong
Kong for 20 years, with his final position as Senior Manager of the
Finance & Administration Department. On the social and community
responsibilities front, Mr. P.T. Cheung was a devoted volunteer officer
in the Hong Kong Civil Aid Service for 30 years during which he was
appointed as honorary Aide-de-Camp to the former Governors Lord
Wilson and Mr. Christopher Patten; and Mr. Tung Chee-hwa, the former
Chief Executive of Hong Kong Government, for 10 consecutive years
from 1990 to 1999. Mr. P.T. Cheung achieved the rank of Assistant
Commissioner in the Hong Kong Civil Aid Service and was awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong Government in 2003. Mr.
Cheung has been the chairman of United Services Recreation Club
Limited since June 2015.

Mr. P.T. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. Cheung receives a director’s remuneration of HK$240,000 annually,
which was determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities
with the Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value
through good corporate governance.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view of ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and
developing robust corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately; and

- that high standards of ethic are maintained.

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards.

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of
good corporate governance in the management structures, internal
control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to achieve
effective accountability.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) as disclosed in this annual report, has complied with
all applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended 31 March 2025.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as contained in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct governing
the securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific enquiry
made by the Company on each of the Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures
that the requisite financial and human resources support is in place for
the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions performed by the
Board include but are not limited to formulating the Group’s business
plans and strategies, deciding all significant financial (including major
capital expenditure) and operational issues, developing, monitoring
and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance practices and all
other functions reserved to the Board under the Articles. The Board
has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. The Board may from time to time delegate certain
functions to management of the Group if and when considered
appropriate. The management is mainly responsible for the execution of
the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and
assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and are
entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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COMPOSITION OF BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgment.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the following
seven Directors, four of whom are executive Directors and the other
three are INEDs. Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. WU Jiangtao (Chairman)

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael

Ms. NING Mengmeng (Note) (Appointed on 19 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy

Mr. CHEUNG Miu

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To

Note: Ms. Ning Mengmeng was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 19 December 2024. Ms. Ning has obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on Hong Kong law as regards the
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her as a
director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a
false declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange on 12
December 2024, and she has confirmed she understood her obligations as
a director of a listed issuer.

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report. The relationships between the Directors are
disclosed in the respective Director’s biography under the section
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report. Saved as disclosed above, there is no relationships (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s))
between the Board members and in particular, between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company had three INEDs,
representing more than one-third of the Board members, which
has exceeded the requirement of the Listing Rules that the number
of INEDs must represent at least one-third of the Board members,
and also met the requirement that at least one of the INEDs has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company considers that all
the INEDs are independent and have met the independence guidelines
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
March 2025 and up to the date of this annual report.

The Chairman holds at least one meeting with the INEDs without the
presence of the other executive Directors annually.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the
Directors has been arranged by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities under
statue and common law, the Listing Rules, other legal and regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

The Company will provide briefings to all Directors from time to time to
develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities. All Directors are
also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expense and they have been requested to provide the Company with
their training records.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance and position
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. All Directors were encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to enhance and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025 is
as follows:
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Continuous
professional
development

programs
Name of Directors BEEHE BESERRETE
Mr. WU Jiangtao RILERE v
Mr. TAO Jingyuan M REE v
Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael REBSE G 5 A4 v
Ms. NING Mengmeng (Appointed on 19 December 2024) B+ (R2024F 12 4 19 AEZ(T) 4
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BEFHEE v
Mr. CHEUNG Miu ROB LA v
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To SR1AFE % A4 v

The nature of continuous professional development programs includes
attending seminars/conferences/forums or reading newspapers,
journals and updates relating to the economy, general business,
corporate governance, Listing Rules and other laws and regulation
amendments and directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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LIABILITY INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS

The Company has purchased insurances for all Directors to
minimise risks that may be incurred in their normal performance of
responsibilities.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at
least 14 days in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given
in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include
any matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on
issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers are sent
to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of the
regular Board meeting, or such other period as agreed for other Board
meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record respectively within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board convened a total REZE2025F3A3THILEFE EETEUHRS
of 5 meetings in person or by means of electronic communication. LEFBRAATN —HEHBIASHE - TES
The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and general REE2025F3A31BIEFERITZAARAE
meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 March 2025 is EeeRkBRRRe 2HFELRHEAT

as follows:
No. of Attendance/No. of Meetings

Name of Directors EEgR HERE ERRE

General Board

Meeting Meeting

BRRXE EEg8R
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. WU Jiangtao RITEEAE 2/2 5/5
Mr. TAO Jingyuan MREF R A 2/2 5/5
Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael FEMENS 5t A& 2/2 5/5
Ms. NING Mengmeng BREXT 11 -
(Appointed on 19 December 2024) (R20244F 12 519 HHEZ(T)

Independent Non-executive Directors BYKHITES
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BEFHE A 2/2 5/5
Mr. CHEUNG Miu ROB LA 2/2 5/5
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To RiAkE k4 2/2 5/5
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) in November 2018 setting out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of
Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge and length of service.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board is
sufficiently diverse and the Board had set any measurable objectives.
Selection of candidates to the Board is based on a range of measurable
objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s
own business model and specific needs from time to time.

With the existing Board members coming from a variety of business
and professional background, the Company considers that the Board
possesses a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Board will continue to review its composition and the
measurable objectives from time to time and at least annually taking
into consideration specific needs for the Group’s business.

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange will
not consider diversity to be achieved for a single gender board. During
the Year under Review, the Company has a single gender Board until
19 December 2024, when Ms. Ning Mengmeng has be appointed as
an executive Director. After Ms. Ning’s appointment, the Company
has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Board
shall also take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels within
the Company. The gender ratio in the workforce is set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs. The
Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

The terms of reference of the Board Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to Shareholders upon request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOI Tze Kit,
Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr. CHEUNG Pak To. The Audit
Committee is chaired by Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy who possesses
relevant professional qualification and expertise in financial reporting
matters.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025.
The Audit Committee is of the view that the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the statutory provisions,
and sufficient disclosures have already been made.

The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include but are
not limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and handling any questions regarding its resignation or
dismissal;

o reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and discussing with
the external auditors on the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;
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developing and implementing a policy on engaging external
auditors to supply non-audit services and reporting to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;

monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, and half-year report, as well as
reviewing significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;

reviewing the Company’s financial controls, and risk management
and internal control systems;

discussing the risk management and internal control systems with
the management to ensure that the management has performed
its duty to have such effective systems;

considering major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness;

reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditors to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditors’ management letters; and

considering other topics as defined by the Board.

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

i € K2 5% B & B SN R 4% SR 12 (L 3 R 3R
BHBERYRAESS 2R B A ARNIT
By o= M EM BRI FUL(F R R

ERARAMBEHRSE FERE LKA N
REFEREZTENE  UEEEPHAE
BRI TS IE R H

BEARRMBEE  RREE N A
BN

HEBERIRREERASZEH RS
NrREEEBCETERE  IRHUAEREA
LEYSE

FEFTENRIRAETB AR EE KA
THEENEEFEHERLEREYAS
BRAERETHE

ERBABEZBENBERT - RN
AN R AR BRM 2 PR B 15 8 WEAR ) BD BB A%
BEEARRANBRAEREFELRAR
AINEBIRENS  WEERERAFRIE:

BAAREENOP B R BRE LB

W NER IR BT AR T B IR B AV K - R HK
AP & 5HACER - A5 AR B SR B R A
EEEROMNEMNENRAREEEFL
FY [B] FE

REEGE LELRRINFZEEE T
ERENRMHTRENER: &

ZRAMAEFTSRAEMNRE

REAIRHERERAR

20258 F 3§k

37



Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee convened
five committee meetings. The attendance of each INED at the Audit
Committee meetings is as follows:

RBE2025F3A3HILFE EXEEEY
BRAXRZBEER SBUFNTEENE
BERBEEZ IHFELENT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings

Name of Directors EEHE HERE 2B H
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy e 5/5
Mr. CHEUNG Miu OB AE 5/5
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To BRIl 5/5

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, and one executive
Director, namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. CHEUNG Miu is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to:

o making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy;

o reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;
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making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
the non-executive Directors;

considering the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the
executive Directors and senior management of the Company for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not
excessive;

reviewing and approving the compensation arrangements relating
to the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with the contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee REE2025F3ANALFE FTHEES
convened three committee meeting. The attendance of each Director BRH-RZEeeR RESUFHEZES

X

L e

in the capacity of a member of the Remuneration Committee at its BEgHhHFEHEgZ 2oHEAT

meeting is as follows:

Name of Directors

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings

Mr. CHEUNG Miu
Mr. WU Jiangtao
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To

EENR HERE EBRH
OB kA& 3/3
RIERE 3/3
w1AME A& 3/3
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHEUNG Pak To and Mr. CHEUNG Miu, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. WU Jiangtao is
also the Chairman of the Board, and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include
but are not limited to:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

° assessing the independence of the INEDs; and

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for the
Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the chief executives of
the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee
convened two committee meeting. The attendance of each Director in
the capacity of a member of the Nomination Committee at its meeting
is as follows:

REZR®

M2025F3H31H ' IRREZEEem=RKEH
K BREMBEIENTES (BIRABLTER
RREE)UAR—BRTES (AIRTELE) -
RIBRENAREETSTREAREZEESEF -
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FREREE - MBRER) YR ERZHRE
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REE2025F3A3IBILFEE REZTEGY
BAMAZECEEH SESURBEZEGK

BHMMLFEEERZCHMT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings

Name of Directors EEHE HERE 23R H
Mr. WU Jiangtao RITERE 2/2
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To DR ELE R 2/2
Mr. CHEUNG Miu RBEAE 2/2
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The nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the
Company in November 2018. Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, in
evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination
Committee would consider the following criteria, including, among other
things, character and integrity, qualifications (cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy), any
potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt
of the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship with a ranking of the candidates (if applicable)
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors, which includes but is not limited
to:

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

° reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

U reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

° reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles. At each
annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at the AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout
the meeting at which he/she retires. The Directors to retire by rotation
shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors
to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and does not offer
himself/herself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be
those who have been the longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment and so that as between the persons who became or were
last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2025 are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, Cheng & Cheng Zhongxinghua
CPA Limited was engaged as the Group’s independent auditor.

The remuneration paid/payable to Cheng & Cheng Zhongxinghua CPA
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:
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Fee paid/payable

Bt/ ENER

HK$’000

FHET

Audit services ZH R 1,150

Non-audit services B ARTS 250

Total B 1,400
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE EFHMERERMNERE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, Cheng & Cheng Zhongxinghua CPA Limited has stated
in the independent auditor’s report its reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems through the Audit Committee on an
annual basis. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
oversight and corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, while management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems, and provides reports to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems
and internal controls can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed
to manage, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group’s business objectives.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has conducted an
annual review on the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems in relation to the financial,
operational and compliance controls, and the results were summarised
and discussed with the Audit Committee and the Board. The Audit
Committee and the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. The Directors through the Audit Committee are kept
informed of significant risks (including Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”)-related risks) that may impact on the Group’s
performance.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group to be effective
and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function, as well
as the Group’s ESG performance and reporting.

The Group maintained effective risk management and internal control in
all material respects, and the Board of Directors was not aware of any
significant or material defects in relation to the risk management and
internal control. The Board of Directors has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and considered them effective and adequate.
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MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Group has adopted a risk management policy, the main objectives
of which is to ensure sustainable business growth with stability and to
promote a pro-active approach in reporting, evaluating and resolving
risks (including ESG-related risks) associated with the business, in order
to guide decisions on risk related issues.

The specific objectives of the policy are:

1. to ensure that all the current and future material risk exposures
of the Group are identified, assessed, quantified, appropriately
mitigated, minimized and managed i.e. to ensure adequate
systems for risk management.

2. to establish a framework for the Group’s risk management
process and to ensure its implementation.

3. to enable compliance with appropriate regulations, wherever
applicable, through the adoption of best practices.

4, to assure business growth with financial stability.

RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS

Risk identification is based on discussions and interviews with
management from different departments. Risks are preliminary identified
by management from the risk universe which is a collection of risks built
on environmental analysis and external benchmarking that can impact
the Group at the entity or specific business process level. Key risk
factors are then identified by integrating the results of the discussions
and interviews.

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and
likelihood of identified key risk factors. These identified key risk factors
are further assessed by a scale rating process by the management to
evaluate their impact and likelihood.

Risk prioritization is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to prioritize
the identified key risk factors according to their impact and likelihood.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group has an internal audit function which is primarily responsible
for developing various internal control manuals and procedures,
conducting reviews on the key operational processes and the
related internal controls to ensure compliance with the Group’s risk
management and internal control policies and procedures. In addition,
the Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems, covering all material controls
such as financial, operational and compliance controls. In addition,
internal control review was conducted to review the internal control
systems of the Group on an on-going basis. Such review shall be
conducted annually. The Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group for the year were effective
and adequate.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

o the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential
or inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and
the head of investor relations of the Company are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. KWAN Sau In (“Ms. Kwan”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary. She is currently a senior manager of the Company Secretarial
Services Division of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and
investor services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.
Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael, an Executive Director has been designated
as the primary contact person at the Company who would work and
communicate with Ms. Kwan on the Company’s corporate governance
and secretarial and administrative matters.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, Ms. Kwan has undertaken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
in November 2018. The policy aims to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s
liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. The Board intends to
recommend an annual dividend which would amount in total of not
less than 30% of the net profit from ordinary activities attributable to
Shareholders for full financial year but subject to, among other things,
the Company’s operational needs, earnings, financial condition, working
capital requirements and future business plans as the Board may deem
relevant at such time. Such intention does not amount to any guarantee
or representation or indication that the Company must or will declare
and pay dividend in such manner nor declare and not pay any dividend
at all. Cash dividends on the shares of the Company, if any, will be paid
in Hong Kong dollars.

The Company may from time to time consider paying interim dividends
and special dividends. The Board has complete discretion on whether
to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable.

The Board will review this policy from time to time and may adopt
changes as appropriate at the relevant time.

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

NG

MEHRLt ((BRL)BZERRRME - K
ARPEBEXBBERABARANEREAS
RAEIE - ZNFREHUENBERRBAR > AF
PR#HES  EXRMREERE RS -

PREEHTHOCEEAUREESRARE
BRANWEREERRBY - RITEFEE
BEACEETAARAZEREA  BHA
ARREEAUNRNERTREERAL L
TITIERER -

REZE2025F3A3IBIEFE BEREMR
BIE320 6T MLt BB TV MR15/
R E T -

Bx B B3R

AAFIER2018F 11 AN BHEK ([ R E B
K] ZBEEEEREHSEZARRAHEN - A
RNEBARNFINRBE S ARIIRRKIZRELS -
EXgHEERARBEFTERE HEcHESH
BROREEYERFE ZBREEN BB ESLD
FHI30%  HEEX (KRR BEIE) ARFICEER
Ko BF - BBROR HEEAERRESTEA
BE N AR RS AR VEFB B A R R S TS T BI AT ARRR -
TR T EREAREFLBPRRRARDR]
VARSI EZRBETAEREEATRE &2
2 EIR RN EARE - RARKRND2HES
f&8 (nAE) #AE TR -

AR R 7R R A o B3R 8 R BIAR 8 ¢
FFET LA RTIRN RS - AR RR
et 7 AR (4B -

EE TR BB K AT BE 0 A0 B A A 3
TTEEBW -

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k

47



48

Corporate Governance Report

ERERRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or move
resolutions at the AGMs under the memorandum of association and the
Articles of Association of the Company (the “M&A”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move
a resolution may, however, convene an extraordinary general meeting
(the “EGM”) in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM” set out below.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the
Company Secretary for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at
the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM must
deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (presently Unit 4201, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the Company,
the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.
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The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong.
If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM and/or include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) at the EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the
Requisition. On the contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not
in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of the
outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM nor include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) at the EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO SEND
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, presently at Unit 4201, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong, by post or by email at
ir-hk@msok.com, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward the
communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the executive
Directors;
2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility to

the chairman of the appropriate committee; and

3. ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, enquiries
and client complaints to the appropriate management of the
Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal and
timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow
them to engage actively with the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company’s financial reports, AGMs and other EGMs that may be
convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we”) hereby presents its
eighth environmental, social and governance (the “ESG”) report (the
“Report”), which discloses the Group’s activities and performance on
issues of sustainable development in a transparent and open manner,
with the aim of enhancing the confidence and understanding of the
stakeholders toward the Group.

The scope of the Report covers the Group’s operation in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”): (i) information technology (“IT”) solution
business; (ii) trading business; and (iii) renewable energy technology
business.

The Report forms an integral part of our annual reporting and should be
read in conjunction with our 2024/25 Annual Report, and in particular
the Corporate Governance Report contained therein.

REPORTING PERIOD

All information herein reflects the performance of the Group in
environmental management and social responsibility from 1 April 2024
to 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”). The ESG disclosure scope
of this year is consistent with that of the annual report.
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REPORTING STANDARDS AND PRINCIPLES WEER KRR

The Report is prepared in accordance to the Environmental, Social and ABEDRBEEBBERXZFMBR LA (TR
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix Fr) &5 EmRBIMERCOMEIIRE - g RE
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock  JATREIESI ([RE - HERERES ) MER -
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Group REBEETRR g REBESIMIAHT
has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions and followed B RE |G REREFAERERE - A
the Reporting Principles set out in the ESG Guide to define the report ATHRENBDLBRAAZINERNNEER RS
content and to ensure the quality of information presented, including: JREIBIE -

e Material ESG issues have been identified through stakeholder

SNT engagement and materiality assessment and reviewed by the top
Matenahty management to ensure their significance to our business operation.
HEEH . EBAEE U REARERBSNES AR EE TR
SR EEEEEABRREHBMARKEENERE -

e (Quantitative metrics have been disclosed to monitor and evaluate our
ESG performance for year-to-year comparisons and keep track of our
progress toward our ESG targets.

o EERETHREUNERLTGERMOERE HeREARRNEE
TFEEERRBHMEFIEKIRE  HERERBRNER -

e The Report presented an unbiased assessment of the Group’s ESG

Balance performance . by highlighting our achievements and areas for
o improvement in ESG management.
@ o AREBBJRABMERE LG REQEEHEAIKM LT ENHE

REE - 2MBEAKERE L@ REARBHQIENME

e The Report has adopted consistent methodologies for a fair comparison
of our ESG performance over time. The Group has disclosed the
changes to the methods or key performance indicators (“KPIs”) used
where applicable.

o AWMERA-—BHTE RHMNRE L@ RERKRRNAEAE
ATLER - AREBEHRBETERBEATEANT A ERENIEE

( [BPARERIER] ) WEH -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOURCE OF DATA AND RELIABILITY

This Report contains information that has been obtained from the
Group’s internal documents, statistical reports or relevant public
materials. This Report has been prepared by the Group with a
commitment to ensuring that it does not contain any false information,
misleading statement or material omission. The Group takes full
responsibilities for the authenticity, accuracy and completeness of the
report content.

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

The ESG Report was approved by the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) on June 20, 2025 upon confirmation by the
management of the Company. The ESG Report is prepared in both
Chinese and English. In case of any discrepancy between the Chinese
and English versions of the ESG Report, the English version shall
prevail.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

Your valuable comments on our performance and reporting format are
essential for our continuous progress. You are welcome to email any
question or suggestion on the Report to ir-hk@msok.com, which will
enable us to continuously improve our ESG practices.

ESG GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

The Group ensures that the appropriate structure and processes
are in place to foster an atmosphere of trust, transparency, and
accountability, as well as safeguard the interests of stakeholders. The
foundational goal of effective governance is protecting the interests of
all stakeholders, both internal and external, including the community we
serve.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board recognises the significance of implementing sustainability
practices and is committed to incorporating ESG systems into their
decision-making process. The Board holds the ultimate responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities, creating
and approving the ESG-related strategy and objectives, assessing the
progress made towards achieving the Group’s ESG-related targets and
goals.
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The Board conducts regular evaluations to identify and assess the risks,
including those related to ESG factors. The Board also ensures the
Group has established effective risk management and internal control
systems to address these risks. Regular meetings and discussions
are held by the Board to assess the effectiveness of these systems.
By implementing appropriate ESG governance practices, the Group
can enhance its long-term business sustainability and effectively meet
the expectations of its stakeholders. The Board recognises its overall
responsibility for overseeing and directing the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

An ESG task force has been established, consisting of individuals from
middle to senior management. This task force assists the Board in
implementing the ESG strategy and objectives by conducting materiality
assessments of ESG issues and collecting ESG data from various
functional departments. Should any critical issues arise, the task force
is tasked with promptly notifying the Board.

The responsibilities of the ESG task force include evaluating the
effectiveness of actions taken in response to ESG concerns and
identifying any variances from the Group’s established ESG goals
and objectives. In addressing these discrepancies, the task force
collaborates with relevant departments. Regular annual meetings are
conducted to review the efficacy of the ESG initiatives that have been
put in place. Through industry research and compliance with regulatory
standards, the task force effectively identifies and addresses emerging
challenges.
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Governance structure

Board The Board is responsible for the formulation,
management, and evaluation of ESG, overseeing all
related decision-making processes.

ESG task force The ESG task force supports the Board by handling
the day-to-day management and oversight of ESG
issues. Comprised of senior representatives from
various departments, this group aims to enhance
coordination and tackle ESG-related challenges

effectively.
Functional The functional departments are tasked with putting
Department into action the strategies and targets set for ESG. They
also monitor and assess the effectiveness of these
measures.

Climate-related concerns are meticulously integrated into our risk
management framework, improving the Group’s resilience and
adaptability to the effects of climate change. To pinpoint climate-related
risks affecting our financial and operational health, we engage in data
analysis and stakeholder interactions.

In addition, our enterprise risk assessment rigorously evaluates risks
that could significantly disrupt our business operations. We are actively
deploying mitigation strategies to address these climate-related
risks and investigating ways to enhance our long-term sustainability
and resilience. We will keep monitoring the effectiveness of our risk
mitigation measures and ensure they are consistent with our enterprise
risk management framework.

Aligned with the Board’s dedication to enhancing social and
environmental impacts, we will persist in assessing our progress on
ESG matters.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

In all aspects of our operations, the Group is committed to addressing
the key issues highlighted by both internal and external stakeholders.
We maintain active engagement through clear and detailed
communication, constantly refining our sustainability strategies and
initiatives in response to their insightful feedback. Our goal is to
meet stakeholder expectations and needs, thereby building mutual
trust, fostering collaborative ties, and setting the stage for a future
characterized by sustainable economic growth, environmental
stewardness, and social inclusivity at work.

Below is a table summarizing the methods and channels the Group
uses to engage with stakeholders, along with the main ESG issues they
have raised:

Shareholders Areas of ESG Concerns
BH0E RE -HEREAREEER

FOESHERERMRFMGE

ERMLENSERES - NAEEABANRIEAIN
MRENERANTEZE - HAIE BB A
BHBBRBREEBRR  THEERMANTRE
BEREBLBENDERSEES LIBORE
ER -BZMEEmRFNENHREETR K
BB REAERR  LRARROATRFEL
R CREEERTEPOL S HBETER -

TERBAARERZNHEBBNTALREN

MRERENETERE HEREESE

Engagement Channels
BHERE

Government and regulatory e Compliance with the Listing Rules;

authorities EsF ETARA
BT M EEE g o Disclosure of information and

submission of materials;
= EREEERIE ;
o Operational compliance;
LEAR
° Tax payment as legally required; and
BOEMT &

o Timely and accurate announcements

KB R Bt 2 45

Investors o Business strategies and performances;

REE ES TN E ST
° Effective corporate governance;
BREEER:
° Sustainable profitability; and
FERMEE R

° Investment returns
& B H
Media and Public o Corporate governance;
HEER AR PERER:

o Environmental protection; and
RERE &

° Uphold human rights standards
B ARER
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. Annual reviewal process;
FEEESEF

o Company’s website and
announcements;
ZAN/NETE DY NG/

° Meetings; and
B

° Training and seminars
=

o General meetings;
BERKRE
o Financial reports and announcements;
and
MBHRERANE R
o Company’s website
AN/NETF R

° Announcement;
NE

° Company’s website; and
AN/NSFER I

° press conference

MERGmE



Shareholders

#HE
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Areas of ESG Concerns
RE HEREREEER

BE  dHEgRELAHRS

Engagement Channels

SHERE

Suppliers
e

Customers
®F

Employees

=

Community

ol

o Payment schedule;
R HE

° Demand stability;

o Operational compliance; and
EBAH K

° Quality services and products
185 1) AR 7% £ 2

o Quallity services and products;

BEH R EER

o Product safety;
EmER

° Commercial credibility;
CEIE

° Intellectual property rights and

protection; and
MBEEERRE : &

o Operational compliance
LEAM

° Rights and benefits of employees;
BE#E BN

o Training and development;
Bl ER

° Working environment and occupational

safety; and
THERBERBERZE R

° Equal opportunities
TEHE

° Community development;
M@ B R

o Employment opportunities;
MEKS

° Environmental protection; and
RERE S &

° Social welfare
Can-—R =

o Site visits;
B E :
o Meetings; and
S .
(=ICE A
° Conference calls and interviews

T AT 2 T e K
B TR NEH

° Visits;
3B

° Meetings;
e .
= Ak

° Conference calls; and
BEEH R

° Customers’ enquiries handling
mechanism

B, R IR

° Regular meetings;
THEE
° Employee training;
EEF
o Annual appraisal;
FEER
° Opinion box; and
BERME: R
o WhatsApp and WeChat group
WhatsApp K il {= B

° Community service activities;
1R ARFES

° Media enquiry; and
BRI Rk

° Press release and announcements
mEENERAE
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RIE - HERERERE

We have identified ESG issues that may adversely affect our sustainable
development. These issues have been identified from various sources,
including our previous ESG report, internal policies, industry trends,
and feedback from stakeholders. We have carefully evaluated these
issues with our overall ESG strategy, development, goals, and target.
The factors have been addressed by relevant measures, and we
believe they have no significant effect on our financial and operational
performance.

Our materiality assessment is illustrated in the table below, highlighting
the ESG issues that are deemed most significant and have the greatest
potential to affect our performance.

BHMEBA S REEREETMNEZED
RBRE -HeghEhsd %FaidliaZExR
BRFL - BREERMALANERE HERERR
T ARERE  TEBEAFONENRERR -
BPRBEEERE HENEARE HE B
ERESHZSREETHANG BHEREE
EEBHEMBERSUER BRMABRETS
HEPNMELRELERRELEATE -

TRENHMOEZETG BHHAARKRS
REZUMRAANEFZERMRRANERE £

P A N =
= NEIRERE ©

Environmental Operations Employees Community
RIR e 3= #HE
1. Greenhouse Gas 6.  Product Responsibility 11.  Employment 16.  Community Investment
(“GHG") & Air Emissions EmEE =X fLEIRE
RERE(DRERE]) 7. Supply Chain 12.  Labor Standards
FERYEM Management B TR
2. Energy and Water HEEER 13. Health and Safety
Consumption 8.  Product Related fEREETE
IR ERE R AKE Complaints 14. Development and
3. Waste Management E o iE R Training
EEY)E 1P 9.  Anti-corruption R EET
4.  Climate Change Awareness 15.  Privacy Protection
RIRE L REREH FLERR &
5. Packaging Materials 10. Intellectual Property
Consumption FH
BEMEERE
ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION BIRERE

Through years of engagement in environmental protection practice,
the Group endeavoured to show an outstanding performance in
environmental protection. To preserve our natural environment,
we focus on optimizing resource consumption and preventing and
controlling emissions and pollution. In FY2025, the Group was in
compliance with related environmental laws and regulations and had
a proper implementation of environmental protection measures in our
operations regarding energy and GHG emissions management, air and
water pollution control, and waste management and reduction. Through
continuously engaging our employees and customers, the Group
strives to create long-term environmental values for its stakeholders
and society.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
violation of environmental protection laws and regulations.
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EMISSION

The Group’s emissions mainly come from the use of the Group’s
vehicles. Based on the nature of our business, the Group’s operation
process does not involve a large number of exhaust emissions, sewage
discharge to water and soil and hazardous wastes. Therefore, the
Group believes that the relevant emissions are not significant. Therefore,
this report does not disclose relevant information, nor does it set
corresponding targets for waste gas emission and hazardous waste.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not violate the applicable
laws and regulations on exhaust emissions.

ENERGY AND GREENHOUSE GAS CONSUMPTION

Our greenhouse gas emissions mainly include direct greenhouse gas
emissions caused by gasoline consumed by vehicles and indirect
greenhouse gas emissions caused by the use of purchased electricity.
The electricity consumption in our office mainly includes air conditioning,
lighting and other electronic equipment. In order to improve energy
efficiency and reduce consumption, we have implemented several
key measures. These measures include promoting energy-saving
appliances, implementing time division system and turning off
unnecessary lighting after business hours.

The company is committed to raising environmental awareness among
our staff through targeted internal training and ongoing communication.
In an effort to reduce air pollutant emissions, we have launched several
go-green initiatives. Our Group’s senior management takes an active
role in overseeing and evaluating these initiatives to monitor their
effectiveness in reducing our environmental footprint. As the data of
greenhouse gas emissions and energy use decreased significantly
after the sale of the catering business, the Group will set targets for
greenhouse gas emissions and energy use after the business is stable.

WATER USAGE

In terms of water use, the Group has not encountered any difficulties
in finding suitable water sources. The wastewater generated mainly
comes from domestic sewage and production sewage. The Group is
mindful of water resource utilization and actively works to decrease
water consumption within its operations. We implement several
proactive measures to prevent water wastage. These include regular
leakage tests on water infrastructure, prompt repairs of any leaking
faucets by our maintenance teams, and strategic placement of posters
that promote water conservation, reminding individuals to ensure taps
are fully closed after use.

BE  dHEgRELAHRS

BEH

AEBEZHBDEIEREAEEERHAEA -
ERBMNEBUEE  AEENELERET ™Y
RREMBERER RAKERALINHESNES
BEEY - BWAKERSHBEHRELFERX -
It ARERFEREER - IRRILBEAEE
REMEEEBEEYER - NREHE - A5E
WA B R BRI E AR AR EIR

ERRBREREHERE

B EEREHRNEIEZEHAERABREDN
AHATEENER AT REBHEN  AKRBAES
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ERRRE -

REABNEBAHEUEORNE BN EFHERR
KRS BITHWRRERZ BRI ERSRAYH
BEn RAID M ZTRRFREE - AREH SR
EEERBEERFEZEEE REEZE
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HEEREKE BEREBINRELREREK
BAERLD  BEBRTE  AKESSFER
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ERKTH AEBIERSKESBENRD@
BREMEE MELANBEKIERALES
IKFAEERK  AEBBBKERNERBR
WHRHRE NHmDHEZBIEFAORKE - M
BEERNZEREAGKERRE - %EHE
BREARMANGEERTRYHKERREE
TTIRACRE, ~ R B SRR R 7KBESR - IA K
RESMEHRMEFEORKNER  REM[A
HRKEEEMARVEBER -

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k

59



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERERE

WASTE MANAGEMENT AND REDUCTION

The Group has adopted a comprehensive waste management strategy
that effectively manages the waste produced by its operations.
Throughout the Reporting Period, our operations did not generate or
release any hazardous waste, including solid waste or sewage, into the
environment. Given the nature of our business, we typically generate
minimal waste. In line with our objective to decrease landfill waste, we
promote recycling and the reuse of materials.

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group is aware of the global climate change and acknowledges
that its business is inevitably being affected by different potential
scenarios, such as shifting weather patterns and extreme weather
events. As such, we will stay up to date on climate change and make
ongoing improvements to its operation manuals. We will also formulate
and monitor our adaptation measures for responding to severe weather
conditions such as typhoons or flooding and enhance our employees’
environmental awareness and ability to handle climate-related
emergencies.

To reduce the exposure to increasing environmental and regulatory
risks and enhance its business value, the Group will continue to monitor
the development of Hong Kong Government policies and is in the
process of incorporating climate change into risk management and
formulating guidelines and measures on climate resiliency to ensure
climate risks and related opportunities are appropriately managed.

The Group has set the following environmental targets in order to
demonstrate its commitment to combating climate change and
reducing its environmental impact:

- Minimising greenhouse gas emission;

- Enhancing energy efficiency by upgrading thermostat controlled
and energy efficient air conditioning; and

- Increasing employee’s awareness for energy saving and
environmental protection.
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Currently, the Group has taken appropriate measures to mitigate B Al
climate-related risk, believing that the aforementioned potential impacts
on our operations won’t be material. We will continue to monitor
and assess the latest climate-related developments and formulate
appropriate mitigation measures to minimize our exposure to the

climate-related risks.

Climate risk category

R =B 5 5

Specific risk

AR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

7 Y R B

Potential impact

BEXE

AEBERBUEE

BE  dHEgRELAHRS

B e LA 42 A7 E MR 48

CWRBEAHBMARENEETE

TETDERK - B FHEE RN ERR
BRNSHEE
AP T B B SR M 4B A R B o

I ) 7 58 E E AR RIS B - DARK

Our countermeasures

ALk

Acute Physical Risk
SMEEE R

Chronic Physical Risk
e ERRR

Transition Risk — Policy and
Legal
B R b — IR ROE R

Risk that are driven by
extreme weather events,
such as typhoon, heavy
rainfall, and floods.

A iR KRS 1 Bl E R
PlanBe @ ~ J|RRAKK o

Risks associated with
longer-term shifts in climate
patterns, such as sustained
high temperature, change in
preoipitation pattems

o
T%TE’J lllll 1z

EV_J;JJIL |§ V_EH_

New policies and regulations
relating to a low-carbon
economy transition proposed
by the government.

T 1R B AR B g AL
2 BT IR ROE AR -

These risks may increase
the possibility of health
and safety hazards to our
staff, increase insurance
premiums and cause
business interruption.

ZER RS EEMEME
TEXRRRE ’1\71 = E’J

AIEEME - IR B
BRI

Longer-term changes in the
climate, such as increasing
mean temperatures at our
business locations may
increase operating and
maintenance costs.
RIRE R EEE - I
B BE T ERAE A
FIRE B IG INIE & R K
PN

More stringent policy
requirements towards
decarbonisation may cause
higher capital investment
and other non-compliance
fines.
S NNERAE B R BUR AR T
AREgERESNERR
B REAM DG RTI

The Group has formulated
operational procedures in
relation to rainy season and
extreme weather events
safeguard the health and
safety of our employees.
AEBELHEBEENER
Him R REHERIERRT
NRERMEINRRERE

7£\o

Energy-saving initiatives are
being implemented by the
Group in order to minimize
the impact of sustained higher
temperature.

REBEEE MR -

R EE BT E -

Our finance and legal
departments keep abreast

of the latest regulatory
development to ensure
compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations in the
jurisdictions that we operate.
MBI A RIS E
MEEERFTNEEER
NHERETEARRPIEE
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e
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BE - HgRERHRS

Climate risk category

R 1% =Bz 8 5

Specific risk

B

Potential impact

BEYE

Our countermeasures

ERHHE

Transition Risk — Reputation
BEER— e

Increasing public expectation
on lower-carbon economy
transition may cause
reputational impact on the
business.

NBEEBR S EEI N HAE
MR Tﬁééﬁm%ﬁ’]
BEEKTE

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group acknowledges the critical importance of its employees,
viewing them as key assets integral to our strategic business planning.
In all aspects of employment, the Group diligently adheres to relevant

laws and regulations, which include, but are not limited to:

In Hong Kong:

. “Employment Ordinance”,

° “Employment Ordinance”, and

o “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”

In Mainland China:

° “Labour Contract Law”,

° “Labour Law”,

o “Regulations on Paid Annual Leave of Employees”,

o “LLaw on the Protection of Women'’s Rights and Interests”,
° “Law on the Protection of Disabled Persons”, and

° “Social Insurance Law”

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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The Group’s reputation
would be adversely affected
if it does not take proactive
steps to address climate
change and meet the public
expectation.
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ANBERER

The Group is exploring
opportunities to transform

its business into low-carbon
operation, so as to avoid
negative impression on the
enterprise due to lack of
progress.
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Our commitment extends beyond compliance; we are dedicated to
creating a diverse and inclusive environment free from discrimination.
We ensure no employee is discriminated against during hiring or
promotion based on gender, ethnicity, religion, color, sexual orientation,
age, marital status, or family status. To uphold employee rights and
ensure equitable treatment, we have enacted policies like the “Rules on
the Labour Protection of Female Employees” and “Anti-discrimination
and Harassment Procedures”, which help us recognize and reward
talent fairly.

We strictly enforce a zero-tolerance policy against child labor and
forced labor. Any such activities are strictly prohibited, and our Human
Resources Department conducts rigorous screening and thorough
background checks on all candidates to prevent these practices.
This includes verifying personal details provided on applications and
confirming identities to ensure compliance.

Should any instances of child labor or forced labor be detected,
immediate termination of the involved individual’s employment will
occur, followed by a comprehensive investigation to determine the root
causes. We also reserve the right to discipline any employees found
responsible for these offenses. Throughout the Reporting Period, there
were no incidents of child or forced labor within the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases
regarding the practice of child labour or forced labour at work.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

We prioritize the well-being and safety of our employees and are
dedicated to reducing Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) risks
across our operations. We maintain high safety standards by developing
internal guidelines and performing regular on-site inspections to ensure
a secure and positive environment in our offices. We proactively identify,
assess, and mitigate potential OHS hazards.

Our goal is to achieve zero accidents among all staff engaged in daily
activities. We handle work-related injuries and accidents promptly and
effectively. All incidents must be reported to our administrative office for
a detailed investigation and proper recording. Additionally, we provide
comprehensive insurance coverage for employees suffering from work-
related injuries

Moving forward, we will continue to enhancing our OHS measures
to safeguard employees from occupational risks and ensure a safe
working environment for everyone. During the Reporting Period, there
were no work-related deaths and injuries, resulting in lost working days.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

We attach great importance to the staff development and aspire to
grow with our employees. As such, we continuously invest resources in
employee training and development plans in helping our employees to
enhance their professional knowledge and skills for performing duties at
work and promoting their all-round development, thereby to provide our
customers with better quality of products and services.

We encourage continuous education and provide employees with
induction training and regular on-the-job training to develop practical
knowledge and skills. As part of the Group’s communication strategy,
regular operation meetings are scheduled to ensure the accurate
dissemination of information to different departments among the Group.

We provide on-the-job training program for our employees to enable
them to gain hands-on experience in developing and implementing
cutting-edge technology solutions for clients. The program has provided
our employees with a valuable opportunity to enhances their technical
skills through gaining practical experiences in a real-world setting.

PRODUCT AND SERVICE RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is dedicated to providing our customers with products and
services that are safe, of high quality, and reliable. Additionally, we
embrace the principles of total quality management and consistently
offer extensive training in quality assurance to our employees.
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PRODUCT QUALITY AND CUSTOMER
SATISFACTION

The Group consistently enhances our products and services, ensuring
our customers receive top-quality service. We have bolstered our
security measures by installing firewalls, conducting regular data
backups, and using intrusion detection systems. These steps improve
our response to data security incidents and bolster our capabilities in
detecting irregularities and guarding against malware.

We maintain open lines of communication with our customers through
various channels, such as email, a customer service hotline, and
customer satisfaction surveys. These interactions help us identify
areas for improvement and gather valuable feedback. Committed to
continually enhancing the customer experience as part of our ongoing
business development, we offer comprehensive after-sales support,
including operational training, on-site maintenance, and inspections.

During the Reporting Period, no customer complaints were recorded.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Acknowledging the crucial importance of responsible supply chain
management for sustainable growth, the Group is dedicated to
cultivating lasting and harmonious relationships with our suppliers.

We consistently assess and monitor our suppliers’ performance and
relationships as part of our routine management practices. The Group
actively encourages our suppliers to integrate ESG (Environmental,
Social, and Governance) initiatives into their operations, particularly
those concerning environmental protection and sustainability.
Furthermore, our standard procurement contracts include sustainability
clauses that mandate compliance with environmental and occupational
safety and health standards by our suppliers.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group’s philosophy places integrity and ethics at its core. As such,
the Group is committed to complying with all laws and regulations
concerning anti-corruption. We are aware of the inherent risk of
corruption in the procurement and quality control procedures and have
taken measures to address this issue. We have developed a Code of
Conduct to provide guidance on achieving ethical business operations
and maintaining business integrity. It is required that all directors,
officers, and staff adhere to the principles outlined in the Code of
Conduct, as well as all relevant laws, regulations, and rules relating to
anti-corruption. Moreover, the Group strictly adheres to the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance provisions. It is strictly prohibited for all staff
members to engage in any form of corrupt practices.

During the Reporting Period, there were no confirmed cases regarding
corrupt practices of legal proceedings, claims or disputes brought
against the Group or its employees. Although the Group did not
organise any anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff
during the Reporting Period, we acknowledge the need to improve our
training curriculum and strive to enhance our training on anti-corruption
in the future.

PROTECTION OF CUSTOMER DATA PRIVACY AND
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

While the Group has acknowledged its responsibility and implemented
procedures to protect and enforce intellectual property rights, it has also
put in place specific procedures and safeguards to protect customers’
information from unauthorised access, usage and leakage and to
maintain their data privacy. We protect our intellectual property rights
by requiring our employees and business partners to sign confidentiality
agreements to ensure they keep sensitive information confidential.
Meanwhile, we also hire legal advisors to provide legal advice for the
protection of our rights. The Group manages sensitive information with
caution and fully complies with “Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
in Hong Kong” and “Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of
China”. During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of non-
compliance with data privacy reported and no material infringement of
our intellectual property rights..
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to fostering inclusiveness and showing respect
to diverse community groups. In our efforts to uphold corporate social
responsibility, we are dedicated to enhancing the well-being of our
community. We actively engage in a variety of community activities
and support social development through participation in community
services, charitable sponsorships, educational programs, cultural and
sporting events, and environmental initiatives. Looking ahead, the
Group will continue to encourage its employees to contribute their time
and energy to support and bring positivity to our local community.

During the Reporting Period, the Group donated HK$1,000,000 to the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University to support IT-related research in
Hong Kong. With its world-class academic and research advantages,
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University has made many innovations and
made contributions to building a sustainable future.

BE - HEgkEAHRS

il E&RE

AEERNREABIREESZ T(ENLEHEE -
RETEEHEEMEBRES  HMABPEFH
B - HAEBR2ESBEREE  WRBS
Hit R AR BEED  HEFE  XBEBHNU
ERRITHRAIIHHEER - KK AEE K
BoBEREERBRERBEN  UXHARMH
BRASHSREGEE -

RMERE AEBZEREASETIARERES
#1,000,000 7T * A3 BB EARHL AR @I -
EFRIRBUER —REMHEREES -
ERNLRIFERE  ARRAFERENRKE
ERE R

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS RMEHENER
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE BRIRAN
Unit 2023/24 2024/25
Efr 2023/24 2024/25F
Exhaust pollutant!
BR53
Nitrogen oxides (“NOQ ") emissions Kg - 1.28
A&l [RELW)) R Fr
Sulphur Oxides (“S0,”) emissions Kg - 0.002
HEy ((REL]) HE Fr
Particulate matter (“PM”) emission Kg - 0.12
ALY 5k Fr
Greenhouse Gas emissions?
BERBHN
Scope 1 emissions Stationary combustion Tonne of CO, equivalent - -
HE1HR il M_a{tREE
Mobile combustion Tonne of CO, equivalent - 0.39
BEIE M_a{tREE
Total Tonne of CO, equivalent - 0.39
we WM-gEtHEER
Scope 2 emissions Purchased electricity®+° Tonne of CO, equivalent 341 14.05
HE 28K SNBE S0 M_a{tREE
Total Tonne of CO, equivalent 3.41 14.05
we WM-StHER
Total Greenhouse Gas emissions Total Tonne of CO, equivalent 3.41 14.44
RERBENENE we M-StHEER
Density Tonne of CO, equivalent/ 0.429 75.60
HK$ million in revenue
nE M-altixEE

AEETME

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k
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BE - HEaRERHRS

Unit 2023/24 2024/25
B 2023/24F 2024/25F
Waste generation®
BYEES
Non-hazardous waste generated Office paper purchase Kg - 26
BEEVELS PLARRBES TR
Resources Consumption
BRE#E
Direct energy consumption Petrol 2 L - 166.80
B 2 #
Petrol 2 MWh - 1.58
ik K EE
Indirect energy consumption Purchased electricity® MWh 517 92.62
AR HNBE S KEE
Total energy consumption Total MWh 517 94.20
e #s KRk
Density MWh/HKD million revenue 0.65 493.20
BE KRE,/ BEETHE
Water consumption’ Total m® - -
FEKET we T FK
Density m%HKD million revenue - -
BE UHK/BEETHE
Consumption of packaging materials Carton Tonne - -
BEMEER G [
Total Tonne - -
we i}
Density Tonne/ HKD million revenue - -
nE M/ BEETlE

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2025
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Remarks:

The Group’s emissions of exhaust pollutants are calculated according
to Appendix Il: Guidelines for Reporting Environmental Key Performance
Indicators published by the Stock Exchange.

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions mainly include direct greenhouse gas
emissions generated by gasoline consumed by vehicles.

For this Reporting Period, the Hong Kong portion of these figures is calculated
according to the latest published carbon emission factor per unit of electricity
sold by the Hongkong Electric Company Limited in 2024.

For this Reporting Period, the mainland China part of these figures is calculated
according to the announcement issued by People’s Republic of China (PRC)
Bureau of Ecology and Environment, and the national average carbon dioxide
emission factor per unit of electricity sold in 2022.

Due to the influence of increasing the number of offices during this Reporting
Period, the indirect energy consumption of scope 2 emissions and purchased
electricity has increased.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, hazardous waste is not regarded
as an important issue in the Group’s operation. Therefore, the amount of

hazardous waste generated is not disclosed.

The water consumption is mainly office water.

R HERERRE

ZK;‘E@E‘Ufﬁﬁﬁ%%}#ﬁﬁ(%B*E%FH%%QFEPJ%E’\J(W
B RIGEREBIRRERIESDHE

AEENREREBINEEIZBEAEMAMER
EURFATEL N ERRE R -

ABEHE  ZEFBFNEBEDHIREETEE k’*
BERAFEFEMNEBEMSENRIERAFHE

Aii&%,HHFaﬁ CREHFENP RN R
HMBAERREREMHDE  2022F 2
jJTri'J SULRERA TS ENEENMERE T

=
ar= °

RAREDRRE  RAZTHELN  RBE2H R
&9\\@% NH R B TR B R PTE 0 ©

HRAAKENEFUEEL  AEEEVIRE LN E
ELENBRFE -BElt YERBEMEENES
BERYHUE -

FRKEBIZERAEMK -

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE HEEX
Unit 2023/2024 2024/2025
By 2023/2024 & 2024/2025 £
Total number of employees?® Number 15 100% 45 100%
EEHEY: A
By Gender Male Number and percentage 13 87% 34 76%
gl Ba) St ABEBESL
Female Number and percentage 2 13% 11 24%
7 ABEADE
By Age Age 30 or below Number and percentage S S 2 4%
REWREI D B0ARE AT ABEBSL
Age 31-50 Number and percentage 11 73% 36 80%
31-5075% ABEBADL
Age 51 or above Number and percentage 4 27% 7 16%
51pRK A I ABIRBED
By Employment type Permanent Number and percentage 15 100% 45 100%
RERERE S ~H ABEBADL
Part-Time Number and percentage - - - -
5 B8 ANE BT
By Employee category ~ Senior management Number and percentage 6 40% 3 7%
RERERE D =REBAR ABEBESL
Middle management Number and percentage 3 20% 16 35%
PREEAB A KRB
Junior staff Number and percentage 3 40% 26 58%
RIARE T AB KRB
Employee Turnover Rate® Percentage - 13.3%
EERAR BOK
By Gender Male Percentage - 8.9%
RIERIE S B B
Female Percentage - 4.4%
7 Eigsd
By Age Age 30 or below Percentage - 2.2%
RERE D 30BREIA TN Bkt
Age 31-50 Percentage - 8.9%
31-505% Aot
Age 51 or above Percentage - 2.2%
5153 A £ Bkt

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Unit
B

BE - HEgkEAHRS

2023/2024 2024/2025
2023/2024 £ 2024/2025 5

Employee development and training'®
EE R RIFI

Percentage of employees trained
XIEERA DL

Workforce trained by gender

MR ESNZIES

Male

o

Female

gk

Workforce trained by employment category
RERERNESNZIEE

Senior management

=REBAE

Middle management personnel
PREEAB

Junior staff

AIARE T

Average training hours received by employee
EEEI N FHEIFH

Average training hours by gender

R B8 5 497 19 55 51 B B

Male

B

Female

gk

Average training hours by employment category

RIERE R & 5 49T 3335 5 B B
Senior management
SREBAER

Middle management personnel
RRERAE

Junior staff

AIARE T

%

%

%

%

%

%

Hours
/NBE

Hours
NI
Hours
NI

Hours
N
Hours
/N
Hours
N

= 84.4%

= 76.3%

S 23.7%

- 5.3%

- 28.9%

- 65.8%

- 5.07

- 4.91

- 4.00

- 5.77

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k
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BE - HEaRERHRS

Unit 2023/2024 2024/2025
By 2023/2024 F 2024/2025

Health and Safety
BRERZE
Work-related fatalities Number and ratio - 0% - 0%
ETERRILT AR N 9585
Lost days due to work-related injury Number of calendar day = Not = Not

applicable applicable
EITBERIIERE HEX& A T E A
Product and service-related complaints Number of cases - Not - Not

applicable applicable
B 2 mn R R TS BV 15 =B E @A @A
Products sold or shipped subject to recalls for Number and percentage - 0% - 0%
safety and health reasons
E %2 Bl fE 5 IR /R i 78 B U A HERBESL
BENDEXER
Charitable donation Hong Kong dollar (HK$) - Not 1,000,000 Not

applicable applicable
BERE BT T T
Supply Chain Management HEHEERE

Unit 2023/24 2024/25
B 2023/24 2024/25 F
Total number of suppliers Number 4 151
HIEEEE #8
Number of suppliers by geographical region
RESSHWHEREE
Hong Kong Number - 121
B #HA
Mainland China Number 4 30
B K B #HH
8. The number of employees refers to the number of employees at the end of the 8. BEASIRZERASBVRFERNESEE -
financial year of the Group.

9. The calculation method of employee turnover rate is: the total number of 9. BIRKENFERER  MRFEARRALAER

employees (or by category) who left the Group in the fiscal year/the total
number of employees (or by category) at the end of the fiscal year *100.

10.  The reporting method adopted for the above employee development
and training data is based on “How to Prepare Environmental, Social and
Governance Reports-Appendix Ill: Guidelines for Reporting Social Key
Performance Indicators” published by the Stock Exchange.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025
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HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

Mandatory Disclosure Requirement

BERERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RiE - HERERERE

%3l

Reference Chapters and Remarks

B RMERS

BB #HEREAHREESIRE

Governance structure
EIRRIE

Reporting principles
HERA

Reporting Boundary
HEHE

Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm - —RKE - BREMER

About this Report and Our Management to ESG Issues

ARABEARBMAERERRE e REARELER

About this Report and Our Management to ESG Issues

ARABEARBMAERNERR HehE BB ER

About this Report and Our Management to ESG Issues

BARARSARBMAENERR HehEeBZEZEE

Description
it

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B ME RS

A. Environmental

ARE

Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : By
General Disclosure
—RRIEEE

KPI A1.1

PR A IR IR AL

KPIA1.2
PSR AE ISR AL .2

KPIA1.3
FASRAEMIEIRALS

Information on:

(@ the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

EHERMAEREER MKk S EEREE

BEEVNELSFH

@ BX: Xk

b) FETHBETABERZENEMEZEIRIINEH -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

Pem g sa R ARRE BRI BUR ©

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.

B (BE1) ke RHEE (SE2) BERBHENE (LUERTE)
N(mER)BmE (WMASESEM - BIERETE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.

FMEEAEREEDES (UBE) X (ER) ZE (NS
EREL - SERIEHE) -

Environmental Protection
IRIBRE

Key Performance
Indicator

RA AR AR

Key Performance
Indicator

R A R 1R

Key Performance
Indicator

RRER AR IR IR

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k
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BE - HEaRERHRS

Aspects,

General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE - BRENER

Description
it

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

KPI A1.4
FASREMIEIRALA

KPIA1.5
FASAEMIEIRALS

KPIA1.6
FASAEMIEIRALG

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBEA2 : ERERA

General Disclosure
— MR

KPI A2.1
BB AR RUIEIRA2.1

KPI A2.2
PSR AE ISR A2.2

KPIA2.3
FASRAE M IEIRA2.3

KPIA2.4
FAREMIEIRA2.4

KPI A2.5
FASAE M IEIRA2.5

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.
EABEZEZMAE (UEAE) R (ER) ZE (WAE
ERE - GEREHE) o

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.
Wl R E B E R AEDE LB EMEMASEE -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

MR AERBEZTEEMN AL KA L HRRE B
B REIEL B RATERIE TSR -

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water

and other raw materials.

BRERER(BHEER - KR EAMEM ) BEE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh
in ’000s) and intensity.

RENESMERE R SEERER(NE - flon) 2FEE (I
TETREHE) REE (MASEREL - SRR E) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. calculated per
production unit and per facility).
BREKEREE(WMAGEEEN - BEKRHETE) o

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

P RT SZ BV B IR (2 A s B AR R R E RIS L B AR FTEREREY
HE -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that

is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to

achieve them.
L SKEUGE AR ERT B AW RERE - ARFTE LA K=
BERAERELE ZARERN TS -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
BN RATRBEMENEE (UEAE) R (ER) BEEE

15 -

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2025

Key Performance
Indicator

RS A MUIE R

Environmental Protection
BRIR

Environmental Protection
RIZIRE

Environmental Protection
IRIBRE

Key Performance
Indicator
B B2 4B R R

Key Performance
Indicator
FREBIER

Environmental Protection
IRIBIRE

Environmental Protection
IR

Key Performance
Indicator

RAER A UR IR



Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE - BRENESR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI

Description
it

HERERRE

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBHEA3: BERAXARER
General disclosure

— MR

KPI A3.1

PR A MR R ABA

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[BEA4 : RIREL

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI A4.1
BASBARRUIEIR A4

B. Social
B.#E

Aspect B1: Employment
EBEB1 : EE

General Disclosure

—REE

Policies to reduce the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

MR TABRRERABERERERNZEOHEE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

B EBEHHIRBRARERNERATEREERNERS
MR 2NITE -

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

BRI REHERRAIEGHBEITAEETENERR
EHMBUER

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
BB LA EHETAEEZENERRGHEBSEE -
MIELTE)

(=]

Information on:
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination,

and other benefits and welfare.
ERFHEER BEREH TIEHS - BY - FEHe -
Z it~ RIESE A R H SRR
@ BE: R
() BTFHETABERTZEMNBEEELBOINER -

Environmental Protection
IRIBIRE

Environmental Protection
B R

Environmental Protection
RIZIRE

Environmental Protection
IRIBRE

Human Resources
Management
ANERER

ERIRHER AR AR
20258 F 3§k
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RIE - HERERERE

Aspects, Reference Chapters/
General Disclosure, KPIs Description Remarks
BE  —REE BEEREE Hl B8, MR

76

KPIB1.1
PSR A M IE1R BT

KPI B1.2
FASAENIEIRB1.2

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BHB2: REHZE

General Disclosure

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

RMUR - ERER (MEBEEE)  FiRAER KRS D H
EEHEE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.

RS - FERARN MRS D NEERKL X -

Information on:

Key Performance
Indicator

RS A MUIE R

Key Performance
Indicator

R A IR R

Human Resources

— AR EE (@) the policies; and Management
(o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have ANERER

KPI B2.1
RS A 51 B2.1

a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
FARBEZE2TERERREREERPBELAEMN
@ HEXE:Rk
b) BFHETABEAZENHRBEZLRMNER -
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of

the past three years including the reporting year.

BE=F(BRERFE)BFRATTHOABKLLEK -

Key Performance
Indicator

R AR 1R

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Key Performance
BB AR B2.2 IEBRIERE - Indicator
BB AE BUIEAR
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Human Resources
BB RUEIEB2.3 adopted, how they are implemented and monitored. Management
A FTER AN B S R e 2 bt - ARMBRANITREER A o ANWEBIRER

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE - BRENESR
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RiE - HERERERE

Description
it

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EE B3 : & K&

General Disclosure
— MR

KPI B3.1
B AE M IE1R B3

KPI B3.2
FASAE N IE1R B3.2

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
B4 : 8T 28I

General Disclosure
— M=

KPI B4.1
B AE M IE1R B4

KPI B4.2
FASAENIE1RB4.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRARAEE BT TEBE & ME R RAEHBER - ftE I
mE e

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category.

ZHRNEEEEN(NESREERE FREERE) ZAHNEI
EEADL -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.
BMRIREEEMNED  BREBSTHREIIN TR -

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BHAIEET S EGS T

@ Xk

() BETFTEHBOTAFERAZENHEBEEZRBOINEE -

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.
AR SR E R E e AR R E T ReaHIS T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

R R ERB AR ERE BB NI SR -

Human Resources
Management
ANERER

Key Performance
Indicator

RAB A e 1R

Key Performance
Indicator

RRER AR IR IR

Human Resources
Management
ANERER

Human Resources
Management
ANERER
Human Resources
Management

ANERER

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k
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RIE - HERERERE

Aspects, Reference Chapters/
General Disclosure, KPIs Description Remarks
BE  —REE BEEREE Hl B8, MR

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BEBS5 : tEHEERE

78

General Disclosure
— MR

KPI B5.1
FASR AR M 515 B5.1

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
ERHEENRR R GRAREBUR -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
ripRE DNHEREE -

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkREET

Key Performance
Indicator

RS A MUIE R

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number  Product and Service

B A RUEIEBB.2 of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how Responsibility
they are implemented and monitored. EmkREEE
A AMEROEL -mENTEREMNMtEREE
ARABRAMITREER A °

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social Product and Service

B A 512 B5.3

KPI B5.4
BASAAIE1RB5.4

Aspect B6: Product responsibility

EEB6: Em&EE

General Disclosure
— MR R

risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

Hi BBE A M EESERGNRIR R gRARNER - XA
NIRRT RERTE -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

M TEBCE HER SRR Z ARREm RRBED - AR
HERITRERFTE -

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

FHFMREEMNRENERELZS  BE BRERILES

HARHER T A :

@ ®EXE:Rk

b) BFHETABEAZENHBEELRMNNER -

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE - BRENESR
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RiE - HERERERE

Description
it

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

KPI B6.1
SRR M 515 B6.1

KPI B6.2
BASEAR 1R B6.2

KPI B6.3
FAS AN 515 B6.3

KPI B6.4
PSRN 515 B6.4

KPI B6.5
B AE M55 B6.5

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons.

EENDEXERAHT AR 2 REEIEHmMADKNE D

Number of products and service related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

EEANERKRGORFEE AREE L -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intelleotual property rights.
e BT S RIE B ERE R VBRI

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

MG EmEBiE REMBIWER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
how they are implemented and monitored.

it H & E B RRERALBBER - U BT RE

BIE -

There has been

no incident of

e noncompliance with
regulations and/

or voluntary codes
concerning the health
and safety impacts of
products and services.
3 % 75 A 72 oo AN AR 7%
EERLZEHENTED
ERRSEREREME
SFRIEEM -

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmEkRBEE

Protection of Customer
Data Privacy and
Intellectual Property
Rights

RIEE P ERFLE R
BERE

Not a material topic to
the Group since majority
of business is about IT
solution, and there is no
product recall from its
operation.
HASEBEWIFEKRFH
B BEBRALSH
MREMEHERR T
MELEPIEEGE
ma B o

Protection of Customer
Data Privacy and
Intellectual Property
Rights
REZFERME R
W

BERIFHERR AR A A
20258 F 3§k
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RIE - HERERERE

Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs Description

Bm- - —REE - BREEANESR #Hf

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EBEB7: RES

General Disclosure Information on:
— MR (@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer relati

ng to bribery,

extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRAR LA - B
Q) BER: R

BMAERAREN

(
b) BTHETABEAZENHBEIERBAOINER

KPI B7.1
A AR B 1R BT .1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding

Period and the outcomes of the cases.

RERE W%ﬁﬁ?)\iﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬂ%%

ESPEIENGES

KPIB7.2

RSB IEIEBT.2 procedures, how they are implemented and

corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting

R BT R T

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing

monitored.

IR EHE e R B IREF - ARAMBERITRERE -

KPI B7.3

FSRAE IEIEBT.3 staff.

A mESERE TRHNORESE
Aspect B8: Community investment

EEBS: HERE

General Disclosure

Fl e

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs

—B B = of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
ﬁF%LMiE//JKTﬁ“* BEREMAERENBREXESE
g E R E N 8B R

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution.

B B2 48 B 1R B8.1 BEIEREE (NHE RESFHE SIFR BF b
’é‘%ﬁ) °

KPI B8.2
FASEAR 1R BB.2

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEIGEMBHMBER (NS ENKEERE) -

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmMREEE

There has been no legal
cases regarding corrupt
practices brought
against the Group or its
employees.
TEHAEESHES
REREITHAEME -
Product and Service

Responsibility
EmMRGEE

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmEkRBEE

Community Investment

HEERE

Community Investment

HERIRE

Community Investment

HERE



The Directors present this report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in (i) information technology (“IT”) solution
business; (ii) trading business; and (iii) renewable energy technology
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as at 31 March
2025. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. The segment
information of the operations of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025 is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025,
including (i) a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group; (ii) an indication of likely future developments in the
business of the Group; (i) an analysis using financial key performance
indicators; (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance; and (v) an account of the Group’s key relationships with
employees, customers and suppliers, is set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report, respectively. These
discussions form part of this annual report.

Details for the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year are set out on page 94 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 103 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2025.
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SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, was approximately HK$108.3 million inclusive of share premium
and accumulated losses.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loan and other borrowing as at 31
March 2025.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 208 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of its listed securities (including sale of treasury shares)
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, there were no treasury shares held by the
Company.
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DONATION

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group donated
HK$1,000,000 to an university in Hong Kong to support the IT-related
researches.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 8 November
2016. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 29 November
2016 and its principal terms are summarized below:

(1) PURPOSE

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Board to grant options to Eligible Persons (as defined below)
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and to recruit and retain high calibre
Eligible Persons and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

(2) ELIGIBLE PERSONS

“Eligible Persons” refer to (i) any employee or proposed employee
(whether full time or part time, including any director) of any
member of the Group or invested entity; and (i) any supplier
of goods or services, any customer, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
any shareholder or other participants who contributes to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity.

(3) TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR
ISSUE

A maximum of 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue on Listing Date and the subdivision of shares of
the Company approved on 24 August 2018 and become effective
on 27 August 2018, which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH ELIGIBLE
PERSON

Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting and
subject to the following paragraph, the maximum number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from
time to time.

Options granted to a substantial Shareholder or an INED or any
of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of
Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, must be approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting in advance.

OPTION PERIOD

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, an option may
be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee at any time before
the expiry of the period to be determined and notified by the
Board to the grantee which in any event shall not be longer than
ten years commencing on the date of the offer letter and expiring
on the last day of such ten-year period.

MINIMUM VESTING PERIOD

No minimum period for which an option must be held before the
exercise of any option save as otherwise imposed by the Board in
the relevant offer of options.

PAYMENT ON ACCEPTANCE OF THE OPTION

Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to submit
to the Company a duly signed offer letter within 21 days from the
offer date together with a payment in favour of the Company of
HK$1 per option as the consideration of the grant.
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(9)

BASIS OF DETERMINING THE EXERCISE PRICE

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
highest of:

()  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date (the “Offer
Date”), which must be a trading day, on which the Board
passes a resolution approving the making of an offer of
grant of an option to an Eligible Person;

(i)  the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the Offer Date.

REMAINING LIFE

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no
further options shall be granted. All options granted and accepted
and remaining unexercised immediately prior to the expiry of the
Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been
granted under the Share Option Scheme. Therefore, no option was
exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2025
and there was no outstanding option as at 31 March 2025.

The total number of Shares that may be issued under the Share Option
Scheme was 80,000,000 Shares, representing 8.4% of the total
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the date
of this annual report. The number of share options available for grant
under the mandate of the Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and
31 March 2025 were 80,000,000.

@)

(9)
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date
of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Jiangtao (Chairman)

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael

Ms. NING Mengmeng (Appointed on 19 December 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy
Mr. CHEUNG Miu
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each
AGM, provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three
years.

Accordingly, Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael, Ms. NING Mengmeng, Mr.
CHEUNG Miu and Mr. CHEUNG Pak To shall retire from office at
the forthcoming AGM and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 23 to 27 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. WU Jiangtao, Mr. TAO Jingyuan, Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael
and Ms. NING Mengmeng, being the executive Directors, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of one year, which
will continue thereafter unless terminated by either party giving to the
other not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr.
CHEUNG Pak To, being the Independent Non-executive Directors, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one
year commencing on 6 July 2018, which is renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of his appointment, and
either the Independent Non-executive Directors or the Company may
terminate the agreement by giving the other party not less than one
month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors, including those are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM, has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong (the “SFQ”), which were required: (a) to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

ESRESTHRASREG
E%gﬁ&*ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%*%ﬂﬁ

R202563A31H  BEEREEITHRAEBRAR
NREREEBEE (ERERERAVESER
FRBEGRN ((BERAEKRN]) FXVED) 2
Befn -~ RN MERETHEEER  @IREES
NEAEGHIEXVERSR 7 K80 Bl A& AR A7) M B
Rz ERIORR (BREREBEREFRREGREZ
BRGXREREFREREAZERIIKE)
sk (0) AR 15 7E 75 I B & {5k 1) 56 352 ik iC A =% 1R 1
Rtz ETMAZEBEIAR  RCORBEFE
STRIME AR Rz EmgORBNT

Percentage of

the Company’s

Number of Issued

Name of Directors/chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held share capital

RN

BETRA

EZ BRTBAERS LTV §:1:3-1 FrERGEE Aok

Ms. Ning Mengmeng (“Ms. Ning”) Interest in a controlled corporation 40,000,000 (Note 2) 4.19%

EXZunt+([Bxt)) RELEERS 40,000,000 (HfizE2) 4.19%

Notes: B & -

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares. 1. [LIFRRZATRIEEROD ZFE -

2. Ms. Ning owns 45% of the issued shares of Zhongke Green Energy
Technology Investment Limited (“Zhongke Green Energy”) which holds
40,000,000 shares of the Company. Accordingly, Ms. Ning is deemed to be
interested in all the 40,000,000 Shares owned by Zhongke Green Energy by
virtue of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), which were required: (a) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she was
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any controlling Shareholder had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY AND OTHER PERSONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware of as at 31 March 2025, the following
corporations and person (not being a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO, as follows:

ERFEERRREMAL
7 & 4 B B {7 B 48 BR AR {7 B9
HRRXE

MEBETAME  RN2025F3A31H AT EE
MALT (WHFEERARAEZSTHAE) R
DHABERDPEERIEEFRBAEEHEXY
HEO2RID IR AT HENESSIAR -
FRBER AR RIRIEES R EIEFE3361KE 2
HEATEZ S RMrmEssoram T :

Percentage of

Number of the Company’s
Shares Issued
Name of Substantial Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest held share capital
L YN
BRTRAE
TERRER HE B/ HRtE PR 4 8B BAk
MSEC Holdings Limited (‘MSEC Holdings”) (Note 2) Beneficial owner 557,444,182 (1) 58.48%
MSEC Holdings Limited ([ MSEG Holdings ) ({3 2) EnEEA
RUNMING International Limited (‘RUNMING”) (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 557,444,182 (L) 58.48%
HHEBERAR AR (M) (HE2) R EE RS
Shanghai Yingzhao Investment Management Company Limited* Interest of controlled corporation 557,444,182 (1) 58.48%
(“Shanghai Yingzhao”) (Note 2)
LERBEEEEERAR([LERHA]) (M:E2) XEEERER
Zhuhai Minshang Hongbo Technology Company Limited* Interest of controlled corporation 557,444,182 () 58.48%
(“Minshang Hongbo”) (Note 2)
WERBBBHEERAR ((REEE]) (F2) R EE R
Minsheng E-Commerce (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 557,444,182 (L) 58.48%
RHEERE (H:2) R EE RS
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Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares.

2. As at 31 March 2025, 557,444,182 Shares were held by MSEC Holdings.
MSEC Holdings is wholly-owned by RUNMING which is in turn wholly-owned
by Shanghai Yingzhao. Shanghai Yingzhao is wholly-owned by Minshang
Hongbo which is in turn wholly-owned by Minsheng E-Commerce. As
such, Minsheng E-Commerce, Minshang Hongbo, Shanghai Yingzhao and
RUNMING were deemed to be interested in the Shares interested by MSEC
Holdings.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors and the chief executive
of the Company are aware, as at 31 March 2025, no corporation/
person (not being a Director or the chief executive of the Company)
had any interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which was recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no Director had interest in any
business apart from the Group’s business which directly or indirectly
competed, or was likely to compete with the business of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year or at the end of the year was the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, or the holding company
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Report

EEERE

G
1. TLIFREZALRIEBRA 2 TR -

2. M 202543531 H * MSEC Holdings # &
557,444,182 f% J& 15 > MSEC Holdings F /8 8% 2 & ¥
£ - MBEB LSRR ERE - LIEABARE
BE2EREE MERBBEAREENEZEHEE -
Hitr REERE - Rigatd - LSRR BRES
AR MSEC Holdings #E B @ 2 IR P A B ©

BEXFIIEEEIN  REBRARRERSITR
ABFFEE - N2025F3A831H  HE=xE
AT (LHFEEHLARRZSITHAL) REHG
LEERO P HEBEAIRIEESRBEGNE
XVEBE 2 B 3D EBHHE B TR BN R IOXE
SHEL BRI AN RIAR IR RE 5 K B E 501 58 336 {2
HEEFEZELMANERSIAER -

EENBRERENER

REZE2025F3A31BHIEFE HMEESHNA
TN B TS B B ok R B K B S Bk AT RE B A R
FEET RS (REBEERIN) RS Tk

EFNBRONRHEEZZH

ARR S EAEAME QR K E R B Q=
B A m) R F AR E S F RS EITZAE
M2 BEEFAEREARRB R EMEM
EEZ B ERE T A EGHE -

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k

91



92

Directors’ Report

EEERE

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted the following
connected transactions:

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 7 October
2024, the following transactions of the Group constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Company:

PROVISION OF LOAN

On 7 October 2024, the Company entered into a loan agreement
with RUNMING, an intermediate holding company of the Company,
pursuant to which, the Company agreed to provide a credit line up to
HK$9,500,000 to RUNMING for a term of 12 months, expiring on 6
October 2025 and carry interest of 8% per annum from the drawdown
date.

The Loan will be used primarily by RUNMING as its working capital
and to enhance its short-term liquidity. Given that the Group has yet
to identify suitable investment opportunities with profitable return, the
provision of the loan is considered to be favorable to the Group as it
enables the Group to earn a reasonable return of 8% per annum which
is higher than the interest rate of fixed deposits offered by banks in
Hong Kong and that the provision of the Loan can broaden the source
of income of the Group. Accordingly, the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) consider that the provision of the
loan, although not in the ordinary course of business of the Company,
is on normal commercial terms or better and the terms of the loan
agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as
a whole.

As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding principal was HK$9,500,000,
and the associated interest income of the loan for the year ended 31
March 2025 was HK$364,000.

Certain related party transactions set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements constitute de minimis continuing connected
transactions and are fully exempted from the connected transaction
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the related party transactions disclosed in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or his/her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, was entered
into or subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The five largest customers in aggregate and the single largest customer
of the Group accounted for approximately 100% and 95.6% of the
Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not made any
purchase from suppliers.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
issued Shares) had interest in any of the above five largest customers
and suppliers of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a public float of no less than 25% of the issued shares as at the date
of this annual report, which was in line with the requirement under the
Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, during the year ended 31
March 2025, the Group complied in all material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Material subsequent events after 31 March 2025 and up to the date of
this annual report are disclosed under the sub-section “Events After the
Reporting Period” under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty, in their respective offices. Such permitted indemnity
provision has been in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong has resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 19 March 2024 as the Company could not reach a
consensus with RSM Hong Kong on the audit fee for the financial year
ended 31 March 2024. PricewaterhouseCoopers had been the auditor
of the Company before RSM Hong Kong. Subsequently, the Directors,
with the recommendation from the Audit Committee, has resolved to
appoint Elite Partners CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 19 March 2024.

Elite Partners CPA Limited has retired as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 22 August 2024 as Elite Partners CPA Limited did not
seek re-appointment due to the reason as detailed in the Company’s
announcement dated 12 August 2024. The Directors, with the
recommendation from the Audit Committee, has resolved to propose to
the Shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 24 January 2025 (the “EGM”) to approve the appointment
of Cheng & Cheng Zhongxinghua CPA Limited as the auditor of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025. At the EGM, the
Shareholder resolved to appoint Cheng & Cheng Zhongxinghua CPA
Limited as the auditor of the Company with effect from the date on
which this resolution is adopted and to hold office until the conclusion
of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”).
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by Cheng &
Cheng Zhongxinghua CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer itself for reappointment at the upcoming AGM. A resolution will
be proposed at the upcoming AGM to reappoint Cheng & Cheng
Zhongxinghua CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company.

Save from the above, no any change in its auditors in any of the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

WU Jiangtao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
I % BEh R

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MINSHANG CREATIVE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minshang
Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
103 to 207, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, and consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

Key Audit Matter
BERENSBR
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN ESOTEERARETEE

Impairment assessment of investments in associates and loan to an associate

REERRNRER D —BBE QR REERWREENG
We identified the impairment assessment of investments
in associates and loan to an associate as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the Group’s investments
in associates and loan to an associate in the context of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, combined with the
judgements involved in management’s impairment assessment
of the investments in associates and loan to an associate.
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As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of investments
in associates and loan to an associate were amounted to
HK$50,703,000 and HK$27,917,000 respectively which
represented approximately 35.6% and 19.6% respectively of
the Group’s total assets.

20253 A31H - REFE R AIHIRE KA — & QA
%zf,\,\ BRI B 9 514 50,703,000 7% 7T, & 27,917,000 8 7T

ARllE BESEEBEEL35.6%K%19.6% °

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investments in
associates included:

BPBEREREEARNKRE[BENREF B

° Understanding the nature of the business of the
associates and its future plan and budget for the
purpose of impairment assessment;
HRRENEENTREE QAR ERNMLE RHE KK
REIRFEE

° Understanding the management’s process for
identifying the existence of impairment indicators in
respect of the interests in associates and evaluating the
effectiveness of such process;
THRERBRMNNEE AR ZERE TS FERMEN
RZBELFEERBEZBENIE

° Where indicators of impairments have been identified,
assessing the reasonableness of the recoverable
amount of the relevant associates and obtaining
understanding from the management regarding
the financial position and future prospects of the
performance of the associate;
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Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS NAEERRETSEE

Impairment assessment of investments in associates and loan to an associate (Continued)
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As disclosed in Note 2.2, Note 2.6 and Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements, investments in associates
are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates, less impairment in the values of investment while
loan to an associate is subject to impairment assessment
under expected credit loss model. As such, the Group
is required to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that the carrying amounts of
investments in associates may be impaired and to estimate
the expected credit loss of loan to an associate.
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For those associates in which such indication exists, the
Group assessed the carrying amounts for impairment. As
disclosed in Note 3.2(c) and Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements, impairment of investments in associates
with an amount of HK$16,446,000 was provided and no
expected credit loss of loan to an associate were considered
to be necessary by the management as at 31 March 2025.
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Assessing the reasonableness of methodology, key
inputs and assumptions used by management/valuer
involved in their estimation of recoverable amounts,
including projections of cash flows, growth rates and
discount rates applied; and comparing cash flow
projections to supporting evidence, such as approved
budgets, and evaluating the reasonableness of these
budgets with reference to the historical results and
future prospects of the associates as well as our
knowledge of the industry and business;
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Assessing the reasonableness of methodology, key
inputs and assumptions used by management in their
estimation of expected credit loss amounts, including
settlement plan;
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FTERABBRBRENSENE  BELEE

Evaluating the competency, capabilities and objectivity
of valuer involved in impairment assessment for the
valuation of the interest in associate.
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OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 June 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% AT R

Hth =R

EEBHE2024F3A3N B ILFENGEAMB
WMEROKAS ZEAENET - ZZEEN R 2024
FeA28HYZERRBRALETER -

Hfh{g B

EFEAHHEMERAEE HMEEEBEFERA
MAABEER BETEREEVHERR LA
BT RS

BAUGEPMBHRENERL TREEMESR -
BT HZEFEMEERREALANER

BEBRMBREMBRERNET  RANEE
EREREMER  EUBRET  TREMEER
BEGA VBRI IBAEEBIET AR
MERFEEAEBREUFFEEANERR
MEVER - ERERMID AT I - R FIR
REMERFEERHERRML  HMAFTERS
ZEE -HEEHE  BFPREEA®RSE -

EEREEZAERGEMBER
AREHRE

E=ZARARBRESFMRAERHNET LY
B & £ R R FE (R FHED) B I T AR E Bt 16
BEEMTENGEAMBHRE UHERRRE
REMBHRERNOEE N FEARKFFRERM
BYMNBBRERRAAFTHOAMLEGIEE

EREHEMBHRRE EFARMNE E5E
FSELEMEN YEERBR T RELERE
REABNER ARERFELE G ER
BRIFEEEERH BEEEBBHFLLE =5l
BEMERNERTER -

ERZEEHHESTETER
TRREMBE -

B R E %R

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k

929



Independent Auditor’s Report
B B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group as a basis to forming
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Cheng & Cheng Zhongxinghua CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheng Hong Cheung
Practising Certificate number P0O1802
Hong Kong, 20 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FERREMZEREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 FHET FHET
(Restated)
(F&E5))
Continuing operations BEKEXER
Revenue from principal activities: FEEKWE 5
— Information technology (“IT”) solution —EMEHT ((EMRE]) @Rk
business LES Y 191 7,952
Cost of IT solution business BB ERR T REBKAR - (7,649)
Cost of trading business B 5 EEKA (2,529) -
Other income and other net gain H AU R B F s 6 397 1,081
Finance income, net RE WA FEEE 7 3,160 3,716
Employee benefit expenses EERFARAX 9 (11,295) (4,230)
Depreciation and amortisation e I 8 (681) (2,315)
Property rentals and related expenses mMERe RIEERXS (433) -
Fuel and utility expenses MEmkAREERY (31) (35)
Research and development expense 3 (6,626) -
Other operating expenses HgEix (8,796) (13,186)
Impairment loss of intangible assets M EAERBERE = (4,664)
Impairment loss of other receivables H b IE 2 REEE 21 (31) -
Impairment loss of trade receivables, net & 5 E W FIA 2 BB E 185 58 20 (596) (23,548)
Impairment loss of loan to an associate m— A E A RIRBEERZBE
ER - (228)
Impairment loss of loan to an intermediate A — & AP R p A AR IEE R >
holding company REEE = (18)
Impairment loss of investments in REE R RINEE 2 RIEEE
associates 18 (16,446) -
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment @ — & BB A R B 5K 2 RE
loss) of loan to a related company BERE, CREEBE) 43 (45)
Impairment of goodwill a2 RBE - (8,807)
Share of post-tax results of associates DB E R 2BRITREES 18 (17,813) (13,183)
Loss before income tax from continuing 3 8 £& & 3£ 55 1) iR AT 8 BL AT
operations =] 8 (61,486) (64,259)
Income tax credit FTSTiE % 11 746 2,829
Loss for the year from continuing BEREERNERNEER
operations (60,740) (61,430)
Discontinued operation BARIEREEK
Profit for the year from discontinued BRI E E T FE R R T
operation 12 - 25,643
Loss for the year FREE (60,740) (35,787)

REalRHER AR A A
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBERkEMEEmKER
For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE
2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FET FHET
(Restated)
(F&E5))
Other comprehensive expense: Eﬂt THEEAX:
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or REMOBEEERE AR -
loss:
Exchange differences on translation of BB GINEFEERIE X =58
foreign operation
- Group —AR&EE (368) (1,830)
- Associate —HE QA (226) (1,127)
(594) (2,957)
Total comprehensive expense FRE2EFAXER
for the year (61,334) (38,744)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: BT AL E4E (B8) %7 -
Shareholders of the Company EATRR
— from continuing operations —REBELEFET (56,753) (61,430)
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEEEER - 25,643
(56,753) (85,787)
Loss attributable to: LT ATREGES:
Non-controlling interests IR R
— from continuing operations —REBELEER (3,987) -
— from discontinued operations —REERIEEEETE = -
(3,987) -
Total comprehensive (expense)/income BT AT MEEZ2HE (BX) W#H
attributable to: R
Shareholders of the Company PN
— from continuing operations —REFELEER (57,369) (64,393)
— from discontinued operations —RECKRIEEEEE - 25,643
(57,369) (38,750)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income LT AT EEZHE (BI%), WH
attributable to: #axE
Non-controlling interests IEERER
— from continuing operations —REBELEER (3,965) 6
— from discontinued operations —REERIEREERS - -
(3,965) 6
Basic and diluted (loss)/earning SREAR#BE (FB) &7
per share (HK cents per share) €=1:'%: 21D 14
— from continuing operations —REFELEER (6.21) (6.88)
— from discontinued operations —RE R IEEEET - 2.87

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBRAR

As at 31 March 2025 202543431 H

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M FET FHET
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE L&A 15 13,338 28
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 5,459 1,098
Intangible assets mVEE 17 = =
Investments in associates REE RRIMIE 18 50,703 85,188
Loan to an associate m—EHERRIREER 18 15,000 15,000
Rental and utilities deposits He Rk AHAEXEZS 21 - 260
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISREE 29 - 451
84,500 102,025
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 19 - 2,529
Trade receivables g 5 IE 20 - 1,715
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTRIE -~ Hed R H MU
receivables FQIE| 21 12,825 16,990
Loan to an associate M —EEERRIREER 18 12,917 12,534
Loan to an intermediate holding company A — & fF 12 AR A Al B 3 22 9,846 9,870
Loan to a related company M — A R E R 22 = 6,841
Current income tax asset BIERFRIS B E 111 111
Cash and cash equivalents RehkReFED 25 22,357 10,490
58,056 61,080
Total assets HEE 142,556 163,105
Equity s
Equity attributable to shareholders of 22 5] IR 3R FE (L #E %5
the Company
Share capital % 2 31 2,383 2,233
Other reserves E bR 32 192,809 166,851
Accumulated losses Z2EHBE (91,348) (36,871)
103,844 132,213
Non-controlling interests IR R 24 (8,965) (103)
Total equity MR 99,879 132,110

REalRHER AR A A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBEARRRT
As at 31 March 2025 142025423531
2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 FHET FHET
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Other payables and accruals HMENFIBERESER 27 - 300
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFEHERE 29 3,196 4,001
3,196 4,301
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables S ENFIE 26 16,056 17,699
Other payables and accruals HMENFIBERESER 27 11,402 6,891
Contract liabilities BREE 30 10,357 -
Lease liabilities HEARE 16(a) 438 1,051
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFT SR & E 1,228 1,053
39,481 26,694
Total liabilities HweE 42,677 30,995
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 142,556 163,105
The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 207 were E£103E 207 EMiRE MBI &= 20202566 A

approved by the Board of Directors on 20 June 2025 and were signed

on its behalf.

Wu Jiangtao
RILE
Director

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FeaERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARERAEL
Equity
component Non-
Share Share  of contingent Capital  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital premium — consideration reserve reserve losses Total interests  Total equity
IRRAE
ke REEE OREDS  RARE  EXRE  EHER B FERER fEs
(Note)
(B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Tin Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn
A1 Apri 2023 RABE4A1A 2,33 170,756 2,276 342 (3218 (1,084) 171,305 (109) 171,19
Loss for the year EMEE - - - - - (3,787) (3,787) - (3,787)
Disposal of a subsidary HE-ENELE - - - (342) - - (32 - (32)
Other comprehensive expense HB2ERY
Cumency translafion difference EHAEEE - - - - 2963 - 2963 6 (2957)
Changes in equty for the year ERREEY - - - (32) (2963 (35,787) (39,092 6 (39,086)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RAUEIAIAR
N2UELRTA 2,233 170,756 2,216 - (6,181) (36,87) 132,213 (103) 132,110
Subsorpton of shares 2BRG 150 28,850 - - - - 29,000 - 29,000
Deregistraton of subsiciary HENERA - - - - - - - 103 103
Derecognifon of equty component of & RS AK BRI RED A
contingent consideration - - (2,276) - - 2,216 - - -
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (56,753) (56,753) (3.987) (60,740)
Other comprehensive expense Ep2ERY
Qurrency transiaion difference EHREZE - - - - (616) - (616) 2 (594)
Chenges nequity for te year ERREE 15 2880 2276 - 616  B44T)  8369) (386 (32.230)
At 31 March 2025 RABEIASH 2,383 199,606 - - (6,797) (91,348) 103,844 (3,965) 99,879

Note: Capital reserve represents the difference between the share capital of the

Mist : MAREHERBEEAEMKE 2 BN E AR KA E

operating subsidiaries acquired, pursuant to the reorganisation, over nominal
value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

AARREEZMOBITRAMEBEZZH

RERIFHERER AR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeERaRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FER FHT
(Restated)
(F&E5))
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Cash used in operations KEFTARE 34(a) (7,914) (16,430)
Interest received B U F B 2,822 502
The PRC profits tax paid 2P BFEH = (247)
Net cash flows used in operating activites #& & E BT AR &R EF5E (5,092) (16,175)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B E %2 « Bi/E L& E (823) ®)
Increase in construction in progress T2 sE N (12,606) -
Increase in right-of-use asset & FAREE =N (5,024) -
Loan repayment from a related company KB — BB A G 2 EFER 6,841 3,625
Loan advanced to an associate m—EEE R RREZER - (10,859)
Net inflow from disposal of subsidiary HENBARIRAFRE 28 - 27,866
Loan advanced to intermediate holding M EIZERARIRE 2B
company - (900)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from & &&8 (FTH) FIBRERE
investing activities FEE (11,612) 19,726
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Issuance of ordinary shares ETEBR 29,000 -
Repayment of principal element of lease  EiEFlEBEBE 2 AE D
liabilities 613) (1,086)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEBGBEZEMNFE (18) (30)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in)  BAESEBFTE, (FTA)IRERE
financing activities FRE 28,369 (1,116)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents FELLEEBENRESRRESEEY
from continuing operations 0 11,665 2,435
Discontinued Operation BRIEEEEK
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents PERIEKEEBNREeRE®
from discontinued operation ZEYR D 12 - (268)
NET INCREASE IN CASHAND CASH FRRERRESEFEYEMFE
EQUIVALENTS FOR THE YEAR 11,665 2,167
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHEBE&RRESEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,490 9,736
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE EXSHHRERASEEYL
CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH gE
EQUIVALENTS 202 (1,413)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRESRRESEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR 25 22,357 10,490

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 14 April 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of
business is located at Unit 4201, 42/F, Tower One Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in trading business, information technology (“IT”)
solution business and renewable energy technology business,
which was started during the year ended 31 March 2025, in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Minsheng E-commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Company Limited*
(RAESEERCOFYEBR AR, which is incorporated in the
PRC, is the ultimate holding company of the Company. MSEC
Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, is the immediate holding company of the Company.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 29 November 2016.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
(“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”);
and interpretations. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provision of
the Listing Rules and with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

* For identification purpose only

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Application of new and amendments to the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

(“HKFRSs”)

(a)  Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on or after 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale

Amendments to HKAS 1
(Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 1
(Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The application of amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

1 10 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Application of new and amendments to the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)  New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of
Financial Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution
and HKAS 28 of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements

Accounting Standards to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume
7718

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all the new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future, except for HKFRS 18 which will impact the
presentation of profit or loss. The Group is still in
the process of evaluating the impact of adoption of
HKFRS 18.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred assets. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs).

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING (Continued)

(i)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
Dividends received or receivable from associates are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING (Continued)

(ii)

Associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXEHBEEH @

INFORMATION (Continued)
2.3 FOREIGN CURRENCIES 2.3 pHx

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the Reporting
Period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management, including costs of testing
whether the related assets is functioning properly and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy.

Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXEHBRER MW

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 24 Y% BERRE@E

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Restaurants and kitchen Shorter of lease term or

equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or
10 years
Machinery 10 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.5 IMPAIRMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXEHBRER MW

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.5 IMPAIRMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND 25 Y% BERREUARCAE

EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognized
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXEHBRER MW

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 26 €T A ®@

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the Reporting Period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including loan to an associate, rental and utilities deposits,
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, loan to
an intermediate holding company and bank balances) which
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR RHE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXEHBEREH @
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 26 €@ T A @
Financial assets (Continued) TREE @)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment BREE B HREEREIH LT
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) B G.C 25 EERE (E)
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade AEB—ERE S ENGERERTE
receivables. For all other instruments, the Group measures HEBEESE ABEMTAM
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there FOAKERI2EREBEEEBRE
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial STEEERE  KRIEEERREVS
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime WRARBEZEIEM - EHBERTARE
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be lﬁﬁé’ GEIABHREEREE - EDHE
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood REFEMEREEEBENTERT
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition. Q I HERAR - BB REM
KRB TEELM -
()  Significant increase in credit risk () EERBEEEM
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased SHEEERR B L ERAK
significantly since initial recognition, the Group ERBEE MK  AEESH
compares the risk of a default occurring on the TR TERREHHEAEY
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the WEkRES R T ANV SRR
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument EH %EL%’JE’JHKﬁiﬁTTHﬁf
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this THETEBAIGER A5EE
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative ERGEHAEMNTEEME M
and qualitative information that is reasonable and ER - BERATLEHRMEAN
supportable, including historical experience and B % K A sk 43 ) Bl Al 15 )
forward-looking information that is available without ATREMEE R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
porrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

the purchase or origination of a financial asset at
a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(V)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables
and accruals and lease liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.7

2.8

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash;

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes; and

(¢) cash and cash equivalents are assessed for expected
credit losses (ECL).

e MBRRME
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the Reporting Period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXEHBRER MW

INFORMATION (Continued)
2.9 TAXATION (Continued) 2.9 BiIE (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the Reporting Period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
Reporting Period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

210 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2.11

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRSs requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the Reporting Period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ERRHE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXEHBEREH @
INFORMATION (Continued)
212 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 212 EE AW

CUSTOMERS

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when BEEBMBEMELERFEI155 - K

(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when SEREKBHNE TR (SiBtit) #R

“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular W RS ERAOEENEEE®

performance obligation is transferred to the customer. SARTEH [ | B TR PR o

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or BHEMFE—BEHERDNE R

a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of R (sk—#HtE MR sk — R 7

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same. ABHERIM AR S E @R -

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised fistim B A T E A —I2E R - R4

over time by reference to the progress towards complete BERF R - MK RI2RBTRER

satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of R A E R EE MBE R MR
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes e RAKEBERYHFEFRARING
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as WHEARNEEROMREHRNF
the Group performs; =

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an o AEEBEMBEHEENBIELEFR
asset that the customer controls as the Group RAEBBAORKIEHNEE
performs; or 54

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset o XKEFENBHIAELEYHAE
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group EEBERBEMNEE BX&E
has an enforceable right to payment for performance BEABA BB RITENRIES
completed to date. B TERK Y B A9 WA 3K

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when G| WHREFES A AR D

the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service. Bk R IESI AR R RER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.12 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting policy for
the principal revenue streams of the Group.

Revenue from IT solution business

The Group’s IT solution business includes provision and
design of Software as a Service (the “SaaS”) system,
software customisation services and IT solution services in
the PRC.

Under the SaaS arrangements, the Group licenses the
software platform for the customers’ use and provides
data management services to the customers throughout
the contract period. Service fee derived by the Group from
the SaaS arrangements are determined based on the
transaction volume of the software platforms licensed and
are recognised over the service period.

Under the software customisation service agreement, the
Group customises the software based on the requirement
of the customers. Revenue is recognised when control
over the customised software has been transferred to the
customer. The customers cannot receive and consume
the benefits simultaneously from the Group as well as
control the customised software until the software delivered
to the customer. The customised software generally
has no alternative use for the Group due to contractual
restrictions. However, an enforceable right to payment does
not arise until customised software transfer to customer.
Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customised software is passed to the customer.

Other IT solution services

Revenue of other IT solution service fees for value added
solutions, such as online advertising, is recognised over the
service period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXEHBEEH @

INFORMATION (Continued)
2.13 LEASES 213 fAE

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed. As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ materially
from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of properties that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets (such
as tablets and personal computers, small items of office
furniture and telephones). Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.13 LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.13 LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments. The Group
presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.14 DISCONTINUED OPERATION

The results of operations disposed during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income up to the date of disposal.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business that represents a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale, that has been
disposed of, has been abandoned or that meets the criteria
to be classified as held for sale.

Discontinued operations are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as a single line which comprises the post-tax profit or loss
of the discontinued operation along with the post-tax gain
or loss recognised on the re-measurement to fair value less
costs to sell or on disposal of the assets or disposal groups
constituting discontinued operations.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

3. REAEER
31 &I AEEHR

RERSHR  AEESHERTE

instrument of the Group as at the end of each reporting ZHREERT -
period are as follows:
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Financial assets at amortised cost: HHEN AT ECEREE
- Loan to an associate — ) — B & A R e
B3R 27,917 27,534
— Loan to an intermediate holding — A —fE A EER AR
company REER 9,846 9,870
— Loan to a related company il kN
RMHE - 6,841
— Trade receivables — B 5 EWFIE - 1,715
- Deposits and other receivables — ke M EAEUFRIE 3,605 9,343
— Cash and cash equivalents —ReMBEEEEY 22,357 10,490
Total FEEy 63,725 65,793
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: ~ HEHEK AT EZ SRBE
— Trade payables — B S ENHIE 16,056 17,699
— Other payables and accruals —H bR RIE R
fEEtE R 11,402 7,191
~ Lease liabilities —-HEaE 438 1,051
Total #5t 27,896 25,941

REalRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner. Because of the simplicity of the financial
structure and the current operations of the Group, no
hedging activities are undertaken by management.

(@) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the
PRC for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the individual group companies and net
investment in foreign operations. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, most of the financial
assets and liabilities of the Group’s subsidiaries are
denominated in their functional currencies. Hence, the
directors of the Company consider the Group does
not have any material foreign exchange risk exposure.
No sensitivity analysis is presented.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rate changes on interest-bearing assets and
liabilities. Financial assets and borrowings obtained
at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. In the opinion of the directors, the expected
change in fair values as a result of change in market
interest rates will not be significant, thus no sensitivity
analysis is presented.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that changes
in market interest rates will impact cash flows arising
from variable rate financial instruments. The Group’s
assets and liabilities, which bear variable interest
rates, mainly include bank deposits.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, if interest rates
had been 100 basis-points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, loss after taxation would have
approximately HK$170,000 lower/higher (2024: loss
after taxation would have approximately HK$87,000
lower/higher). The Group regularly monitors its interest
rate risk to ensure there are no unduly exposures to
significant interest rate movements.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
3. pEBER W
32 ¢WmEREZE @)

(a)

(b)

S EE [ Bex (4)

20254 20243 318 -
AEBHNBRARZ KB & m
BEERBEHUNEIDGEER ST
BE-Al XRREERE "
AN 52 B A 4 K AT ] 82 K SMNE
[B B o BLIEZ2HIGURE DT ©

BERBRAAMERE
AR

AEEREEERABBENT
FEMARFERAR -
EETHNERESNEAMEER
&< A& M mE bk o o EEF
RXER -EFRR AWMHH
RBHBHMAHR R EEE
B TEEN BT &L
HRE DA -

7 B4

ReREMNERRFZEHF X
TRT ARG RE{mE
AMBRESRERS AR K
SERFHNEFBRZEER
BEXERERITER -

HE2025FE3A31 B IEFEE -
fi F & £ F T B& 100 & & 2h
mATEEMEBEERFTIE B
MeBEEEeERL EINY
170,000 7T (2024 5 : (B Fi 18
BB R 10 487,000
BIT) o NEB T HEREF X
BB LAREIR7E IR E K F &
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, loan to an associate and loan
to an intermediate holding company included in the
consolidated statement of financial position, which
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets. Management has
a credit policy in place to monitor the exposures to
these credit risks on an ongoing basis.

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of
credit risk. In general, the credit record and credit
period for each customer or debtor are regularly
assessed based on the customer’s or debtor’s
financial condition, their credit records and other
factors such as current market condition. The Group
applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables from third parties.

Trade receivables are mainly related to the IT solution
businesses in the PRC.

() Trade receivables (IT solution businesses)

To measure the expected credit losses
(the “ECL"), trade receivables related to IT
solution businesses, with a gross amount
of HK$24,488,000 (2024: HK$26,039,000),
were individually assessed for recoverability
based upon their respective credit profiles and
forward-looking factors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Trade receivables (IT solution businesses)
(continued)

The Group considered that default has occurred
when trade receivables is overdue for more than
90 days unless it is supported by reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables related to IT solution business was
assessed individually on their recoverability
based on their credit profile and forward-looking
factors. On that basis, the loss allowance as
at 31 March 2024 and 2025 was determined
as follows for trade receivables related to IT

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
3. pEBER W

3.2 £@ERREZE @)
(c) EERB @

() EZEUNFE(EARK
R RER) (F)
AEBERR  BHRWK
B EBIBOORK B2
# o BRIFAERENA X F
BRAER—EE R
ENREERAE  AlME

Al o

BREITEEHEEEBE BEM
REBAFTREBEENE S
EWGREDREBEEEERLR
A BE 1 PR 2= B 08 AT A AT Uk Bl 1 o
B EE  BEMBERAES
REBHEBENE S REKFTIER
2024 F N 2025F 3 A 31 HAY &

solution business. BREETWNT -
2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR T
Gross carrying amount HEREE 24,488 26,039
Loss allowance EEEE (24,488) (24,324)
Expected loss rate TEHESE X 100.0% 93.4%

The ECL for trade receivables is considered to
be HK$24,488,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$24,324,000).

MN2025FE3A31HE 5 ERK
HRENBEHEEBBESR A
24,488,000 jT (2024 F :
24,324,000 7T) °

REalRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. &MmEER W

3.2 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued) 3.2 £RERREE @
(c) EERB @

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

() Trade receivables (IT solution businesses) 0 B ZEKE(EAFHE
(continued) JER T ) ()
The following table shows the movement that TRIRE A B
has been recognised for accounts receivable RTT REB YRR K
from IT solution business under the simplified L ETERREE) o
approach.
The liquidity of some customers has been BHRERRESRTHSL
deteriorated due to the current economic BRE  BOEPHRE
downturn in the financial market of the PRC MEREE  RNAEEER
and the Company was unable to recover [o] & %8 /4 24,488,000/%8 7T
the receivables balance with an amount of (2024 4% : 24,324,000 7%
HK$24,488,000 (2024: HK$24,324,000) and TT) B E WK IR S8R 0 &
those balances were considered as credit- LHABEEBEBEER
impaired. B
2025 2024
N25% N04E
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired)  (not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
PHRAEEFE 2URNEEEE (EEDGEFE 2UEBEEEE
(BEEHE) (EEWE) (EREHE) (FEHA)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT THT TR Thn
Balance at beginning of the year g - 24,324 - -
Adition for the year ERRE - - 23548 -
Provision for the year Enfh 596 - - -
Transfer to credlt-mpaired BEEERE (59) 596 (23,548) 23548
Exchange realignment [ - (432) - 776
Balance at end of the year ERER - 24,488 - 24,324
(i) Deposits and other receivables (i) e REMBELNSE

For deposits and other receivables,
management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of deposits and other
receivables based on their credit profile,
historical settlement records, past experience,
and forward-looking factors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(i)

Deposits and other receivables (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
recoverability of other receivable with an
amount of HK$31,000 (2024: HK$NIl) for IT
solution business was uncertain and full amount
of ECL was provided. The directors believe
that there was no material credit risk in the
remaining deposits and other receivables and
the expected credit loss is insignificant as at 31
March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

Cash and cash equivalents

To manage the risk arising from cash at banks,
the Group only transacts with reputable banks
which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. There is no recent history of default
in relation to these financial institutions. The
12-month expected credit loss was minimal as
at 31 March 2025 (2024: minimal).

Loans to an associate and an intermediate
holding company

The credit quality of loans to an associate and
an intermediate holding company has been
assessed with reference to historical information
about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2025%3/31 A1 F/&
3. pEBER W
3.2 £REKMEZR®
() EERME @

(i)

(i)

(iv)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

3. EHMERERm)
32 SREREZE @
(c) EERB: @

(v)  Loans to an associate and an intermediate (v) [F—EB &R AR —
holding company (Continued) IR 2 E] e R B 54 (4B)

MR2025%F3A31H @ m—
ML N RIREER LM
—fEFEZERARRES
RSB EBES B ATHE
TL(2024 %  TE L) RE
BT (20244F  BHETT) ©

B L B

As at 31 March 2025, the loss allowance
for loans to an associate and loan to an
intermediate holding company were amounted
to HK$NIl (2024: HK$NIl) and HK$Nil (2024
HKS$NIl) respectively.

(d) Liquidity risk (d)

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash to
meet its liquidity and working capital requirements.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity reserve which comprises cash and cash
equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements, to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the end of each financial
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The

amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within twelve

AEBMOBRTIEF AR
T UNEBNERSHESHLE
BETHMFTE - BEEREEAY
RenEEEASENREE
cHE(BRRENASEHEY)
HRFEM - AEREERRT)
EHESREMEBERNRBE
THEE - BREAFEANR
TR ARMNEHER RN

TRUYAKERELMBHRE
HMAREAMI AT ERHRE
FNEEBIHERN D R
BEELON -RTABES

BMRENABRREASRE- R
TZEARBBAZEHREER

months equal their carrying amounts. HARMEE -
Between  Between
On Less than 1and 2 2and5
demand 1 year years years Total
BRERX JSR-F -ZWE WMELE @5t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
FET FET TET T T
At 31 March 2025 R202563A31A
Trade payables BHEMNE 16,056 - - - 16,056
Other payables and accruals HEtbENAFERESER 11,402 - - = 11,402
Lease liabilities MEBE - 44 - - 44
27,458 441 - - 27,899
At 31 March 2024 R202453A31A
Trade payables BHEMNFE - 17,699 - - 17,699
Other payables and accruals HtERFIERESER 6,891 - 300 - 7,191
Lease liabilities HEBE - 1,073 - - 1,073
6,891 18,772 300 - 25,963
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3

3.4

3.5

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the total
borrowing to total equity ratio, which is expressed as
a percentage of total borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents over total equity as shown on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group is in net cash position
(2024: net cash position).

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets,
including loan to an associate, loan to an intermediate
holding company, loan to a related company, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents, and financial liabilities, including trade
payables, other payables and accruals and lease liabilities
approximate to their fair values due to their short-term
maturities. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is
available to the Group for similar financial instruments,
unless the discounting effect is insignificant.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

There is no material offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangement and similar agreements as at 31 March 2025
and 2024.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

3. SHMEARERm)

3.3

3.4

3.5

EXEmEE

AEEEEEANBRERELAL
NFEERE - URKRERD®R N
Hip R HREN & - RSES&RE
BARBUARKESKA

RERXARELARE  AKEHE
FESBRROBEEE  RERR
MER - BITHIR S EEE AR
&5 e

REERIFE B EE BRI R (A
B MR R PR 2 {8 SR AR BRI IR
MRS FEVMHRERN A DL
R EREER-

R2025FE3A31H  AEEBRRVF
WEMMN (2024 F - FHLARMN) ©

DN REEME

HRERESRNIY  AEESRE
E(BERm—EgE mRHER
A — R EERARREER  m—
RIRAE A BHREER - B S RINGRIE -
e REMBRYGRIANRE MRS F
B EkeRAR(BRESRER
A HtENREREERREE
BE)MEKEEEEAAEERES -
REEMS  @RABENAAEBER
ARAEVNBEERENETEBERUSR
TAABHRITHSMNERRERMGEE -
BRIFEBEFETERASE R -

EETHEERTRMAE

N20254 N 20243318 » I &
EAEE  ERITABEHENTER

Bl -

REalRHER AR A A
20258 F 3§k

147



148

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a)

Impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets have been determined based
on the higher of its value in use or its fair value less
costs of disposal, taking into account latest market
information and past experience. These calculations
and valuations require the use of judgements and
estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(a)

Impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (Continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an
event has occurred that may indicate that the related
asset values may not be recoverable; (i) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal or net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(i) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in
the cash flow projections, could affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group’s consolidated financial position and
results of operations.

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31 March
2025 are HK$13,338,000 (2024: HK$28,000) and
HK$5,459,000 (2024: HK$1,098,000) respectively.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment allowances for trade
receivables

The loss allowances for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Please refer to Note 3.2(c) for more details.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is HK$NIl (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$24,488,000) (2024: HK$1,715,000 (net
of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$24,324,000)).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.
During the year, HK$746,000 (2024: HK$2,829,000)
of income tax credit was credited to profit or loss
based on the estimated loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BEXDE &5 R AER @)
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(d) Provision for PRC corporate income tax

4.1 EXREFTEFTRER @)

(d) PELEMEHEE

As described in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group acquired 100% equity interest
in Context Image Holdings Limited (“Context Image”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively “Context Image
Group”) during the year ended 31 March 2023, but
had not yet reported said transaction to the PRC
tax authority, which, in accordance with the relevant
PRC tax laws and regulations, could enable the tax
authority to impose a penalty of 50% to 3 times of the
unpaid PRC corporate income tax (“CIT").

As at 31 March 2025, a provision of HK$4,882,000
(31 March 2024: HK$4,882,000) were recognised
in relation to the non-withheld CIT and the relevant
maximum penalty based on the management’s best
estimation. Significant judgements and estimates are
required in determining the aforesaid provision. Where
the final outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the consolidated profit or loss in the period
in which such determination is made by the PRC tax
authority.

AR S B S R R M iR 27 BT
i REERE E2023F3 A
31 B 1k £ & 4 #E Context Image
Holdings Limited ([ Context
Image |) R E i B 2 7] (518
A [ Context Image £ 8 |) &9
100% A& A + ME 18 2R 17 2 B B 75
HBEAmE LS RER
BB AR RER  HiGH
BRI AR 2P RATE
T ([ERER) K A% E
SfEMEIK °

MR2025F3A31H  REE
BEMKEMET  RREND
XM EABRS S RER
4,882,000/ 7T (2024 3 A 31
H :4,882,000/8 t) # & - 1
EFLagERs FSEELE
ANHE R ABET - W2 FFEM
BERERARVZENTSES
Bl EEEESEERREBG
WRATEN 2= E BRRAR G185 »

REAHERARAT)
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Impairment assessment for interests in
associate

Investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates, less impairment in the
values of investment. As such, the Group is required
to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that the carrying
amounts of investments in associates may be
impaired. Management judgement, estimations and
assumptions are involved during the process of
impairment assessment.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, impairment
losses with an amount of HK$16,446,000 was
provided (2024: HK$NIl) for interests in associate.

Impairment assessment for loan to an
associate

Loan to an associate is carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at amortised cost and
less accumulated expected credit loss. As such,
the Group is required to assess at the end of each
reporting period whether there is any increase in
credit risk of the associate that the carrying amount
of loan to an associate may be subject to expected
credit loss.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no impairment
losses was provided (2024: HK$Nil) for loan to an
associate.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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4. EXEHERT R FIER (@)

4.1 EXREFTEFTRER @)

(e)

(f)

PBEE 1 B B R 2k BRI (B
GaC]

S AR E R AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company, who are the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM?”) of the Group, review the
Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Management has determined the operating
segments based on reports reviewed by the executive directors
of the Company that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of loss before income tax.
The measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring
expenditure from operating segments.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group is organised into the following
business segments:

(i) Trading business in the PRC;

(i) IT solution business, including provision and design of SaaS
system, software customisation services and IT solution
services in the PRC; and

(i)  Renewable energy technology business in the PRC.

Renewable Energy Technology Business represents a
strategic initiative for the Group to explore opportunities
in the emerging green and low-carbon industry, which
facilitates the acceleration of the deployment of renewable
energy. The Group possesses the requisite technology
with a support of a group of seasoned professionals. The
CODM believes that the Group will be well positioned to
explore opportunities in the Renewable Energy Technology
Business. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Company has setup a new subsidiary, named /B & & B2
(BRI AR A7, to development the market and
explore opportunities in the Renewable Energy Technology
Business.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

5.

2 B 5 5B & #

ARRATEFTRAKRENEREZERR
HE(XEEERRE])  FHAKRENR
MEEUNFERRAEIEER - EEER
ERBARRARAITESZER AR IEL BB
RENMEEETLEDE

WITESRERAGHAIEE 2257
REDH KRR -AEERTBEXRER
ENBZHERRUEIHEE -

R2025F3H31H - REBED B TER

A2
DEB
() REBEZEFER:

(i) ERMEBRTREY  ERETHE
e it N 7R 7 SaaS & &t - B E HI AR
B R EMBHER T =R - R

iy MRAPRZAIBERERRIERZER -

A BERERRRER A EERFTE
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BE KB EENEEATRENS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS

The table below shows the segment information of revenue
and results and there were no revenue or other transactions
between the business segments for the year ended 31

5. KR 7EEHE @

vk 6 S E 3

TRERDHFWREREEER - RE
ZE2025F3A3IBHIEFE B
Ez I EW S sk A2 5 (2024 F -

(a)

March 2025 (2024: same).

For the year ended 31 March 2025

RLE) -

BZE202553A31HIEFE

Continuing operation

BESEER
Renewable
energy
Trading IT solution technology
business business business Total
nEE
BB R BR
ECES AREK MEEK @it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TER TER
Segment revenue nElE - 191 - 191
Segment cost of revenue 7 MR PR AR (2,529) - - (2,529)
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment £ RIEE ZREE R
loss) on financial assets, net BB/ (REERE) FE 328 (955) = (627)
Depreciation and amortisation EREH - = (42) (42)
Research and development expenses MEFEY - (6,577) (49) (6,626)
Finance income, net HEKAER - 232 34 266
Others 4 (1,916) (1,972) (8,079) (11,967)
Segment results NEEE @,117) (9,081) (8,136) (21,334)
Share of post-tax results of associates ~ #{AEEE AR 2 B4
4 (17,813
Reversal of impairment of financial assets 4 R & & Z B R 43
Finance income, net BERAFE 2,894
Impairment loss of investments in REERNEIRRE L
associates BEBE (16,446)
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH (639)
Unallocated corporate expenses APREERT (8,191)
Loss before income tax BRETSTIRIE R (61,486)
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Segment assets for reportable segments AT E D E 2 A EFE E 18,458 924 33,477 52,859
Unallocated corporate assets FOEGEEE 89,697
Total assets BEE 142,556
Segment liabilities for reportable segments Al RE R B2 HEFEfE 1,388 21,153 14,225 36,766
Unallocated corporate liabilities *oEGEEE 5,911
Total liabilities BEE 42,677
Other segment information: Hittp HER
Capital expenditure EATH = = 18,436 18,436
Unallocated capital expenditure ADBEEARZ 17
18,453

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

5. KR 9EEHE @

(@) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (@) DI =ERFEEE)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE2024F3A31HILEFE
Discontinued
operation
Continuing Continuing Vietnamese-
operation operation style
Trading [T solution restaurant
business business business Total
B
FEGEXT o)
REGEXE  HABEER HAEE
EPES LEE S 5% @Er
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THx T THT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(lE5) (fE51) (lE7) (EE5)
Segment revenue o - 7,952 2,266 10,218
Segment cost of revenue B EALA - (7,649) (603) (8,252)
Impairment loss on financial assets SREECREBE - (23,548) - (23,548)
Impairment loss of intangible assets EVEEZRERR - (4,664) - (4,664)
Impairment loss of goodwil HEZHBEER - (8,807) - (8,807)
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH - (7) (469) (476)
Finance income/(cost), net MEWA/ (RA)FE - 4 (14) (10
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HERBAR KE - - 25,829 25,829
Others Hi (3,154) (3,376) (1,366) (7,896)
Segment results NEEE (3,154) (40,095) 25,643 (17,606)
Share of post-tax results of AMEBE DA BRH%
associates ¥iE (13,183)
Impairment loss on financial assets SREEZRESE (291)
Waiver of amount due to a former HEEN—BAHTES
executive director WA 1,787
Finance income, net BEWNFHE 3,712
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (2,308)
Unallocated corporate expenses AAOMEEHRY (10,727)
Loss before income tax and profit PRETS BB 1B R E &R 1E
from discontinued operation BEEBHEN (38,616)
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Segment assets for reportable segments  AIRE R 2 H B E 21,938 3,428 - 25,366
Unallocated corporate assets AOMEEEE 137,739
Total assets BEE 163,105
Segment liabilities for reportable segments AI R &2 22 HEFE(E 1,309 22,557 - 23,366
Unallocated corporate liabilties APMELEEE 7,129
Total liabilities BEE 30,995
Other segment information: HitrpHERM
Capital expenditure BARY M - - - -
Unallocated capital expenditure AAMEAT T 1,261
1,261

REARERAR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
results represent the loss incurred by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, certain
reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss) on financial
assets, impairment loss of investments in associates,
director emoluments, certain finance income, net, certain
depreciation and amortisation, certain other income and
other net gain and share of post-tax results of associates.
Segment assets represent the assets recorded by each
segment without allocation of central assets, investments
in associates, loan to an associate, loan to an intermediate
holding company and loan to a related company. Segment
liabilities represent the liabilities recorded by each segment
without allocation of central liabilities, lease liabilities and
deferred income tax liabilities. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Revenue by geographic areas is determined based on the
location of customers. The following tables present revenue
from external customers and certain non-current assets
information for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
by geographical area.

(i) Revenue from external customers

5. KR 7EEHE @

(a)

(b)

P LY E S AC )

RESHWEARRERNEE G
BERMR - DEEEREE D BELEN
BiE - WESBEHRITERAA - ET
ERMEEZRERBERR, CREE
8)  REERRNKRE ZRMERE
EEXMe ETRELAFE BT
FEREE ETHEOBRARREMWE
Was A R EBEE QR BRI A ©
DHEERED BN EE L&
DEPREE RBERTNKRE
F—fEBEQRBREER  @—REF
AHER A AR EER kA — R
ARHER - N B R EREE D BERE
MBE TEIETRAE HER
BERELEMEREE - IR ERD
EREFRFEMERELERRERS
B J30A ©

HEER

LR E Sz W TR R AT
BEE o TR E5E =2025F 2024
F3H31HIEFE LR E DR INED
HERPWaRETIHERBDEEER -

(i) IBEEFWREZE

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Continuing operations HEREER
The PRC a3 191 7,952
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. @RS EBEH @)

(Continued)

(b) GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued) (b) HEEF (&)

(ii) Non-current assets

(i) FRBEE

2025 2024

2025 2024 FF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

(Restated)

(& &%)

Hong Kong BE 499 1,122
The PRC i 69,001 85,192
69,500 86,314

The non-current assets information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes deferred
income tax assets, loan to an associate and rental

and utilities deposits.

LHERBEEERIREE
EMENETAY TEERT
FIEMEE [A—RHBE QA
REEFUALREERABEE

The Group provided IT solution services to its customers in the PRC
and aimed to provide digital solutions for industrial upgrading and digital

marketing to its customers.

B o
(c) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM BEFEHWmZsE
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHT
(Restated)
(F&E5)
Continuing Operations BRESEER
IT solution business (Note) AR mRR T RER () 191 7,952
Of which revenue is recognised: Hrp W am A T AR
- at a point in time — AR B 191 7,225
— over time — BEREERS - 727
191 7,952
Note: B 5 -

AEERPEMERFREEARMBRERT
ERBLEBMEREPREMFTERTTER
RITRARBFCEE -

REalRHER AR A A
20255 F 5k 157
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d) INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR
CUSTOMERS

Certain customers of IT solution business contributed more
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group during the year.
The amount of revenue of these customers are disclosed as

5.

KRR 5 EE @

d EEXEEFZEH

FR-BRBMBRBATREBZET
EPFRERAKEAYSEIB10% ° 5%
FEPZHMESEEENT

follows:
2025 2024
2025 & 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Customer A EPA 182 -
Customer B ZFB = 3,143
Customer C BFEC = 2,239
Customer D =FD - 1,232

(e) TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION
FOR CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)

) TEHEEEFENHKRTENER
MR 5B

RERDEZEHRTEOEE CRETT
KA RETT) R 5 E R ERUK S

as at year end and the expected timing of recognising FTEEARFE N T
revenue as follows:
2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Within 1 year 1R 10,357 -

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAIN 6. Hfhlg AR HfhBla

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FH&TT
(Restated)
(g &%)
Continuing Operations FREREER
Reversal of provision on ERE AR ERD
reinstatement costs 300 -
Reversal of over-provision of expenses i B RE R E B 43 =
Waliver of amount due to a former RN — R ITESHIE
executive director = 1,787
Others HAth 54 194
Other income and other net gain AU R E A M 397 1,981

7. FINANCE INCOME, NET 7. MBUABE

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
(Restated)
(&&E75)
Continuing Operations BREKEER
Finance cost from KEWWTHEE Z@EKXAR
— lease liabilities ~-HBEAE (18) (30)
(18) (80)
Finance income from RKENUTHREZBERA
- bank deposits —RITFR 145 290
— loan to an associate —m—EBEARIREER 2,080 1,904
—loan to an intermediate holding —m—fE A AR A R RS
company B 739 707
— loan to a related company —m— A A RREER 214 633
— financial assets at amortised cost —REERATECEREE - 212
3,178 3,746
Finance income, net mE WA F5E 3,160 3,716

REalRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX FROM

8. FHHEEERBMERMERMA

CONTINUING OPERATIONS BiR
2025 2024
2025 2024 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
M 5 FEx FET
(Restated)
(FeE5)
Continuing Operations FEREER
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B A 357 B
- Audit services — BT IR 1,150 1,200
— Non-audit services — TR 250 -
Amortisation of intangible assets | & EEE 17 - 1,360
Cost of IT solution business BB R T REB KA - 7,649
Cost of trading business B 5 EFK A 2,529 -
Depreciation of property, plant and - HELEREITE
equipment 15 46 14
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREENE 16 635 941
Employee benefit expenses EERAMEZ
(including directors’ emoluments) (BREEM:) 9 11,295 4,230
Legal and professional fee ERNEXE 1,777 4,767
Impairment loss of other receivables — E fth FEUNGRIE 2 BB E 1B 21 31 -
Impairment loss of trade receivables & 5 EWFIE 2 REEE 20 596 23,548
Impairment loss of loan to an associate A — & QA RIEHER 2
IEE R - 228
Impairment loss of loan to an [\ — R B A AR EE R
intermediate holding company ZREEE = 18
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ m— A ARREER
impairment loss of loan to a CRiERsIERR) REEIE
related company (43) 45
Impairment loss of investments in REEE RN RINIRE 2 REEE
associates 18 16,446 -
Impairment loss of intangible assets ~ E A E 2 REE B - 4,664
Impairment loss of goodwill e REREE = 8,807

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

9. ERBRIAZ(BEEEHE)

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(&E5)
Continuing Operations FEREER
Basic salaries, allowances and other HEAFH  EBHNHM
benefits in kind EYWEF 11,107 4,037
Discretionary bonus B IEIEAL 74 118
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 3R K& Bk 4~ — 5 4 2 st 2 114 75
11,295 4,230
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS EEBREHFMAL

The emoluments payable to the five (2024: five) individuals
including one (2024: two) directors whose emoluments are the

KREEBRS (20245 : AHA) A EBHS
HEAL (BIE—2 (20245F - MB)EH)

highest in the Group during the year are as follows: FERTEVE B AR T -
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHT FHET
(Restated)
(=E75))
Continuing Operations FEREER
Salaries, bonus, allowances and other T fEAL  RBL M EAM
benefits in kind BEWEN 2,535 1,870
Discretionary bonus BB IEAL 54 60
Pension costs — defined contribution plans i k& A 7N — 5 5 f# 7k 5+ 21 54 48
2,643 1,978
The emoluments of individuals other than directors fell within the BEDNNALTHBEN TFUTEER :
following bands:
2025 2024
2025 2024
Continuing Operations HEREER
HK$1 to HK$500,000 17871 2 500,000 7% 7T 2 2
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 7 T £ 1,000,000 7T 2 1

REalRHER AR A A
20255 F 5k 161
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&
10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of every director during the years is set

10. EERAIRFIZ
(a) EEM<

FR - BEFZHHMEIIIMT

out below:
Allowances Provident
Salaries  and benefit Discretionary fund
Fees allowances in kind bonuses contributions Total
EER RS
we  HeRE EUEAN  RERA H3% i
HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THER THER THER THER
Year ended 31 March 2025 BZ205F3ANBLEE
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Wu Jiangtao (Chaiman) RIBRE(ZE) - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Tao Jingyuan WEREE (TTHEH)

(Chief Executive Officer) - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Lai Xiaopeng Michael BERELE - 648 - 54 18 720
Ms. Ning Mengmeng (Note (i) BRE L (i) - 34 - - 2 36
Indepencient non-executive directors B HHTEE
Mr. Cheung Miu RBEE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Cheung Pak To KamEE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Choi Tze Kit Sammy BFREE 240 - - - - 240

720 922 - 74 34 1,750
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

10. EERFIRAE @)

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

() E=M< @

Allowances Provident
Salaries  and benefit  Discretionary fund
Fees  allowances in kind bonuses  contributions Total
2R NS
AE  HeRE  BMEN  BERL it Ehb
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER THER TR TR TR TR
Year ended 31 March 2024 BENUFIANBLEE
Executive directors HIEE
Mr. Wu Jiangtao (Chaiman) RIBEE(ZE) - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Tao Jingyuan WERLE(THET)

(Chief Executive Officer) - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Lai Xiaopeng Michael RERLE - 120 - 10 7 137
Independent non-executive directors BV FEHTEE
Mr. Cheung Miu RBEE 270 - - - - 270
Mr. Cheung Pak To RamEE 270 - - - - 270
Mr. Choi Tze Kit Sammy BFREE 270 - - - - 270

810 360 - 30 21 1,221
Notes: B 5 -

)

(i)

No directors waived any emolument during the year (2024: Nil).

No emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person
accepting office as a director are to be treated as emoluments
paid or receivable in respect of that person’s services as a

director.

Appointed as the executive director of the Company with effect

from 19 December 2024.

(i)

FABEE FHELMBE (2024 F -

) -

BERFHEALRIESTRBEMON
K REU 2 B & R AR E R A2 A LR
EEme kB -

BZARADFRINTES  B2024%F
12 19 HE AR -

REalRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(b) DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND
TERMINATION BENEFITS

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services
to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024 Nil).

(c) CONSIDERATION PROVIDED TO THIRD
PARTIES FOR MAKING AVAILABLE
DIRECTORS’ SERVICES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company did
not pay any consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2024: Nil).

(d) INFORMATION ABOUT LOANS,
QUASI-LOANS AND OTHER DEALINGS IN
FAVOUR OF DIRECTORS, CONTROLLED
BODIES CORPORATE BY AND CONNECTED
ENTITIES WITH SUCH DIRECTORS

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
entered into by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of
the Company, where applicable, in favour of the directors,
or body corporate controlled by or entities connected with
any of the directors at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2024: Nil).

(e) DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2024: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. INCOME TAX CREDIT

The amount of tax credited to the consolidated statement of profit

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

11. FIBRIER
REABREREMEEKAETAZRIE

or loss and other comprehensive income represents: SRR :
2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHERT FHET
Continuing operations BHELEER
Current income tax expense BVHAFR 15 i i 2
The PRC corporate income tax FEMEMSTH
— Provision for current year —AREEEE - 1
— Over-provision in prior year —BAFEBERE - (784)
Deferred income tax expense RS RFAXS
- The PRC — (746) (2,046)
(746) (2,829)
(@ Hong Kong profits tax is levied at progressive rate of 8.25% @ BANEHIRBESEERERBER

on the estimate assessable profit below HK$2,000,000 and
thereafter at a fixed rate at 16.5% for a qualifying entity in
Hong Kong. For other Hong Kong entities, the estimated
assessable profit is taxed at a fixed rate of 16.5% for the
year (2024: same).

The PRC corporate income tax represents taxation charged
on assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the cities in the PRC in which the Group
operates. The tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the
PRC is 25%, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group
subject to reduced preferential CIT rate ranging from 5% to
15% (2024: 5% to 15%) for Small Low-profit Enterprises.

According to applicable tax regulations prevailing in the
PRC, dividends distributed by a company established
in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits
derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject
to a 10% withholding tax. As at 31 March 2025, the
Group recognised deferred tax liabilities amounting to
HK$3,196,000 (2024: HK$4,001,000) of the withholding tax
on undistributed profits of the PRC associate.

2,000,000 7 7T 2 il 51 & 28 B 0% F) i
RET K 8.25% U - MEEEIZETE
fﬁzm 5%HU - MEME B EEE M
R ETE AR m A iR B E TR R
16.5% i (2024 4F : FHRA) -

FREGEMSHIEFRIZAEEBRF
B 75 AT 7E 5 (B T IR 1T R Rk B SR
Fiom M B 2 BiIE o 88 AR B S
NEVZ TR KF25% @ HEAEEE FH
BAREB/ NAMFICERTENT
5% % 15% (20244 : 5% &£ 15% ) 2
BIREBDEMSREEHM

RIBFRHRITEANRBHETE - RFR
Bl KSR B MR INE E E IR R
200841 A1 R & HEH FI)8 FrE
MRS BEBWI10% MBI -
MR2025F3 A31H » A& B 5t
B A B 2 R0 TR E 2 TEIN R iR
i € ¢ 18 & 53,196,000 7T (2024
££ 14,001,000 7T) °

EAIRHER B R A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s loss before tax from continuing operations
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
respective tax rates as follows:

11. IS RER @)

AEERFELEEBORBAE RN
PEERAEEREAELENERSEDT
[ - 20T AR

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
(Restated)
(F&E7)

Continuing operations BREREER
Loss before income tax bR TSR ES 1B (61,486) (64,259)
Calculated at respective tax rates HRBHETE (11,981) (13,525)
Income not subject to taxation BASFE R WA (26) (385)
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBRRE - (49)
Expenses not deductible for taxation DA A

purposes 6,510 8,696
Unused tax losses for which no deferred I £ W2 iR XE 7L 1B & & B9 K B) B

tax assets has been recognised THIAEE 1,962 3,708
Temporary difference for which no I T SRR E R TR A By = 58

deferred tax has been recognised 3,986 -
Temporary difference of undistributed TR A BBt A B 2 R K s A

profits of the PRC associate recognised )& B = 58 (1,197) (1,274)
Income tax credit Fristigk & (746) (2,829)

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N e e I
For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 12. BRILEEER
On 27 April 2023, the Group sold the Vietnamese-style R2023F 4 A27H  AEEREHEE2EW
restaurants business operation in Hong Kong at the time of J& ‘A & Prosperity One Limited B 1 & R &
disposal of a wholly owned subsidiary, Prosperity One Limited. BEENERBREET - BEEBEKIE
The corresponding business was discontinued and the financial KRB ERBRET
information was summarized as follows:
1 April to
27 April 2023
2023 F
4/81H=E
4H27H
HK$'000
FHET
(Restated)
(F&E7))
Discontinued operation CDRIEEEER
Revenue Wz 2,266
Cost of food and beverages B o M EURER AR (603)
Other income and gain H A g A R i 16
Administrative expenses THRS (1,865)
Loss before income tax BRET 1S B AT & 18 (186)
Income tax expenses FrEHiA= -
Loss for the period HNEE (186)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERTER RS 25,829
Profit for the year from discontinued BRI E E R F AR
operation 25,643
Net cash generated from operating BB TSR )58
activities 283
Net cash used in financing activities RVEEB TR F 8 (551)
Net cash outflows e FEE (268)
Loss before income tax has been arrived ~ BRET/S I ATESIE Th R (F08%)
after (charging)/crediting: FTAT S IBRIER
Employee costs EEMA (698)
Depreciation and amortization e I 8 (469)

13.

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

HEWE - BB M&E 2 W

DIVIDENDS

13.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for

the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Bz 2

EEENEEMEET2025F3A31HILF
FERHERAR B (2024 4F : &) -

REalRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14.

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to shareholders of the Company is based on the

following data.

(a) BASIC (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (@)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
(loss)/profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

(b)

during the year.

S (BR) 27

ARARBRREEFREALEE (BR)
BN TRATBERAHE -

BREX(BR) BT

BRER (BB BMEARBRK
RIEM (BB) 8RR FARE
TEBRZ MEFHHGE -

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
(Restated)
(FE5)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: BT AL RS (BR) 3R
Shareholders of the Company EARRER
— from continuing operations —REABELEERS (56,753) (61,430)
— from discontinued operations —RAEBERIELEES - 25,643
(56,753) (35,787)
Weighted average number of BEITEBERINETHE(TR)
ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 914,535 893,275
Basic (loss)/earnings per share BREX (BE) BR
(HK cents per share) (BRB)
— from continuing operations —REFELEER (6.21) (6.88)
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEEEER - 2.87
DILUTED (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (b) EREHE(HEE) BF

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company had no
dilutive potential ordinary shares, thus the diluted (loss)/
earnings per share presented is the same as the basic (loss)/

earnings per share (2024: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. WI%E ~ BB R ok 0l

Restaurants
Leasehold  and kitchen ~ Computer Motor ~ Fumiture  Construction
improvements  equipment  equipment  Machinery vehicles  and fixtures  in progress Total
il 2ER

nE%8  BRRE  EERR B RE HBHREE  ARIE it
HK§ 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HK§000 HKS'000 HKS 000
TR TR ThL TR ThRL TR ThRL TR

Cost i
At1 April 2023 RABELR1A 4138 2,174 210 - - 1,605 - 8,121
Additions hE - - 6 - 6
Disposal of subsidiary (Note 28) HERBRF (H58) (4.139) (179 (1,562) - (8053
Exchange realignment EiGRE - (1 - - 1)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 Aori 2024 RAAUEIAINAR

04E4R18 - 30 49 - 79
Adotions HE 195 304 53 12,606 13429
Exchange reaignment Ei5EE (1) @ - 69) )
At 31 March 2025 RABEIAA 194 332 102 12,587 13,435
Deduction: accumulated depreciation and e BHAER

impairment loss AEES

A1 April 2023 RABELR1A 3,989 187 1,581 - 7404
Depreciation g piY 19 4 - 5
Disposalof subsidiary (Note 28 HENBAR (i 08) (3619 (179 (1,562 - (7408
Exchange realignment B - () 2 - !
At 31 March 2024 and 1 Aori 2024 RAUEIAINAR

UELATH - 26 2 - 51
Depreciation g 3 % 15 - 4
At 31 March 2025 RABEIAIA 3 51 40 - 97
Net book value R
At 31 March 2025 RABEIAA 191 281 62 12,531 13,338
At 31 March 2024 RUE3A3H - 4 % - %

RERIFHERER AR

2025F £ 3] 169



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 16. FRAREEREEAR

LIABILITIES
(@) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE (@) REEMBERRERBERZEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the GEVBMRAREREBAEEZ &R
following amounts relating to the leases: R
Land use right Leased office Total
T fE A RE HERAQE #et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHT
Right-of-use assets FEHEEE
At 1 April 2023 R2023F 4 A1 H - 7,961 7,961
Addition (Note (i) RNE (FFEG) - 1,255 1,255
Depreciation e - (1,372) (1.372)
Disposal of subsidiary HEWB QA
(Note 28) (K7t 28) - (5,961) (5,961)
Written off (Note (ii)) s (B =E (i) - (785) (785)
At 31 March 2024 and R2024%F3 A31 B X
1 April 2024 2024F 43 1H - 1,098 1,098
Addition (Note (iii)) B (P (i) 5,024 = 5,024
Depreciation e 8) (627) (635)
Exchange 5 (28) - (28)
At 31 March 2025 202543 H31H 4,988 471 5,459
Lease liabilities HEaE
At 1 April 2023 R2028F4H1H 8,604 8,604
Addition (Note () NE (M) 1,255 1,255
Disposal of subsidiary LS B A A
(Note 28) (Mi7E28) (6,423) (6,423)
Interest expenses FBEMAX 44 44
Payments R (1,681) (1,681)
Written off (Note (ii)) e (5 (i) (748) (748)
At 31 March 2024 and R2024F 3 A31H K
1 April 2024 2024F 4818 1,051 1,051
Interest expenses FERX 18 18
Payments Rk (631) (631)
At 31 March 2025 202543 A31H 438 438
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

16. FRHESERIESE &R @

(a) REFREMBRRREIZEHE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF (48)
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Lease liabilities HEARE
- Non-current portion —JEBNEREE > - 5
— Current portion —BNERER 7 438 1,051
438 1,051
Notes: 5T

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has
entered in to an tenancy agreement for a 2-year lease term.

(ii) The amount represents the early termination of tenancy
agreement.

(iii) The land-use-right was located in the PRC and was prepaid
during the year ended 31 March 2025. The corresponding
subsidiary of the Company was the registered owner of the land
with 50 years of lease term.

AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT
OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

0] REZE2024F3A31BILFE - AR
RIFIMEAMENHEERE -

(i) HEWEEMKLEERZ -

(i)  EiofE AL T B R A E E 2025 F
SABTALFEBRLIM - AAFHME
EHBEAR AT ETLHEEA M

HRB04F -

(b) REEEBERAMEEKER

BRAZEH

FEEaMEMEARERBETEH

comprehensive income shows the following amounts MEzSBEOT :
relating to the leases:
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHExT FET
(Restated)
(Fe&E71)
Continuing operations BHEREER
Depreciation of right-of-use assets & P& ET & 635 941
Interest expenses B 18 30
Expenses relating to short-term FHEBHEEZRAY
leases 433 -

RERIFHERER AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. ML E&E

Non-compete

Trademark IT Platform agreement Total
L= EANHETEE THRIHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET TET THET
Cost B
At 1 April 2023 R2023%F 4811 25 3,429 3,659 7,113
Disposal of subsidiary HENB AR
(Note 28) (P4t 28) (25) - - (25)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 38 B - (182) (194) (376)
At 31 March 2024 and 2024331 B R
31 March 2025 20253 A31H - 3,247 3,465 6,712
Deduction: accumulated R BEHERR
depreciation and EEE
impairment loss
At 1 April 2023 MN2023F4HB1H 25 514 549 1,088
Disposal of subsidiary HEHB A A
(Note 28) (Bizxo8) (25) - - (25)
Amortisation for the year F RS - 658 702 1,360
Impairment loss for the year & AR E 18 N 2,257 2,407 4,664
Exchange realignment BEE 5 3 2 - (182) (193) (375)
At 31 March 2024 and R202453A31A K
31 March 2025 20253 A31H - 3,247 3,465 6,712

Net book value
At 31 March 2025

REFEE
20253831 H

At 31 March 2024

20243831 H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 17. ML EE (@)

Intangible assets, including IT Platform and non-compete
agreement, were arisen from the business combination of Context
Image Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively “Context
Image Group”).

Intangible assets that generate cash flows were included in the
respective cash generating units (“CGUs”), which was Context
Image Group, for the purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on value in use calculation. During the year ended 31
March 2024, this calculation used cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period and a discount rate of 23%. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3% growth
rate. This growth rate was based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and did not exceed the average long-term growth rate
for the relevant industry. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash flows which
include budgeted sales and gross margins. Such estimation
was based on past performance of the Context Image Group
and management’s expectations for the market development.
Management believed that any reasonably possible change in any
of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of the Context Image Group to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the Context Image Group.

B EE (BREANMKTEERTH T HH)
T i Context Image Holdings Limited & £ Fft
B2 7] (478 [ Context Image £ 8 |) H %
SEPEE

Eifﬁimﬂﬁﬂﬁ/ﬁéﬁr)\xﬁﬁﬁiﬁi
ELEBEN ((RE€ELXEMN]) (B AContext
Image &) - DAEEITRIERE °

REeEABNMITKRESBENREERE
Bt EmE -HE2024F3A31 8 IEF
B ZiAERAENREEEMZRER
FHC O REE 2R R ETEA REER X
23% - BB AFMzRERENHEMAZI% L
BrEERREE ZERERDNERBBAT
ERRBARARBBAEBRITENTFHERE
BRE - FRBEFECAEMEZREN
PIEBEHEREMNE 2R RS 2 M
£ - BRIAFT THER Context Image £ &
Z?@@Ei’%fﬁ&%ﬁ%“TFD_%%J:'ZJ?’EHH’E’
e BEEMRE TAZERRBAULLR
Z B & B #B) g B Context Image 3
[E 7 BR T 42 (B 8 8 Context Image % & 2 7]
Yol 48 5 & o

EAIRHER B R A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. REBIELX RS

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHT
(Restated)
(L& &%)
Investments in associates REE R RN E
— Share of net asset value —DIEEEFE 40,418 58,457
— Notional goodwill and intangible assets —&EREENMEFEE 26,731 26,731
Less: Impairment for the year (Note (iii)) W S ARURE (B (i) (16,446) -
Notional goodwill and intangible assets IR REZNAEEHE R
after impairment mILAE 10,285 26,731
50,703 85,188
Loan to an associate (Note (ii)) m—REERARIREER
(B3 (i)
— Non-current portion —JERNERER 7 15,000 15,000
— Current portion —BIEAER 7 12,917 12,534
27,917 27,634
2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHT
Movements in the investments in REFERRIMIEEZEH T -
associates are as follows:
At the beginning of the year NG 85,188 99,498
Share of post-tax results of associates DIEEEE RN R 2 BREEEE (17,813) (13,183)
Impairment for the year (Note (iii)) FRRE (5 (i) (16,446) -
Share of other comprehensive expense of DB & A5 2 2R
associates (226) (1,127)
At the end of the year NG 50,703 85,188

Set out below is the associates of the Group as at 31 March
2025 and 2024 which, in the opinion of the directors, is material
to the Group. The associates as listed below has share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the
Group; the country of incorporation or registration is also their

principal place of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

18. REEATFINES (@)

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of issued Interest held directly at
Name operation share capital 31 March Principal activity
ERmEL/
B BEm ERTRARE R3IANAEERENESR TEERED
2025 2024
20255F 2024
TRRAEERETARERLA The PRC RMB50,000,000 50% 50% Providing
(Beijing Minshang ZhiHui E-commerce e-commerce
Co., Limited") (‘Minshang Zhihui") related service in
(Note (i) the PRC
TRREERETHEARLA e AR ¥ 50,000,000 R ERH
(IRBEE]) (M) ETHERBRE

*

Notes:

U

(i)

English name is translated for identification purpose only.

Minshang Zhihui is principally engaged in technology and e-commerce
related business with a focus on its scenario marketing system and
supply chain management capability to provide various banks, financial
institutions and sizable corporations with e-commerce.

The Group holds 50% equity interest in Minshang Zhihui and is entitled
to appoint two out of four directors in Minshang Zhihui. Voting decisions
of the board are made by a simple majority. The Group is not able to
exercise more than half of the voting power and it cannot control any
board decisions. Therefore, Minshang Zhihui is not a subsidiary of the
Group. However, since the Group can demonstrate significant influence
over Minshang Zhihui, the investment in Minshang Zhihui is recognised
as an investment in associate.

The Group granted a loan amounting to HK$15,000,000 to Minshang
Zhihui on 16 May 2019 with an expiry date of 15 May 2021. The
loan is unsecured and interest-bearing at a rate of 8% per annum,
with contractual settlement of the loan’s interest annually. On 14 May
2021 and 11 May 2023, the Group entered into two supplemental
agreements with Minshang Zhihui respectively for extending the loan
expiry date to 14 May 2023 and further to 14 May 2026.

On 12 June 2023, the Group entered into a new shareholder’s loan
agreement with Minshang Zhihui in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$11,000,000. The loan is unsecured and interest-bearing at a rate
of 8% per annum. The loan term is 12 months from the drawdown
date and subject to an extension for a further term of 12 months upon
service of a written notice.

Y ORXAEEEEMSES -

fia -

0)

REASEXZUENELNETHERBERS -
FEREKBESSITHRAGMHERERE
NREFRRIT RBERARBCEREHRE
FEE-

AEEFBEREEHELS0%MME - WHENM
HRABEESPRIMBES 82
BREREAGE B BIEL - REETEETT
EHE—FZHRE FAAEGHEAES
ERE B REAEBBLIFAREZIE
NE AT AR AEEITHREEERT
HEBEAREN MREBEEZRERRR
REERBZKE -

REBR201965 F16HARFEEREE
5£15,000,0007%8 7T + E|H3 B &2021F5 A 15
H-ERAEBER RFMNER%RFTE I
BFEREHNENERFE - R2021F5H 14
AR20283F5A11H AEFHERBEES
RIFTM MmO HE  BERIHALRSE
202355 14 B RE—FERE20265F5 A
148 »

MH2023F6 A 12 AEBEREEHETL
AN 4 4858 /5 11,000,000 7 JT H $7 i% B E
o RERAEEE  RFEFNESRTE B
FER ARBBHE12EAR - £l BIE@EE
MEABER12(@A -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(ii) (Continued)

On 11 June 2024, the Group entered into an loan extension agreement
with Minshang Zhihui to extend the new shareholder’s loan with principal
amount of HK$11,000,000 and interest bearing at 8% per annum (which
is unsecured) for a term of 12 months until 11 June 2025.

(iii) The recoverable amount of the interests in associates has been
determined based on value in use calculation. During the year ended
31 March 2025, this calculation used cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period
and a discount rate of 15.5%. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate. This growth rate was
based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and did not exceed
the average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation
of cash flows which include budgeted sales and gross margins
ratio. Such estimation was based on past performance of Minshang
Zhihui and management’s expectations for the market development.
Management believed that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of Minshang
Zhihui to exceed the recoverable amount of Minshang Zhihui.
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J For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z
18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REEELAFIMNER W)
SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR EXRBEQNTRZBEMKEER
MATERIAL ASSOCIATE
The table below provides summarised financial information for TERHEFRAYAEEMEREBERZ
Minshang Zhihui that, in the opinion of director, is material to the REESBE2BEGNBER  HEAESE
Group and is accounted for using the equity method. AR
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
(Restated)
(eE5)
Current TRE
Total current assets MEEERE 285,532 329,032
Total current liabilities M EERE (215,291) (233,933)
Non-current ERE
Total non-current assets FEREBEEBE 10,595 21,815
Total non-current liabilities ERBBERTE - -
Net assets BEFE 80,836 116,914
Opening net assets FEEFE 116,914 142,536
Loss for the year FAEE (35,627) (23,368)
Currency translation difference ERinEER (451) (2,254)
Closing net assets FREEFE 80,836 116,914
Direct equity interest held FTFEE Bl 50% 50%
Share of net asset value held by Group ~ AEBE i H 2 L EFENE 40,418 58,457
Intangible assets and notional goodwill B & E Kk % & & 10,285 26,731
Carrying amount BRAE 50,703 85,188
Revenue gz 272,401 290,524
Loss for the year FABE (35,627) (23,368)
Other comprehensive expense HEtzrmAx (451) (2,254)
Total comprehensive expense THEHMAZEE (36,078) (25,622)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from: RELTSENRS (KL,
MAHEE
— Operating activities — B ED) 17,726 20,608
— Investing activities —REEH (4,367) (6,445)
- Financing activities —BEED (18,990) (8,378)
(5,631) 5,785

REalRHER AR A A
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AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR
MATERIAL ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the
consolidated financial statements of Minshang Zhihui (and not
Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited’s share of those
amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting policies between
the Group and the associate, if any.

18. W ELAFINESR (|
EABEQAT2BENKER @)

NEBEHRRRBAEEZHAMIEHREM
2 zeR (LIRBEIRERERA A
DEERESBEIHD) RERAKEE
ZHERRGFBRZER (WMA) FHH
o

19. INVENTORIES 19. 8
2025 2024
2025 & 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Finished goods BURY G - 2,529

During the year ended 31 March 2025, finished goods with an
amount HK$2,529,000 (2024: HK$NIl) were fully impaired and
recognised as cost of trading business.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. EHEKHRIE
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHE T
(Restated)
(eE5)
Trade receivables 2 5 EWGIE 24,488 26,039
Less: impairment loss B OREEE (24,488) (24,324)
= 1,715

Trade receivables mainly represent receivables from IT solution
business. The credit period granted to trade customers was
within 1-30 days.

An estimate of impairment of trade receivables is made and
deducted when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.
Trade receivables are unsecured and interest-free. Details of
impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in note
3.2(0)().

The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date
was as follows:

B 5 RUHIAT B RKE MBI REIRT
REBFB -HLTEFEPNEEHR
E30KRA e

R BB 2 BB R IAR(EH B 5 I
ARIBRAE MGG - T LAMK - B 5 EKHK
EREBERERE - BRAE 5 EUGRIER
EFFEFF B RN EES.2()0) °

BHRKFIAENER R B ERE D40
™~

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

(Restated)

(i &%)

Less than 30 days DR 30K - -
31 to 60 days 31 260X - -
61 to 90 days 612 90X = -
Over 90 days HBR 90K - 1,715
- 1,715

RERIFHERER AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The table below reconciles the loss allowance of trade

20. B S EUFRIE (@)

TREESHRUGA Z BRBEETHR

receivables:
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
(Restated)
(eE5)
At the beginning of the year REF ) 24,324 -
Provision for impairment VERERE &= 596 23,548
Exchange realignment IE 3 2 (432) 776
At the end of the year RER 24,488 24,324
The carrying amount of trade receivables approximates to its R2025%F K 2024F3A31H  BEFEI
fair value as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 and is denominated in FNEMERAMEREQAABEES WUAR

RMB.

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

W -

21. AARR - HeRHMEBUR

RECEIVABLES |
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(FeE7))
Prepayments TEfTRIE 1,320 668
Rental and utilities deposits Hek AAEXEZS 567 260
Other tax recoverable (Note (i) H b ] Yo = B I8 (PR G) 6,020 6,281
Other receivables H b fE W 08 3,038 9,083
Value added tax receivable JiE U 12 (B AR 1,880 958
12,825 17,250
Less: non-current portion B JEEVERE
— Rental and utilities deposits S SN EE S - (260)
Current portion BIERER 2> 12,825 16,990
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e ERRHE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z
21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21. AFIRIE - EBERHEMBU R
RECEIVABLES (Continued) I8 (&)
Note: MI5E -

(i) As at 31 March 2025, the other tax recoverable of RMB5,614,000 [0]
(equivalent to HK$6,020,000) (2024: RMB5,823,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,281,000)) represented the tax refund receivables from export
sales of the trading business.

K2025F3A31H » Efbrl EIFIE AR
5,614,000 7t (8 & 7 6,020,0007% 7t) (2024
F: AR #¥5,823,0007T (18 & 76,281,000
BIL)) BB SEB L OEENEURT -

The table below reconciles the loss allowance of deposits and

TRAEE R E MR IR BB E Y

other receivables: B :
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
(Restated)
(Fe&E7)
At the beginning of the year RER] 1,091 1,091
Provision for impairment VERERE &= 31 -
Provision written off s B4 (29) -
Exchange realignment (R (6) -
At the end of the year RF R 1,087 1,091

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximate to their fair values as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 and are denominated in the following currencies:

MR2025F 20243 A31H @ Faf71E -
EehEMEWRFENEREEERAE
ERELAATEEE

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHETT

(Restated)

(FeE%))

HK$ T 757 679
RMB AR 12,068 16,571
12,825 17,250

RERIFHERER AR
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RE R RME
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&
22. LOANS TO INTERMEDIATE HOLDING 22, MHAEEERAFR—HEREELD

COMPANY AND A RELATED COMPANY BiRHEER

2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$ 000
TExT FET

Current ENHA

RUNMING International Limited SR BB A R~ &l (i ()

(E s BEFR AR A R]) (Note () 9,864 9,870

FYIZRE 2 B AR5 B PR A F (Note (i) A ZERREER A A

(B3 (i) - 6,841

Notes: M5k -

i) The balance represents an unsecured loan to an intermediate holding 0] HEREMARR —HPEZERAFREHRY
company of the Company. The loan bears interest at 8% per annum EERWER - ZEFIRFH E8%HE &
and has no fixed repayment term but shall be repaid no later than 6 EERER - ERIER2025F6 A13H
October 2026 per the latest loan agreement signed on 13 June 2025 (2024%F : 2024 F10R7H) FEN &M E
(2024: 7 October 2024). R ETSEN 2026410 A6 HERK °

(if) The balance represents an unsecured loan to a fellow subsidiary of the (ii) ERREMARR —HRRMB AR RENE
Company. The loan bears interest at 8% per annum and has been fully HIRER - ZBERIRFNER8%T 2 RER
repaid during the current year. AEFRBEE -

23. SUBSIDIARIES 23. B AT
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries with major operations as R2025F 2024 F3A31H  £EMH B
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are shown as follows: REZFIBEREEZEBHBNOT
Place of incorporation and Date of Registered Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity incorporation capital  Effective interest held place of operation
EMRLBHR RATEEREH TEEHR
£ ERERER SMA&LAS FRBRE ERER mEh
2025 2024
20255 2024%F

Directly held subsidiaries:

EERENHEAR:

MSCT Management Limited  Hong Kong, limited liability company 3 October 2018 HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of management

service in Hong Kong

REANERERAT Eh BREALH 201810434 1871 EARREERRE

MSCT Investment Limited ~ British Virgin Islands, limited liabilty 5 October 2018 US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

company

REARREERLH RERIES BREALT 201810 A5H 1% RERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

23. B 2] (@)

Place of incorporation and Date of Registered Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity incorporation capital  Effective interest held place of operation
BRI BER RATEEREN TEEHR
8 HERERER AL A LTS BREL Bew
2025 2024
02BF  2024%
MSC-Tech Investment British Virgin Islands, limited liabiity 8 October 2018 US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited company
MSC-Tech Investment RERAES AREAALT 201810 A8 1% REER
Holdings Limited
MSC-Tech Investment British Virgin Islands, limited liabiity 8 October 2018 USS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
MSC-Tech Investment EERLHES AREMLA 2018F10A8H 1%7T RERR
Limited
Indirectly held subsidiaries:
MESENRELR
MSEC Investment (HK) Hong Kong, limited liability company 30 October 2018 HK$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
MSEC Investment (HK) B BREELA 2018104308 1,0007%7T REAR
Limited
R ZR)EFEH  The PRC (imited liability company 21 May 2019 RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Trading business in the
1N under the law of the PRC) PRC
REAM(ER)ETEE +HBETEDZECEREE  201955A21H AE% TRESEK
BRAF ) 10,000,0007C
REER (ER)EE The PRC (limited liability company 24 June 2019 RMB2,000,000 - 70%  Trading business in the
AR 28 (Note () under the law of the PRC) PRC
REAR(ZR)BEE HE(BEPEZECERELE 201956 A24A AE% TRESHER
ARAR (M) 1) 2,000,0007
AIERMEANETRE  The PRC (imited liabiity company 23 December 2020 RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Trading business in the
(RINBERAF under the law of the PRC) PRC
AERFARETRE  RE(REMEEEZEREE 20206127238 AR HEESER
CRIN BRAF 2Al) 50,000,000 7C
Context Image Holdings Cayman Islands, limited liability 6 August 2021 US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
Context Image Holdings REHE BREAAA 20218 A6H 50,000 RERR
Limited
SRER (LR The PRC (limited liability company 23 November 2015 RMB3,000,000 100% 100% T solution senvices in the
ER AT under the law of the PRC) PRC
HRELR (LR K mE(BEPEEECEREE 2015511 23R AEE PEEARRBALTR
BRAF AN 3,000,000 7 %

REalRHER AR A A
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AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

23. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. M8 2 E) ®)

184

Place of incorporation and Date of Registered Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity incorporation capital  Effective interest held place of operation
HEMALHER RATEEBEN TETHR
28 ERERER HMERLAS FRBA BRER mEnmy
2025 2024
025F 2004

eREE (5m) B The PRC (imited liabilty company 23 May 2024 RMB25,500,000 51% N/A Investment holding
BRAT under the law of the PRC)

JaRE B (8) Rk HE(BEPEZECEREE  204F5A230 AR TER  REER
1G] AN 25,500,0007C

BHEE (M) MR The PRC (imited liabiity company 14 August 2024 RMB4,270,000 51% N/A Investment holding
BRAF under the law of the PRC)

EREEEN SR PEBEPEEEIERER  2024F8A14H AR TER  RAER
E1YNG ) 4,270,0007

TBRIEE GEM)A9Z  The PRC (limited liabiity company 29 August 2024 RMB30,000,000 51% N/A Investment holding
BRBRAR under the law of the PRC)

BHEE@EMN EE EBETEERCERER  20458A200 ARE TER  RAER
BRERAR 2 30,000,0007T

JBRIEE (b ) REB K The PRC (imited liabiity company 24 June 2024 RMBS6,060,000 51% N/A  Renewable energy
HERBRA under the law of the PRC) technology business

BHEE R REGE  SEBETEZECEREE 204560240 ARE TER  UEERENEER
BEREBRAR ) 6,060,000

JBHEE(EE)MEE  The PRC (imited liabiity company 8 January 2025 RMB20,000 51% N/A  Investment holding
ERERAT under the law of the PRC)

BHEE(Em) fEE  HEBETEEECERERE 202551788 AR®20,0007C TER  REER
ERERAA )

Note: fsE -

(i) The subsidiary was deregistered on 21 October 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
24. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 24, FREKHER
The details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that TXHRAEBERERIEERERS 2 I
have material non-controlling interests are shown as below: 2EWB AR ZFS
Proportion
of ownership
interests and Loss
Place of voting rights allocated to
incorporation/ held by non-controlling Accumulated
principal place non-controlling interests non-controlling
Name of Subsidiary of business interests for the period interests
FERER HRAPEF
HMAR L FEREEEER FERER
MEAR B TEEEWBE RERELA ZER Rt ERER

From 23 May 2024 From 23 May 2024

31 March 2025 to 31 March 2025 to 31 March 2025
H2024F5H23H HH2024%5H23H

2025F3H31H Z202543H31H Z£202543AH31H
HK$’000 HK$’000

THET THERT

Xuke Hydrogen Methanol (Hainan) PRC/PRC
Technology Co., Ltd. * 49% (3,987) (3,965)
JERIEE O8R/) BIRARAT  FEHE

(3,987) (3,965)
* For identification purpose only. * BRI -
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the BBRASEBEEEREERESNNBA
Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests AEENUBERNBMESH N T - TXH
are set out below. The summarised financial information below AR E AEE RN PR ER 2 £ -

represented amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Xuke Hydrogen
Methanol (Hainan)
Technology

Co., Ltd.*

BRIEE (O88E) R
BRAF

As at 31 March 2025
R20256F 3 H31H

HK$’000

FET

Non-current assets ERBEE 18,294
Current assets mEEE 15,183
Current liabilities mENBE (14,225)
19,252

Equity attributable to owners of the Company PiNNETE ¥ =N 23,217
Non-controlling interests JEFE A = (3,965)
19,252

REalRHER AR A A
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AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&
24. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 24. FERRRERE (W)

For the period
from 23 May 2024
to 31 March 2025

H2024 65 A 23 H
£2025%3H31H
LIEER
HK$’000
F#&T
Other income Habug A 34
Expenses 2 (8,170)
Loss for the year FNEE (8,136)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREME2ERE 45
Total comprehensive expenses for the year FAEHEMAZ L (8,091)
Loss attributable to: AT AT EE
— Owners of the Company . WNEIE 2PN (4,149)
— Non-controlling interests — IR (3,987)
(8,136)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to: WTATEGEERAZEEE -
— Owners of the Company —RNAREAA (4,126)
- Non-controlling interests — JEE AR B 2 (3,965)
(8,001)
Net cash inflow from: RENTEIANRSRAFE :
— Operating activities — TR E) 1,182
— Investing activities —REEY (18,380)
- Financing activities — BB EE 27,344
Net cash inflow WEMAFHRE 10,146
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A B
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z
25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25 BlaRhBEeHFEDY
2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Cash on hand FHERS - 537
Cash at banks RITRE 22,357 9,953
Total #BEt 22,357 10,490
At 31 March 2025, the maximum exposure to credit risk of MR2025%3A31 A AEERBENR=E
the Group is cash at banks, amounting to approximately ERB A©EE422,357,000# 7T (2024 F :
HK$22,357,000 (2024: HK$9,953,000). 9,953,000/ 7T) WIRTTIRE ©
2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
HK$’000 HK$000
FERT FHET
Cash and cash equivalents ATHEETENRES &
denominated in: REEEY -
HKS$ BIT 2,564 9,544
RVB ARHE 19,793 946
22,357 10,490
As at 31 March 2025, cash and cash equivalents of R2025F3A31H  AEENE LB
approximately HK$19,793,000 (2024: HK$946,000) of the Group ®FEWH 19,793,000/ 7t (2024 £ -
were denominated in Renminbi and deposited with banks in the 946,000 7T) Jh A A R EEFTHEI T A F
PRC. The conversion of the Renminbi denominated balance into Bl 2 #R1T - AMARBHEHRRINER
foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign 38 T R B T R A4 B NG S AR Bl KR E e
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no RITHEBRTDERNEEEZOHEEDY

recent history of default. FCERHYERTT ©

RBEAIRHERBR AR
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RE R RME
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&
26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. EHEFMRIA
An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the RBEPRNE RN RBENEZE
Reporting Period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HEREC AT T -
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Less than 30 days LR 30K - =
31 to 60 days 31 260X - -
61 to 90 days 61 290X - -
Over 90 days HiBI0K 16,056 17,699
16,056 17,699
The trade payables are non-interest bearing with payment terms ESENRBATHE  BNFEHA—RA
of 30 days in general. 30K °
The carrying amounts of the trade payables approximate to their B RNFIE REEREADEERE -
fair values and are denominated in RMB. Wik NREETE ©
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A BB RN
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z
27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. EttEMRIEREN BB
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH&TT
Accrued expenses JEETE A 3,332 1,200
Deposits received for tendering B IS iZ% & 1,394 =
Provision for reinstatement costs (Note () 18 R & F #4#5 (M52 () - 300
Amount due to the immediate holding FET EZER A R RIA
company (Note (ii)) (PR & (i) 5 5
Provision for PRC corporate income tax AR B3 AT 155 K 8 AR RE A
and penalty on transfer of equity (Note (i) 1202 (BT E (iii)) 4,882 4,882
Others Hitb 1,789 804
11,402 7,191
Less: non-current portion A FERNEREE
— Provision for reinstatement costs —EREREE - (300)
Current portion BIERER &> 11,402 6,891

REalRHER AR A A
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AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of the other payables and accruals balance
approximate to their fair values and are denominated in the

following currencies:

27. At EMRR R EHEA @

H
H

~

fRE IE R B A S R E
DA EBARE - WA TS HE -

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHER FET
HK$ BT 2,276 2,071
RMB AR 9,126 5,120
11,402 7,191
Notes: M &E
() Provision for reinstatement costs (i) ERERBE
Movements in the Group’s provision for reinstatement costs are as REERNERERBENEESNOT :
follows:
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
At the beginning of the year RE 300 564
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHRB AR = (264)
Reversal of provision BB R E (300) -
At the end of the year RER - 300
(if) Amount due to the immediate holding company (ii) e EEER A RRIE

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BHEFEREER  2ERBREREE-
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

Provision for PRC corporate income tax and penalty on transfer of
equity

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in Context Image Group, leading to an indirect
acquisition of 35 & 8 % (& =) Bl B R 2 & (Changjing Wanxiang
(Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd., “Changjing Wanxiang”), a subsidiary
of Context Image in the PRC. According to Public Notice [2015] No. 7
promulgated by the State Taxation Administration (the “STA”), the STA
shall deem such arrangement to be a direct transfer of equity interest
of the PRC resident and any related capital gain derived therein shall
be subject to the CIT. Therefore, the Group in this event shall act as an
CIT withholding agent and report said indirect equity transfer (and settle
the CIT, if applicable) to the PRC tax authorities within 30 days after the
equity transfer agreement is concluded.

In case the Group fails to fulffill its withholding obligation and the Vendor
has not paid the CIT, the PRC tax authorities would demand the Vendor
for the payment of CIT and impose penalty of 50% to 3 times of the
unpaid CIT on the Group. The penalty may be relieved if the indirect
transfer has been voluntarily reported to the PRC tax authorities by the
Group.

According to the sale and purchase agreement dated 24 December
2021 entered into among the Group, through one of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, four independent third parties (the “Vendors”) and two
guarantors, namely Guarantor W and Guarantor Z (collectively referred
as the “Vendors’ Guarantors”), the Vendors are responsible for the
filing and the settlement of the CIT arising from the indirect equity
transfer in accordance with the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations.
The Vendors’ Guarantors irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed
the due and prompt performance and compliance by the Vendors of all
their obligations under the sale and purchase agreement.

The directors of the Company believe no cash consideration was
involved in said transaction, thus no money should be withheld at
the first stage. Under such circumstances, it is the responsibility of
the Vendors to report and pay the CIT. As at 31 March 2023, the
Group has not yet reported the transaction or paid CIT to the PRC
tax authorities. For the sake of prudence for the year ended 31 March
2023, a provision of HK$1,220,000 for the non-withheld portion and
HK$3,662,000 for the relevant maximum penalty were recognised.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

27. AfthEMRR R EHEA @

B aE - (48)

(i)

Fh B 1 e P AS 150 K% B e s A ) T R R

HE2023F3A31HIEEE  AEEWE
Context Image £ [ #9100% f% # - 8 B #
I B Context Image T BIN B AR S =&
Z AR BMEARAA(HRER]) - R
BEREREER ((EXRBEER]) BMHr[2015]
FIHRRE BERVBEREBZLTHERR
TRERBRENEEREER ALLEENEW
HEAE ARG EANDERER - Bt -
REBEZBERTEIEADEMSHESE
WA RER R EE R EESORA MR E
TGRS M MERESE (AN D
TSR miEaA) -

MAEBEREBRTEEMEERETRAX
NEEMED - PENBEBBERTEIX
NEEAEN - WAAREEEARMS DR
BH50% Z3MEHEH - WAKEC BREA
BT ISR R R R R - RIS RS -

BEAEB(GEAE—H2EMBAR) W
EBUFE=F([EA] RMBERA - BIE
RAWERERAZ(GBAIERAERAD R
2021 F12 A24 AU MEEHHE B A
ERBEABPEREEERERBERREE
MERESEMEENCEMSH -EHE
RAC A HE R S R B 5 B
REBTRETHSEREEMSEBTITNAME
EE-

KAREERE LR SHESRIBER
B8 AR AR RN REMB I RIE - 1
HERT BRI CEMESHOETE
REH - R20283F3A31H  REE KM
B S MR 2 TR X B MM D E TSR -
BEEER  REZE202343A31BIEFE
ERIEEEI» KBRS SN0 B KRR
f# 1,220,000 7t & 3,662,000 7% 7T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE R RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

28. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 28. HE—MIMBE AT
On 27 April 2023, the Group sold the Vietnamese-style MR2023F 4 827H AEEREEERE
restaurants business operation in Hong Kong at the time of B B A B Prosperity One Limited B 1 & 7
disposal of a wholly owned subsidiary, Prosperity One Limited. BAKLEN BN B X o Prosperity One
The net assets of Prosperity One Limited at the date of disposal Limited REE B EIRFEEMNT ¢

were as follows:

Consideration received: BWRE : HK$’000

FHET
Cash b 31,000
Total consideration BR(E 31,000

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which the REERFENEEREBEIN:

control was lost: HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment W - BER&EE 647
Right of use assets ERREAE 5,961
Rental and utilities deposits HekrAREXES 1,859
Amounts due from former related parties JRE W B B G 75 SR8 2,731
Trade receivables B 5 MW F IR 143
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR IR - e R EME W EIE 2,574
Bank balances and cash RITEBR NS 3,134
Lease liabilities HEBE (6,423)
Trade payables B 5 ENFIE (330)
Other payables and accrued expenses Hih A FIEREREA (4,783)
Net assets disposed of BHEFEE 5,513
Gain on disposal: B s
Consideration received 2R E 31,000
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE (5,513)
Derecognition of capital reserve upon disposal of R EMB AR EKRIEERR A E
subsidiary 342
25,829
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEMRSRAFEE
Cash consideration received BUYEIRERE 31,000
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B ERERITEHREES (3,134)
27,866
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29. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

29. IRIEFRTRIR

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 4

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHE T

Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSMEE - 451
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTBMEE (3,196) (4,001)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during

the year is as follows:

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

FRBEEREHREEMAENEFNT

ELEFTEHREE

Allowance for
trade receivables

B S REWRIERE
HK$°000
FEx
At 1 April 2023 R2023F 4 A1H 24
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss :F Aér& B R HM 2 E KR
and other comprehensive income 427
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 FR2024F3 A31 HM2024F4 A1 H 451
Charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 4R & B M b 2 E W R R Pk
and other comprehensive income (451)

At 31 March 2025

R2025F3 A31 H =

REalRHER AR A A
2025F £ 3] 193



194

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

29. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

29. ;& FE R 1§ 1R (@)

DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES BELEFBHEaRE
Undistributed
profits
of the PRC Assets
associate revaluation Total
h
& NTE 2
RAOERN EEEHMGE A5t
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FHT FET
At 1 April 2023 MR2023%F 4 H1H 5,275 1,506 6,781
Credited to the consolidated FALZAEEREK
statement of profit or loss and other ~ Hth 2R
comprehensive income (1,274) (345) (1,619)
Exchange realignment IE 3 3 2 - (1,161) (1,161)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024F3 A31 8 &
20244 A1H 4,001 - 4,001
Credited to the consolidated FFAREEEK
statement of profit or loss and other ~ H fth & Uz &
comprehensive income (1,197) - (1,197)
Exchange realignment M WS 392 - 392
At 31 March 2025 M20256F 3 A31H 3,196 - 3,196

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The
Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$48,325,000 (2024:
HK$39,630,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. These tax losses have not been recognised due
to uncertainty of future realisation.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31.

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from renewable energy business contract.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

30. 8RR

\\\\\

BITZBOEE-

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FAT

Contract liabilities relating to renewable ~ EA] B ASLRES S NHE/E 2
energy business contract aHaE 10,357 -
Total contract liabilities BRaERR 10,357 -

Contract liabilities mainly represent advance payments received
from customers related to renewable energy business contract
in the PRC. It is the Group practice to receive full deposit for a
service contract. The balance represents one signed agreement
as at 31 March 2025 under renewable energy business.

SHARE CAPITAL

Ba

ERHBEXEERRPRE 2 HERIRE
HRFEFPWE 2B - KEEMIE
Pl ARG OB EEIZRS - HHIER
2025 3 A1 BA RN BARRER e —
mEEEWE -

31. =&

Number of shares

Nominal value

BE R HE
HK$°000
FExT
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each TR (B 0.0025 % T HY E A
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, M 2023F 4 H1H ~ 2024 F
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 3A31H 20244 81H K&
202543 A 31 H 4,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRABE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each SR MEE0.0025 8 T E B
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and R2023F 4 B1H 2024 F
1 April 2024 3A31BN2024%F4 A1 H 893,274,910 2,233
Subscription of shares of 7B 5 AR E 5 0.0025 78 T IR 19
HK$0.0025 per share (Note) (B 3E) 60,000,000 150
At 31 March 2025 R20259F3 A31H 953,274,910 2,383

Note: On 30 October 2024, the Company entered into the two subscription MIeE -

agreements that the Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue an aggregate of 60,000,000 subscription shares at the
subscription price of HK$0.5 per subscription share. The subscriptions
were completed on 18 November 2024 and 25 November 2024

respectively.

R2024F 108308 » KRR AT MWD R
BiH#E BUAARECEKRGREIRAE
EBEEBRRBERHVDOSATEERETAEH
60,000,000 (R RIE D - ZERBEEED H
B A 2024 F 11 A18 B %2024 11 A25H
FERK ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE R RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

32. OTHER RESERVE 32. Hfthik e
In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable BEERANIINEEECEZEBTREIER
to wholly foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiaries are FENBARARE —ETLRBAERE
required to appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less wA10% (RIBEH B g5t 2R E )Z/TA
than 10% of the profit after income tax, calculated based on the BAREBES WhRERBEES CRFTBE
PRC accounting standards. Should the accumulated total of EREMB AR GEMER250% @ AlZE
this reserve fund reach 50% of the registered capital of the PRC MEBARSEEBERR FEESEY
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries will not be required to make any RES AR R R & #Ef SRR & A RN K
further appropriation. The reserve fund can only be used, upon HEFTEEANEE -

approval by the shareholders’” meeting or similar authorities, to
offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no retained earnings had REZE2025F3A31HIEFE  WERB
been transferred to the statutory reserve (2024: Nil). As at 31 BFEBRELTHMBE (2024F  £) - B
March 2025, retained earnings comprise statutory reserve fund of 2025 3H31 B REBNBIEECHB
RMB268,000 (2024: RMB268,000). He AR¥268,0007T (2024 F : AR
268,0007T) °
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. ABAXH
(a) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (a) HEHEZXS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial Brir & BIEImR E M & PRIREEE S -
statements, the Group had the following related party AEBRFARAZEABAIZZWT ¢

transactions during the year:

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FER FH&T
(Restated)
(L& &%)
Interest income received/receivables & 4, &I T 51 & 77 ) FI| B
from (Note (i)) LN
— An associate ——HBE AR 2,080 1,904
- An intermediate holding company — — —f& A [l 3= A% A &) 739 707
— A related company ——fH A7 214 633
Management fee to the ultimate NP &EEERARNERE
holding company (Note (ii)) (B & (i) 1,945 -
Technology service fee charged by — — & [/ Z ] B8 2 5] Uk BL &9 3 i
a fellow subsidiary (Note (ii)) AR 7% & (B3 (i) 351 922
Consultation fee charged by fellow R Z W B A AU BN A &4 38 &
subsidiaries (Note (ii)) (B 7% (i) - 936
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

(@) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

(b)

(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The loans to related parties were bearing 8% interest rate per
annum and further details of the loans were disclosed in Note

33(b).

(i) The transactions above were conducted in the normal course of
business and charged at terms mutually agreed by the parties
concerned or in accordance with the terms of the underlying

agreements, where appropriate.

33. MBEA XS @

HEBA 2R 5 (&)

Wi

0

(i

A B B 7 fR R R B SRR F M K 8% At
B REFE— BN 33(0) KR EE -

ERZ BTN AEEBBIZPETR
BB K77 MEHE N ERKIRE
1R 3 0 15k (A ) R B A

OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED (b) EERAERS = REBEER
PARTIES
2025 2024
2025 F 20245
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Amount due to immediate holding R ERER A R FIE (M)
company (Note (i) 5 5
Loan to an associate (Note 18) A —EE & A BREER
(Ft3E18) 27,917 27,534
Loan to an intermediate holding A — R EERATREER
company (Note (ii) (Pf & i) 9,846 9,870
Loan to a related company (Note (ii)) ) — ] BB B 1 B 42 R B 0 (I 3 i) - 6,841

Notes:

(i) Balance due to immediate holding company was unsecured,
interest free and repayment on demand.

(ii) The balance represented an unsecured loan to RUNMING
International Limited (/& 8 Bl f£ & R 2 &), which is an
intermediate holding company of the Group. The loan was a
3-year loan facility signed on 8 October 2021, interest bearing at
8% per annum and was expired on 7 October 2024.

Wi

(i)

B EEERA DS ARER - %
BRARERMEE -

EHRENTAEEFBERAARENG
BEERAERARMEEBER - ZEX
BR2021F10 A8 BEEMN =0
REVE B EF R 8% E K 2024
F10A7HER °

REalRHER AR A A
20255 F 5k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED
PARTIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(ii) (Continued)

On 7 October 2024, the Group entered into a new loan
agreement with RUNMING International Limited, pursuant to
which the Group agreed to provide a one-off loan to RUNMING
International Limited in an aggregate principal amount of HK$9.5
million, interest bearing at 8% per annum and expiring on 6
October 2025.

The loan will be used primarily by RUNMING International Limited
as its working capital and to enhance its short term liquidity.
Given that the Group has yet to identify suitable investment
opportunities with profitable return, the provision of the loan is
considered to be favorable to the Group as it enables the Group
to earn a reasonable return of 8% per annum which is higher
than the interest rate of fixed deposits offered by banks in Hong
Kong and that the provision of the loan can broaden the source
of income of the Group.

(i)  The balance represented a unsecured loan to #3IZ= & & @Ak
7B R A A, which is a related company of the Group. The loan
was under 3-year loan facility signed on 8 October 2021 which
would be expired on 7 October 2024. The loan was interest
bearing at 8% per annum. The loan has been fully settled as at
31 March 2025.

(c) KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, key management
represents all directors of the Group (2024: all directors of
the Group). Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group, including directors’ remuneration as disclosed
in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, is as

33. MBEA X H (@)
(b) EEEEEES 2 REEEER @

B - ()
(ii) (%)

M2024E 1078 > AEBEBHHEH
BARARI M FTERE Bt
AEERZRBHERER A ARE
—RMER  ZEFACBEARISE
BB IREF K8 B kiN2025
F10A6BER °

ZERBETERHRERERARA
EREEASLARESEEHRE
A - EmNAKERARMEARTNE
BeaBERERE REEFREAR
HAEEERN REARKESAEER
IR F R E8% 2z BB LM HE
BRZRITR{ZEBETNER LS -
BAREE AT A A LB 2 WA IR

(i) HEHIEMTFAEEEEARFIIRE
SRARIS AR ARMEXMER - %
B ANR2021F10 ASBEEN=F
HIEFFE - HiR2024F10A7H
JER o ZBEFIREN K%L - ZE
REN202543 431 HERHAES °

(c) EEEEEHMH

HE2025F3A31BILFE  £2
EREEASBEAES (20244 :
KEBMBES) AEBEEZTEERE
[EANBREM(BIERE B Rz W
H1I0FMEBREMESHI T

follows:
2025 2024
2025 & 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAET
(Restated)
(&5
Salaries, bonus, allowances and e B4 EBLN
other benefits in kind HiEYER 1,716 1,200
Pension costs — RIRE A — FEHRETE
defined contribution plans 34 21
1,750 1,221

198 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ERRHE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E
34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. FEHARERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (a) REFBHRE
2025 2024
2025 2024 F
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
ihg= FET FHET
(Restated)
(L& E5)
Loss before income tax from FEBICE TR
continuing operations B ET1S BRI E 1B (61,486) (64,259)
Adjustments for: ELAT AR
Impairment loss of other H b e EIE 2
receivables HEEE 21 31 -
Impairment loss of trade g RKEIE
receivables BB EE 20 596 23,548
Impairment loss of loan to an ) — BB & A Bl iRt
associate ERZREEE - 228
Impairment loss of loan to an M) — A A AR A A
intermediate holding company REERZREEE - 18
Impairment loss of loan to a M — B A A 4R
related company B ZRERE - 45
Impairment loss on inventories GFEZRERSE 19 2,529 -
Impairment loss on investmentin R —REE & R RIAKRE
an associate ZREEE 18 16,446 -
Depreciation of property, plant and #1% - BE RRETE
equipment 15 46 14
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ R#EEETE 16 635 941
Amortisation of intangible assets 2 & E S 17 - 1,360
Impairment loss of intangible B EAEZRERR
assets 17 - 4,664
Impairment of goodwill ERZRE - 8,807
Finance income BhE A 7 (3,178) (3,746)
Finance cost RE KA 7 18 30
Share of post-tax profit from DEEE AT 2
associates B 1% A 18 17,813 13,183
Loss on deregistration of a BB AR
subsidiary &R 103 -
Operating loss before working LEECEHR
capital change KE BB (26,447) (15,167)
Changes in working capital: LEESEE):
Change in inventories FEEE) - 311
Change in trade receivables 2 5 e I g 1,119 2,367
Change in prepayments, deposits  FEfHFUIA ~ 4 &
and other receivables H b el gIa &8 4,306 1,193
Change in trade payables B EMNIER S (1,544) (2,791)
Change in other payables and E b e FIE K
accruals Bt EBREE) 4,265 (1,242)
Change in contract liabilities EHBEZD 10,387 (1,101)
Cash used in continuing BESEEBAR S
operations (7,914) (16,430)

REalRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) NET DEBT RECONCILIATION

This section sets out an analysis of net cash/(debt) and
the movement in net cash/(debt) for each of the years

34. GEHARERME @

(b) B FEH K

AEHINEERFEZRE(EH)
FRRAS/ (ER) FREBON -

presented.
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash and cash equivalents BeMESEEY 22,357 10,490
Lease liabilities HEBE (438) (1,051)
Net cash ReFE 21,919 9,439
Lease
liabilities Total
HEERE 5t
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
For the year ended 31 March 2025 &£ 202543 A31 HIEFE
At 1 April 2024 R2024% 4 A1H 1,051 1,051
Net cash outflows e FEE 613) (613)
At 31 March 2025 K2025F 3 A31H 438 438
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= Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A —— A MISHRENE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z
34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34. FERARERME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(o) NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (Continued) (b) EFR FEEE R @)
Lease

liabilities Total
HEARE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000
T FHET

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E 202443 A31HIEFE

At 1 April 2023 R 2023F4F1H 8,604 8,604
Net cash outflows e mt g8 (1,637) (1,637)
Other non-cash movements HEMIEE 228
- Disposal of lease liabilities —-LtEHEAE (6,423) (6,423)
— Additions —NE 1,255 1,255
— Written-off — i 58 (748) (748)
At 31 March 2024 HN2024FE3 A31H 1,051 1,051
35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. BXKIE
As at

31 March 2025
M2025%3H31H

HK$ 000
FAET
Capital commitments BARAE (BETHERRE) -
(contracted but not provided for):
Costs of property, plant and equipment Y - BB R EREKA 19,718

REalRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

OF THE COMPANY

(a) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

36. LR FMBAKR KK F 205 6#
s 82 B

(a)

RARFBARRE

2025 2024
2025 2024 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Assets EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B A RNRE - -
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB REE 28 24
Deposits birga - 260
Investment in an associate R—REZE A MR E - 42
Right-of-use asset FREEE 471 1,098
499 1,424
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TEf 3R 662 325
Loan to intermediate holding M EER A FREER
company 9,846 9,870
Amounts due from subsidiaries NN S 103,327 62,936
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRESEED 2,274 9,003
116,109 82,134
Total assets BEE 116,608 83,558
Equity and liabilities EEREE
Equity attributable to shareholders Z< 2 5] i% 5= FE 1k #E 25
of the Company
Share capital [N 2,383 2,233
Reserves fE# 111,511 78,246
Total equity S 113,894 80,479
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals Efh e FRIE R IEEH E A 2,276 1,728
Lease liabilities HEAR 438 1,051
2,714 2,779
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Other payables A FE - FRIE - 300
Total liabilities maE 2,714 3,079
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 116,608 83,558
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025%3/31H 1L F/Z

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. EAFMBRARREFLE)E

THE COMPANY AND RESERVE MOVEMENT i £ Bh ()
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
() RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (b) XARREEES
Equity
component
Share of contingent Accumulated
premium consideration losses Total
RAKEMN
W13 E ExHa RitEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FTAET TAET
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4A1H 170,756 2,276 (123,537) 49,495
Profit and total comprehensive g A 2 I a5 258
income for the year - - 28,751 28,751
At 31 March 2024 N2024E3A31H 170,756 2,276 (94,786) 78,246
Subscription of shares RERMD 28,850 - - 28,850
Recognition of equity component #&328k A BRI 12 205
of contingent consideration - (2,276) 2,276 -
Profit and total comprehensive & REF| R 2 E M S B %E
income for the year - - 4,415 4,415
At 31 March 2025 R 2025F 3 A31H 199,606 - (88,095) 111,511
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBERRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 220253431 H 1 F/&
37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 37. k& F
Certain comparative figures have been re-classified to conform ETUHRETFETETOBUFEEAFE
with the current year’s presentation. HE2F)H e
The effects of the reclassification on the consolidated statement EHOBHEHEE2024F3A31 BIEFER
of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2024 as FEEERERNFZENT -
follows:
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR HZEZ2024F3H31 HIEFENE
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME eREEREMZEKER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
Reclassified
to
As discontinued Reclassified
previously operation by nature After
reported (Note 1) (Note 2) reclassification
ENNEZE BitE

BRILEERY BN E
MER 2K (ME1) (Wi2)  EX28K

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET TET
(Audited) (Audited)
(&%) (B&EZ)
(Restated)
)
Continuing operations RESEER
Revenue from principal activities: TEEBRNE
- Information technology (“IT”) solution — BB (&R Bk
business FEER 7,952 7,952
Cost of IT solution business BARRBR S REBKA (7,649) (7,649)
Other income and other net gain HEA R EMF R 27,802 (25,829) 8 1,081
Finance income, net MEWAFE 3,712 4 3,716
Employee benefit expenses EERHEYL (4,027) (203) (4,230)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 2,311) @ (2,315)
Fuel and utility expenses MakAREERT (35) (39)
Other operating expenses HEERS (13,383) 197 (13,186)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HENE - BERHE k&
equipment 2 2 -
Impairment loss of intangible assets BYEEZRERA (4,664) (4,664)
Impairment loss of trade receivables B RMGIE BERE (23,548) (23,548)
Impairment loss of loan to an associate m—fEE R RREER
AERE (228) (228)
Impairment losses of loan to an intermediate A1 — &5 A A #E A% 2 FHR A
holding company ERZREER (18) (18)
Impairment losses of loan to a related m—FEE AR REER
company WEESA (45) (45)
Impairment of goodwil HEZRE (8,807) (8,807)
Share of post-tax results of associates AMEBE DR REBEER (13,183) (13,183)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES (Continued) 37. LEBBTF ()
Reclassified
to
As  discontinued Reclassified
previously operation by nature After
reported (Note 1) (Note 2) reclassification
ENSEZE BHE

BERILEERY EXNDE
MEA 2] (M&E1) (W&E2)  EHOBE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET THL THL
(Audited) (Audited)
(%= %) (B&EZ)
(Restated)
(e E5)
(Loss)/profit before income tax from FEREEBHBRMEHA
continuing operations (B8) /%7 (38,430) (64,259)
Income tax credit FEHE R 2,829 2,829
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing ~ BEELEENER
operations (BB /%7 (35,601) (61,430)
Discontinued operation BRIEREER
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued ERIEEEEBHOER
operation (B18) /&7 (186) 25,829 25,643
Loss for the year FREE (35,787) (35,787)
Other comprehensive expense: Htt2HBX
Item that may be reclassified to profitor loss:  AJAEEH A B EBHZIAE ¢
Exchange differences on translation of BEGNEBEENELZS
foreign operation
~ Group ~AEE (1,830) (1,830)
~ Associate —BE AT (1,127) (1,127)
Total comprehensive expense for the year £ R 2 X 45 (38,744) (38,744)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: UT AL (B18) A
Shareholders of the Company NG
—from continuing operations - RERELEER (35,601) (25,829) (61,430)
— from discontinued operations —REBKRILREER (186) 25,829 25,643
(35,787) (35,787)

REalRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 2202593431 HIEFZE

37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES (Continued)

37. Lk F (@)

As
previously
reported

Reclassified
to
discontinued Reclassified
operation by nature After
(Note 1) (Note 2) reclassification
ENSEE BHE

ERIEERY EXNDRE

mEF 28K (&) (MEE2) B EE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THET TEx
(Audited) (Audited)
(l8&%) (BEZ)
(Restated)
(B E51)
Total comprehensive expense UTATELEZEBREE:
attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company NG

— from continuing operations - REBELEEY (38,564) (25,829) (64,393)

— from discontinued operations —REBKRIEREER (186) 25,829 25,643

(38,750) (38,750)

Total comprehensive income ATATEAZEKGREE:

attributable to:

Non-controlling interests FERER

— from continuing operations - REBELEEY 6 6

— from discontinued operations —-REBKRILREER - -

6 6

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREAREE (FE) /BF

(HK cents per share) (BRAEAW)
~ from continuing operations - REBELEEY (3.99) (2.89) (6.88)
~ from discontinued operations - REBKRILREER (0.02) 2.89 2.87
(4.01) (4.01)

Notes: 5 -

1 According to HKFRS 5, gain on disposal of subsidiaries should have 1 RIBEBESVBEREERES  HEWNBA
been included in profit from discontinued operation. Reclassification A EESADKRIEEEEBNER - BB
among items solely represents the profit from discontinued operation of MR EFHEEIEHE2024F3 A31 HIEF
Vietnamese style restaurant business during the year ended 31 March EERIEEEBUABEEHORT -
2024.

2 Reclassification among items solely represents the reclassification 2 BHEMMNEFHEEIEE E2024F3 A 31

of expenses by nature during the year ended 31 March 2024 for
consistent with the classification of expenses by nature during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(A)

(B)

(€)

EXTENSION OF LOAN TO MINSHANG
ZHIHUI

On 19 May 2025, the Group entered into an loan
extension agreement with Minshang Zhihui, to extend the
shareholder’s loan for a further term from 11 June 2025 to
11 June 2026 and to revise the principal amount of the loan
from HK$11,000,000 to HK$9,500,000 with effect from 11
June 2025. Please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 19 May 2025 for details.

EXTENSION OF LOAN TO RUNMING
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (“RUNMING”)

On 13 June 2025, the Group entered into an loan extension
agreement with RUNMING, to extend the loan for a further
term from 6 October 2025 to 6 October 2026 and to revise
the principal amount of the loan from HK$9,500,000 to
HK$9,000,000 with effect from 6 October 2025. Please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 13 June 2025
for details.

CONSOLIDATION OF RESULTS OF
MINSHANG ZHIHUI

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated
17 June 2025.

It was announced that a shareholders’ meeting of Minshang
Zhihui was held on 17 June 2025 and it was resolved that (i)
the articles of association of Minshang Zhihui be amended
with effect from the completion of the relevant registration
procedures with the applicable government authorities which
will include amendments to the effect that, among others,
the Company shall have the right to appoint three out of five
directors to the board of directors of Minshang Zhihui; and
(i) three directors nominated by the Company be appointed
as directors of Minshang Zhihui, after which three out of the
five directors on the board of directors of Minshang Zhihui
are nominated by the Company.

The Group shall continue to hold 50% equity interests in
Minshang Zhihui. As a result of the aforementioned change,
with effect from the completion of the relevant registration
procedures with the applicable government authorities, the
Group is able to exercise control over the board of directors
of Minshang Zhihui and as a result Minshang Zhihui will
become a subsidiary of the Company and its financial
results will be consolidated into the Group during the
financial year ending 31 March 2026 and thereafter.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # 220253431 H 1FF/E

38. MBMRKARAMESER

(A)

(B)

(€)

EREATREEENER

R2025FE5 190 AEERERE
EEIIVEREERDRE BREE
HE2025F6 AT E—SLTEHE
2026 F6 A1T1E M ERAE &5
F3 11,000,000 JT & 5] 49,500,000
BIL B2025F6 A11 HEEM -
HIEB2MARRBEA2025F5 A
19BMAE -

ERREHRTEZEBRERAT
(A% WEMK

MN2025F6 13 H @ A & B B 84
AIVERERWE BB HE2025
F10A 6B —FEHE2026F 10
A6 HKEEZRAE £ %5 H9,500,000
78 7T & 57 /49,000,000 7T © B 2025
F10AHRBAEM - FHIBBELXHAR
AIBEIA202596 A13HHAE -

REEERERE AR

IR AR N E BHEIA2025%F 6 A17
BERE »

ZANEEM REEERR202596 7
17HBITRERSYZRNETRR
BEMNEGERME R EBEBF
HRETHRERE L TFERLEN BT
RNEREEE (P ARREE
EEZIRBEREEFERREETHN
—REE D RHEZEARRRIREN=
HEEARRAERNES Rtz
REEEEECeIREETN =22
ERARBIRS °

TEBBEERBRES EMH50%
BEE - MR Lt @8 - B R MEBEET
BRETEKIEBELFERL  AEEE
MHREEENES /TG
A REEBBR AR QRN BA
A BEMBEEKNEZ20264F3
AR BREFER2EBEE AR
EAREH-

RERIFHERER AR

20258 F 3§k 207



208

Five-Year Financial Summary

AFMBGERR

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the

AEEBETBVRFENREAREE  #

Group for the last five financial years is as follows: =ERBEMENT :
RESULTS E
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 & 2024 5 2023 4F 2022 F 20214
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
THET F&T FHEIT FHET FHET
(Restated)
(F&E5)
Revenue Was 191 7,952 106,589 910,331 1,585,536
(Loss)/profit before income tax ~ BRET/SHLRT (E518) &% (61,486)  (38,616) (1,370) (4,715) 33,403
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiE e, (FAx) 746 2,829 ©) (1,338) (7,896)
(Loss)/profit for the year FRN(BER) &% H (60,740)  (35,787) (1,372) (6,053) 25,507
Exchange differences on MEBINETBEER
translation of foreign operation E R ZERE (594) (2,957) (6,320) 1,062 2,584
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FRE2®E (FAx),/
income for the year W 4B 58 (61,334) (38,744) (7,692) (4,991) 28,091
(Loss)/profit attributable to: AT AR (BE),/
i )
Shareholders of the Company VNN 323 (56,753) (35,787) (1,363) (6,029) 25,550
Non-controlling interests FEVERR (3,987) - ©) (24) (43)
(60,740)  (35,787) 1,372) (6,053) 25,507
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AT ATEEEE
income attributable to: (FX) Wzssass
Shareholders of the Company ZINNESTE) 5] (57,369) (38,750) (7,691) (4,962) 28,137
Non-controlling interests eI (3,965) 6 1) (29) (46)
(61,334)  (38,744) (7,692) (4,991) 28,091
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 F 2024 20234 2022 5 2021 4
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
TET FH&IT FHEIT FH&IT FHEIT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 84,500 102,025 140,583 119,201 111,436
Current assets mMENEE 58,056 61,080 83,702 79,437 448,321
Total assets BEE 142,556 163,105 224,285 198,638 559,757
Equity and liabilities EERAE
Total equity B 99,879 132,110 171,196 158,403 163,394
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 3,196 4,301 9,584 8,954 9,798
Current liabilities mENAE 39,481 26,694 43,505 31,281 386,565
Total liabilities waE 42,677 30,995 53,089 40,235 396,363
Total equity and liabilities BiEZREE 142,656 163,105 224,285 198,638 559,757

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2025
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